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” Performance at the service of its customers,
members and regional development

The 2018 results hlghllght In an ever-changing economic and technological environment, Crédit

the success Of an Organization Mutuel Alliance Fédérale posted historic performance at the end

oy ape of 2018. These results highlight the success of the “Priorité Client

based on re3p0n3|b|"ty Sociétaire 2018” transformation plan, and the diversification strategy
and mutual commitment rolled out across the Group's networks and subsidiaries.

' (4

With net banking income of €14.1 billion (+0.4%), a net profit of
£€2,993 million (+23.3%) and a CET1 solvency ratio of 16.6% (+10 basis
points), Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale strengthened its financial
position and confirmed its dynamic nature, as well as the relevance
of its model.

Since both quality of service and quality of relationships are core
concerns for the company, every customer benefits from the expertise
of a dedicated advisor as part of a personalized, secure relationship.

2 CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE | 2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT www.creditmutuel.fr
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Credit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
strengthens its solid position
and the relevance of its relational
banking strategy at the service
of its customer members 00

In terms of business, this was reflected by an increase in outstanding
loans (+7.5% to £370.9 billion) and in customer deposits (+5.5% at
£€304.3 billion). The commercial momentum achieved by its 4,455 points
of sale made Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale the reference relationship
bank serving 24.9 million customers and members.

These results were based on an effective innovation strategy as
defined by “Priorité Client Sociétaire 2018". The success of this
transformation plan showcased the Group’s ability to industrialize
and internalize new technological solutions. As part of this three-year
plan, 200 simultaneously-led projects have significantly improved the
customer and advisor experience by:

m setting up a global service on mobile applications and remote
banking;

= deploying cognitive solutions (email analyzers, search assistants,
etc.) that let our account managers create an enhanced relationship
with their customers.

This fast-paced transformation was possible thanks to the commitment
of all employees and elected members. It reflects an organization based

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I

on responsibility and high-quality social dialog. To help support change,
the 70,000 employees and 15,000 elected members benefited from
major investment in training (6% of payroll expense).

Social and mutual responsibility is also a key factor in sustainable
growth. This is shown in particular by the significant and genuine
environmental commitments outlined in the statement on non-financial
performance of this report.

The strength of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale lies in its regional
reach and its consistent ability to innovate. The 2018 results confirm
the course set by the new strategic plan ensemble#nouveaumonde
2019-2023. By putting its members and customers at the heart of its
strategy, and by making technology a core priority, it sets ambitious
targets in terms of finance, technology, as well as human and mutual
development that Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale will strive to meet.

Nicolas Théry

Nade Tl -
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PREAMBLE

This overall presentation document was prepared by the Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM]) in connection with widening
its investor base, in order to respond to the specific features of some of the markets in which it operates.

Since our aim is to provide the same level of information to all investors located on the European continent,in North America and
in the Asia-Pacific region, BFCM decided to draft a single registration document containing the financial information of Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale and the BFCM Group, to enhance clarity and readability. This document is intended for use in all BFCM
refinancing programs (Euro Medium Term Notes Program; US Medium Term Notes Program; Euro Commercial Paper; Negotiable
debt securities).

This registration document acts as the annual financial report of BFCM.

Presentation of the Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale organization

Grouped under the banner Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale', the mutual banking division (also known as the regulatory perimeter] and the capital division
(also known as the BFCM group) are complementary and are linked. In fact, in addition to capital control of the BFCM group by the mutual banking division,
the Crédit Mutuel banks of eleven federations within the mutual banking perimeter specifically provide a significant marketing network for the products
and services offered by specialized subsidiaries held by BFCM, which reward any business brought in via the payment of fees to the banks.

The consolidated financial information of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale provides a complete economic overview of the group’s activities, including those
entities not included in the scope of consolidation of BFCM alone: mutual banking network, ACM Vie SAM [mutual insurance company), IT subsidiaries and

the EIG Centre de conseil et de services (CCS) in particular.

The mutual banking division or regulatory
perimeter

The mutual banking division consists of the Crédit Mutuel banks, the Crédit
Mutuel federations and the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel (CF de CM).

Credit Mutuel banks or local banks

The banks of Crédit Mutuel, which are either cooperative associations
depending on their geographical location (departments 57 - Moselle, 67 -
Bas Rhin, 68 - Haut-Rhin) or cooperative credit companies with variable
capital (all other departments), form the basis of the Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale. They are credit institutions according to the French Monetary and
Financial Code, whose capital is held by members, who are both partners
and customers. These local banks are legally autonomous and they collect
savings, grant loans and offer all financial services.

The federations and the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit
Mutuel

Local banks are members of a federation. Depending on the geographical
location of the local bank, the federation is either an association governed
by the French law of July 1, 1901 or else an association governed by the
French Local Civil Code in force in the departments of Haut-Rhin, Bas-Rhin
and Moselle for local banks in these three departments. The federation,
a strategy and control body, thus represents Crédit Mutuel in its region.

On a regulatory, technical and financial level, the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit
Mutuel is collectively accredited as a credit institution, used by all the local
banks affiliated to it in line with the French Monetary and Financial Code.

The Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel is responsible for the solvency and
liquidity of the regulatory perimeter and Group-wide compliance with
banking and financial regulations, pursuant to Article R.511-3 of the French
Monetary and Financial Code.

In this way, the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel provides local banks with
financial functions such as liquidity management as well as technical, legal
and IT services, either directly or through BFCM subsidiaries (insurance,
leasing, etc.).

Since January 1, 2012, the scope of the mutual banking division includes
the Crédit Mutuel federations that established partnerships approved by
the supervisory authorities, resulting in the creation of the Caisse Fédérale
du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe, which went on to become the Caisse
Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel, a mutual banking fund with 11 Crédit Mutuel
groups formed by Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (Strasbourg), Crédit
Mutuel ile-de-France (Paris), Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique (Toulouse),
Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc (Annecy), Crédit Mutuel Sud-Est (Lyon),
Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique et Centre-Ouest (Nantes), Crédit Mutuel
du Centre (Orléans), Crédit Mutuel Normandie (Caen), Crédit Mutuel
Méditerranéen (Marseille), Crédit Mutuel Dauphiné-Vivarais (Valence] and
Crédit Mutuel Anjou (Angers). The federation of Crédit Mutuel Massif Central
expressed the wish to join this division on January 1, 2020.

The capital division or BFCM Group

This group consists of:

m Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel, which performs the holding,
corporate and market banking activities of Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale;

m Crédit Industriel et Commercial, the holding company of the CIC group
and network head, which is also a regional bank in lle-de-France and
which performs investment, corporate and market activities;

m specialized institutions by business line in France and abroad.

BFCM also serves as the refinancing facility for Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale and thus acts on the financial markets as an issuer of financial
instruments.

(1) In the rest of the document, the word “group” may be used on its own, but should be taken to mean the group formed by Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE | 2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
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Corporate governance within Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale does not have one single deliberative
body. Each Crédit Mutuel bank appoints a board of directors composed of
voluntary members elected by the members at a shareholders’ meeting.
From these members, the banks appoint their representative to the
district, a body common to a group of Crédit Mutuel banks; the district
Chairman automatically becomes a member of the board of directors of the
federation. This means they are then able to become a member of the board
of directors of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and its subsidiary, BFCM.

Bearing these factors in mind, the “Corporate Governance of Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale and BFCM” chapter will present two reports on
corporate governance: one for the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel as a
representative of the consolidating parent company and one for BFCM.

Furthermore, the internal control procedures and those to combat money
laundering and the financing of terrorism are homogeneous within Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

Solidarity links within the Crédit Mutuel group™ and the mutual banking division

of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

The Crédit Mutuel solidarity scheme aims to ensure the continuous liquidity
and solvency of all establishments affiliated to the Confédération Nationale
du Crédit Mutuel (CNCMY), in order to prevent defaults [Article L.511-31 of
the French Monetary and Financial Code). It is based on a set of rules and
mechanisms set up at regional group level and at confederal level.

Provisions applicable at regional group level

The solidarity mechanism scheduled in the mutual banking division of
Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is a federal solidarity mechanism based on
Article R.515-1 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, independently of
the statutory provisions relating to the joint and several liability of members
up to the nominal value of the members’ shares subscribed by the member.

This text schedules that for mutual and cooperative groups, the Autorité de
contréle prudentiel et de résolution (ACPR - French Prudential Supervisory
and Resolution Authority) may issue a collective accreditation to a bank for
itself and for all the banks affiliated to it “when the liquidity and solvency of
local banks are guaranteed by the said affiliation”. The Caisse Fédérale de
Crédit Mutuel benefits from a collective accreditation for itself and all the
affiliated local banks. The ACPR deemed that the liquidity and solvency of
the local banks were guaranteed by way of this affiliation.

All local banks and the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel contribute to the
solidarity fund. The contribution is calculated based on the balance sheet

(1) See presentation on the Crédit Mutuel group in the following paragraph.

CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE | 2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

total and the net banking income. The annual contribution is determined
such that its amount, plus the repayment of subsidies, allows it to cover
the subsidy requirements of loss-making local banks. Thus in principle, the
result of the solidarity fund is balanced. Loss-making local banks, and those
whose result is not sufficient to remunerate members’ shares, receive an
annual subsidy which allows them to pay said remuneration.

These subsidies are repayable once they return to “better fortunes” The
local banks reimburse all or part of the subsidy previously received, up to
an amount allowing them to remunerate the B members’ shares.

Provisions adopted at national level

The Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel is responsible for ensuring
the coherence of its network, and the proper functioning of the institutions
affiliated to it. To this end, it must take all necessary measures, specifically
to ensure the liquidity and solvency of each of said institutions, as well as
the entire network [Article L.511-31 of the French Monetary and Financial
Codel).

All interventions required can be decided by the Confederal board
of directors if ultimately the mechanisms at regional group level are
insufficient to deal with the potential difficulties that a group may face.

www.creditmutuel.fr
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The Crédit Mutuel group is made up of the Crédit Mutuel network and all its subsidiaries grouped under the aegis of the Confédération Nationale du Crédit

Mutuel, its common organization.

Regional groups
The Crédit Mutuel group is made up of 6 regional groups:

m Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale covers eleven regional federations
grouped around the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel: Centre Est
Europe (Strasbourg), lle-de-France (Paris), Sud-Est (Lyon), Savoie-Mont
Blanc [Annecy]), Midi-Atlantique (Toulouse), Loire-Atlantique and Centre-
Ouest (Nantes), Normandie (Caen), Centre (Orléans), Dauphine-Vivarais
[Valence), Méditerranéen (Marseille) and Anjou (Angers);

m the Crédit Mutuel Arkéa group and its three regional federations, together
forming the Caisse interfédérale Crédit Mutuel Arkéa: Bretagne (Brest],
Massif Central (Clermont-Ferrand) and Sud-Ouest (Bordeaux);

m the Antilles-Guyane regional group (Fort de France);

m the Maine-Anjou, Basse-Normandie regional group (Lavall;
m the Nord Europe regional group (Lille);

m the Océan regional group (La Roche-sur-Yon).

A regional group comprises a regional federation and a federal bank. This
federal bank may be interfederal, as is the case for the Caisse Fédérale de
Crédit Mutuel and the Caisse interfédérale Crédit Mutuel Arkéa.

The local banks and the federal bank, in which they are shareholders, are
members of the federation.

The regional federation, a strategy and control body, represents Crédit
Mutuel in its region. The federal bank provides financial functions such as
liquidity management as well as technical and IT services.

The federation and the federal bank are managed by boards elected by
the local banks.

The Confédération Nationale du Crédit
Mutuel and the Caisse Centrale du Crédit
Mutuel

The Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel (CNCM] is the network’s
central body in respect of the French Monetary and Financial Code. The 18
regional federations, the Crédit Mutuel Agricole et Rural (CMAR] federation,
and the Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel (CCCM) are affiliated to it.

The CNCM has continued to modernize its operations and governance
in accordance with the request of the European Central Bank (ECB), its
supervisor. After the changes made to the Articles of Association and the
clarification of the national solidarity mechanism in 2016, the adoption of
new texts on organizing internal audits and compliance in 2017, along with
the approval of a director’s charter and the board's internal rules, 2018 saw
the CNCM adopt an ethics charter for internal audits and a framework
procedure covering the Crédit Mutuel brand. In addition, it continued
to strengthen its teams dedicated to control (periodic, permanent and
compliance).

The CNCM represents Crédit Mutuel in its relations with the public
authorities. It defends and promotes Crédit Mutuel’s interests. In charge
of the proper functioning of the institutions affiliated to it, it is in charge of
the coherence of the prudential control of regional groups. It guarantees
the cohesion of the network, as well as defending and promoting the Crédit
Mutuel brand.

The CCCM, a national financial body taking the form of a credit institution,
manages the financial solidarity of Crédit Mutuel. Its capital is held by all
the federal banks.

CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE | 2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
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PROFILES OF CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE AND THE BFCM GROUP

Presentation of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale and the BFCM Group

1.1 PRESENTATION OF CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE
FEDERALE AND THE BFCM GROUPUY

Together, the mutual banking division (regulatory perimeter] and the
capital division (BFCM group) together comprise the Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale.

m The mutual banking division or the regulatory perimeter is made up of the
following federations: Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Eurape, Sud-Est, Tle-de-
France, Savoie-Mont Blanc, Midi-Atlantique, Centre, Dauphiné-Vivarais,
Loire-Atlantique et Centre-Ouest, Méditerranéen, Normandie, Anjou, as
well as the Crédit Mutuel banks that are members of their respective
federations and the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel (CF de CM). This
group holds more than 987% of the Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel.

1.1.1 The mutual banking division

Crédit Mutuel's banks (Caisses de Crédit Mutuel, CCM] form the basis of
the mutual banking division’s banking network, also known as “the banking
and insurance network of the CCM”. The local cooperative banks, under the
control of their respective shareholding members, are registered as either
variable capital credit cooperative companies with limited liability or as
cooperative associations with limited liability. Each local bank operates
autonomously, performing local banking functions.

The federations, which are entities with the status of associations to which
the local banks must belong, are the policy bodies that set the group’s
strategic course and organize solidarity between banks.

The Crédit Mutuel banks, Crédit Mutuel life insurance bodies in mutual
form (ACM Vie a forme mutuelle) and the federations jointly hold the Caisse
Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel (CF de CM). As a corporation with the status
of a cooperative banking company (société anonyme & statut de société
coopérative de banque), it is responsible for all services common to the
network, and ensures its operation. The Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel
centralizes all the banks’ deposits and in parallel ensures their refinancing,
while fulfilling regulatory requirements on their behalf (compulsory reserves,
allocated deposits, etc.).

1.1.2 The BFCM Group

The current configuration of the Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel is the
result of restructuring operations undertaken in 1992. This restructuring
was intended to clarify the functions performed by the group’s various
structures, by separating the mutual banking activity of the parent company
(local banks, Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and federations) and the
diversification operations controlled by BFCM, a holding company.

As such, BFCM carries the group’s subsidiaries and coordinates their
activities. These subsidiaries cover areas relating to finance, insurance,
electronic banking, telephony, real estate and IT. It serves as the refinancing
facility for Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale. It ensures financial relations with

m The capital division or BFCM group includes:

m Bank Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM), which owns 100% of CIC
(direct and indirect) and also performs financing and capital markets
activities;

m Crédit Industriel et Commercial (CIC), parent company of and network
bank for the CIC Group, and also a regional bank in lle-de-France and
carries out investment, financing and capital markets activities; and

m specialized institutions by business line in France and abroad.

As of December 31,2018, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale had 24.9 million
customers, 4,455 points of sale and 70,499 staff.

The local cooperative banks, under the control of their respective
shareholding members, are registered as either variable capital credit
cooperative companies with limited liability or as cooperative associations
with limited liability.

The banking and insurance network of Crédit Mutuel’s banks now has
1,357 local banks and 1,953 points of sale, as well as 7 million customers,
of which 4.7 million members.

The 11 federations, the Crédit Mutuel local banks belonging to their
respective federations and the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel together
comprise the regulatory perimeter also known as the mutual banking
division. The Crédit Mutuel regional and local banks of the 11 federations
(6.1%) along with the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel (93%) control BFCM.

large companies and local authorities by working on flow processing, loan
business and financial engineering transactions. BFCM also serves as the
depository for undertakings for collective investments (UCIs).

Regarding its holding role, BFCM holds:

m a 100% stake in Crédit Industriel et Commercial (direct and indirect
holding], the holding company of the CIC group and head network bank,
which also performs investment, corporate and market activities;

m a 47.6% stake in the Assurances du Crédit Mutuel SA (GACM SAJ, which
specifically controls the ACM IARD SA, and ACM Vie SA companies,

(1) For a definition of the alternative performance indicators given in this section, see chapter 3 of this registration document.
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PROFILES OF CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE AND THE BFCM GROUP I
Presentation of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale and the BFCM Group

and designs and manages the product lines for property and liability COFIDIS Participations, TARGOBANK in Germany and Spain, CM-CIC
insurance, life and health insurance; Asset Management, CM-CIC Factor, etc.].
m various specialist institutions by business line, both in France and abroad Together, BFCM, CIC, GACM and the various specialist establishments by

[specifically Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel (BECM), Groupe business line make up the BFCM group.

THE 11 CREDIT MUTUEL FEDERATIONS OF THE MUTUAL BANKING DIVISION
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CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE: INTERNATIONAL PRESENCE AND PARTNERSHIPS IN 2018
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1.2 KEY FIGURES - SOLVENCY AND RATINGS n

1.2.1 Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale - Key figures

INCOME STATEMENT

In € millions 2018 2017 2016
Net banking income 14,070 14,009 13,302
Operating income 4,452 4,680 4,273
Net profit/(loss) 2993 2,427 2,624
Net profit/(loss] attributable to the group 2,695 2,208 2,410
Cost/income ratio® 619% 60.4% 61.7%

(1] General operating expenses to net banking income.

CHANGE IN NBI BY BUSINESS LINE

(in € millions)

W
oA
R
NG AR
FEE gy 98F oo T
WS A VALY
I e BEE e B
Retail banking Insurance Corporate Banking ~ Capital markets Private Banking Private Equity Logistics & holding
company services
W 2016 rest. W 2017 H 2018
CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE GEOGRAPHICAL
BREAKDOWN OF NBI AS OF DECEMBER 31,2018
23%
Abroad N
of which 12% in Germany 77%
France
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Key figures - solvency and ratings

BALANCE SHEET TOTAL
(in € billions]
610 619
2016 2017
NET LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
(in € billions]
330 3449
2016 2017
CUSTOMER DEPOSITS
(in € billions]
2769 2885
2016 2017

667

2018

370.9

2018

304.3

2018
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EQUITY
(in € billions]
44
40 41
2016 2017 2018
2018 STRUCTURE OF NET LOANS
49 10%
Others / Operation
. 10%
49% Consumption
) & Revolving
Housing
27%
Equipment & Financial Leasing
2018 DEPOSIT STRUCTURE
44% 3%

Current accounts / Others

10%
'~ Livrets Bleu, Livrets A

11%
Mortgage
saving agreements

13%

Negotiable deposits

19%

Other passbook accounts
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1.2.2 Solvency

Key figures - solvency and ratings

As of December 31, 2018, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale had reported shareholders’ equity of €43.6 billion. As of December 31, 2017, it stood at €41 billion
and as of January 1, 2018, after the effects of first time application of IFRS 9 exception for insurance subsidiaries, it stood at €40 billion.

CHANGE IN EQUITY
(in € billions)

18.7 175

16.8
13.9
o1 105 19 I I
82 19 I I I I

43.6
39.6 41.0
371
349
320
298
25
239
29 I I

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale maintained a high level of financial solidity
with a Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio of 16.6%® as of December 2018,
up 10 basis points compared to December 31, 2017. The Tier 1 ratio also
stands at 16.6%" as of December 2018, and the overall solvency ratio
stood at 19.7%,

Risk-weighted assets amounted to €214 billion as of December 31,2018, of
which €190.6 billion (89% of the total) for credit risk. CET1™ equity stood at
£35.5 billion to end December 2018, up 8.7% (+2.8 billion).

The requirements set out by the European Central Bank under the
Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) for 2019 remained
stable at 8.56% in CET1 and 12% in overall ratio. The requirements are broadly
covered by the level of CET1 and the overall ratio achieved at end 2018.

(1) Without transitional measures.

rest.

The leverage ratio was 6.0% at December 31,2018, an increase of 10 basis
points over one year due to substantial capital generation compared to a
controlled increase on the balance sheet.

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale contributed to the sound results obtained
by the Crédit Mutuel group in terms of stress tests used to judge a bank’s
ability to survive in very degraded economic conditions, and conducted
according to the methodology defined by the European Banking Authority.

These results confirm the strength of its cooperative structure with
4.7 paints of free equity and a strong Common Equity Tier One (CET1) ratio of
13.2% by 2020 for a prudential requirement of 8.5% in respect of 2018 (P2R).

(2) Target calculation. It would stand at 6.2% with the exemption of centralized regulated savings assets in line with the ruling of the EU Court of July 13, 2018.

CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE | 2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
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PROFILES OF CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE AND THE BFCM GROUP

Organization and business lines

1.2.3 External ratings

The Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale’s ratings at the end of 2018 are shown in the following table. They compare favorably with those of other French and

European companies.

Issuer/LT Preferred ST Preferred Date of most

LT/ST counterparty* senior debt Outlook senior debt  recent publication

Standard & Poor's A+/A-1 A Stable Al 10/24/2018
Moody’s Aa2/P-1 Aa3 Stable P-1 10/29/2018
Fitch Ratings A+ A+ Stable F1 12/03/2018

* The counterparty ratings represent ratings from the following agencies: Resolution Counterparty at Standard & Poor's, Counterparty Risk Rating at Moody's and Derivative Counterparty

Rating at Fitch Ratings.

During the fiscal year, the three agencies Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and
Fitch Ratings confirmed their short-term and long-term ratings for Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale®.

The main factors cited by the agencies to justify the Group’s stability and
ratings are as follows:

m a solid franchise in retail banking and insurance in France;
m a rlow risk appetite;

m strong capitalization and liquidity;

m a strong ability to generate capital internally.

1.5 ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS LINES

Through the 11 Crédit Mutuel federations that control it, Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale is a member of the Confédération Nationale de Crédit
Mutuel, the central body whose mission is to represent the group before
public authorities, to promote and defend its interests and to exercise
control over the federations.

Competitive positioning®? is analyzed in terms of Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale, whose retail banking and insurance business lines make it a

MARKET SHARES*
11.9% 11.9% 11.8%
2016 2017 2018
Deposits

*Source: Regional financial centralization of the Banque de France.

major player in retail banking and insurance in France. As such, the Crédit
Mutuel group has 17.1% market share in bank loans and 15.5% market share
in deposits.

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale's market shares in deposits and bank loans
stood at 11.8% (-0.1 points] and 13.2% (stable), respectively.

13.2% 13.2% 13.2%
2016 2017 2018
Loans

(1] The Standard & Poor’s LT Senior rating is a Crédit Mutuel group rating that applies to all Crédit Mutuel federal banking entities and the CIC; Moody's and Fitch Ratings rate
BFCM and CIC taking into account the full scope of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.
(2] The ranking sources are given explicitly, otherwise the information is from an internal source.
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1.3.1 Presentation of the business lines of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale Contribution of the operational t_)usmess lines
to net profit/(loss) 2018
Retail banking
Banking networks
Regulatory perimeter CIC Banque Européenne TARGOBANK
[cooperative sector) du Creédit Mutuel in Germany
Ly I I I I
Caisse Fédérale 1,367 caisses . CIc Regional Cic TARGOBANK
de Creédit Mutuel de Crédit Mutuel lle-de-France banks Iberbanco in Spain
Business line subsidiaries
Groupe Cofidis Bangue Factoring Factofrance/ Leases Leasing Solutions / Asset Employee Real Home
Participations Casino Targo Factoring Targo Leasing Management savings estate Loan SFH
Insurance
Groupe des Assurances
> du Crédit Mutuel
Private banking
Banque Banque Transatlantique Banque
> de Luxembourg FranceB, Luxembourg, CIC Suisse
elgium
(2} .
= Corporate Banking
‘»
Cic cic
173 .
> L 5 |ar§ggg4rpg‘rgtes Specialized international activities
e financing foreign branches
o
©
(] q
N Capital markets
<
o
> @ —» C\C,
o Marchés
wn
Private equity
> > Equity
Other activities: IT, logistics and press
R Lyf Pay
. - Euro Protection CM-CIC
Euro-Information El Télécom Surveillance CCS Securities ﬁ%e‘ér‘:ﬂestig;]
- Press
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PROFILES OF CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE AND THE BFCM GROUP

Organization and business lines

1.3.2 The group’s business lines, main subsidiaries and activities

Retail banking, the group’s core business

Retail banking is the core business of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale and
accounts for 67% of its net banking income. It includes the local Crédit
Mutuel banks, the CIC banking network, Banque Européenne du Crédit
Mutuel, CIC Iberbanco, the TARGOBANK branches in Germany and Spain,
the COFIDIS Participations Group, Banque Casino and all specialized
activities, whose products are marketed by networks dedicated to
insurance brokerage, equipment leasing, leasing with a purchase option,
real estate leasing, factoring, asset management, employee savings, and
real estate sales and management.

In terms of business activity, deposit-taking rose by 5.4%, with deposits
totaling €267.5 billion at end-2018, while outstanding loans increased by
6.8% to €329.1 billion.

The retail banking and insurance networks of Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

The Crédit Mutuel banking and insurance network

The Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale branch network, also called the
regulatory scope, continued to expand its customer base, which now
consists of 7 million customers, 87% of whom are private individuals.

The number of customers who are members of their local Crédit Mutuel
bank now totals 4.7 million members. This means that over 80% of
customers can actively participate in decisions affecting their local bank,
particularly at shareholders’ meetings.

NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS AND MEMBERS

(in millions]
69 7.0
I I 4'6 4.7

Customers Members

m 2017 m 2018

Outstanding loans rose by 5.6% year-on-year to €127.1 billion at end-2018.
There was a slight drop in the number of new loans due to the fall in
home loans [sharp reduction in loan renegotiations and repurchases), while
consumer credit rose by 4.3%. The relative weight of outstanding home
loans receded slightly (-1 point), to 76% of total loans. They amounted to
€97.4 billion (+6.3%). Outstanding equipment loans to professionals and
businesses rose by 4% to €20.5 billion while consumer credit rose by 3.1%
to €6.6 billion.

CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE | 2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Customer deposits (€111.8 billion) increased by é%. This rise was driven
by premium income from demand deposits and deposits on passbook
accounts which increased by 11.6% and 8.2% respectively. Conversely,
a drop was recorded in term deposits and certificates of deposit. Life
insurance outstandings for customers of the Crédit Mutuel network totaled
£38.2 billion, up 2.9% year-on-year.

OUTSTANDING CUSTOMER LOANS AND DEPOSITS

(in € billions]
004 1271 _
I I 105'5 I
Loans Deposits

M Dec. 2017 m Dec. 2018

The income diversification policy is taking shape, as shown by the dynamic
sales of ancillary services: property and casualty insurance policies totaled
£9.8 million at end-2018 (+3.7%), while telephone and remote surveillance
subscriptions amounted to €775,200 (+7.3%) and €159,200 (+4.9%)
respectively.

CIC banking and insurance network

CIC’s banking and insurance network constitutes its core trade.
At December 31, 2018, it consisted of 1,911 branches spread out between
the CIC network in Tle-de-France and the five regional banks (CIC Lyonnaise
de Banque, CIC Est, CIC Nord Ouest, CIC Ouest and CIC Sud Ouest). At the
end of December 2018, CIC regional bank branches served 5.1 million
consisting mainly of individuals (81%), professionals and businesses (14%)
and non-profit organizations (2%). The number of customers rose by 1.9%
year-on-year (+96,000).

NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS

(in millions)

5.0 5.1
Customers
m 2017 m 2018
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Outstanding loans increased by 6.8% year-on-year to €125.4 billion at end-
2018. The most significant rise was in capital investment loans granted
to businesses and professional customers (+10.5%). A slight rise was
recorded in new loans, thanks to capital investment loans (+14.9%). The
ratio of outstanding home loans remained stable at 59%. They amounted
to €73.7 billion, up 6.6%. Outstanding consumer loans increased by 4.5%
to €5.4 billion.

Customer deposits (€114.7 billion) rose by 4.4%. Takings were particularly
high in demand deposits and passbook accounts, which rose by 10.4%
and 7.9%, respectively, while market-rate deposits continued to drop. Life
insurance contracts subscribed by CIC customers totaled €33.1 billion
(+0.7%).

Sales of ancillary services rose significantly, with an increase of 6.1%
in telephone services (498,700 subscribers), 5.5% in property and
casualty insurance (5.4 million contracts) and 3.3% in theft protection
(102,600 subscribers).

OUTSTANDING CUSTOMER LOANS AND DEPOSITS

(in € billions]
125.4
Loans Deposits

m Dec.2017 ™ Dec. 2018

Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel (BECM)

Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel operates in the corporate and REIT
markets in France and Germany, as well as the real estate development
market in France. Serving over 21,400 customers, its sales network is
composed of 51 branches (of which 42 are in France] and a subsidiary
in Monaco.

Measured in monthly average capital at end-December 2018, customer
loans rose 7.6% year-on-year to €15.2 billion. Accounting resources rose
3.4% on a rolling 12-month basis, to €13.1 billion. The commitment ratio
stands at 115.8%.

At December 31,2018, net banking income was up 2.3% to €300 million. The
interest margin rose 3.7% due to the drop in the cost of customer deposits
and the growth in outstanding loans.

General operating expenses amounted to £26.8 million, up 3.7%. The cost/
income ratio came to 32.2%, posting a slight 0.4 point rise.

Net additions to/reversals from provisions for loan losses came to
€31.3 million, i.e. 0.22% of average outstanding loans, reflecting the
excellent quality of the assets.

At December 31,2018, net profit amounted to €110.3 million, up 9.8%.

QOrganization and business lines

CIC Iberbanco

With 180 employees working at 40 branches in France, CIC Iberbanco
gained more than 11,000 new customers in 2018, thus increasing its
customer portfolio by 11% to 59,450.

Deposits rose by 14.6% to €783 million. Outstanding loans grew by 21.5%
to 1,091 million.

Property and casualty insurance (19% increase in the total number of
policies to 54,499 at end-2018) and mobile phone services (15% increase
in the number of subscribers to 7,050 at end-2018) posted very significant
growth.

This good commercial development confirms the appropriateness of the
bank’s target-specific affinity-based model. For 2018, net banking income
amounted to €32.8 million and net profit came to €3.5 million.

CIC Iberbanco continued to implement its development plan with the
opening of three new branches: Aix-en-Provence, Lyon and Sucy-en-Brie.
For 2019, a new branch is already planned for Clamart (Hauts-de-Seine), and
others are under study in lle-de-France, central France and southern France.

TARGOBANK in Germany

Retail banking remained very dynamic. Outstanding loans grew 10.4% to
€14.8 billion. New direct personal loans totaled €4.2 billion, up €460 million
(+12.3%) compared with the previous fiscal year. The market share for
personal loans thus grew for the third consecutive year, reaching 2.0% in
2018 versus 8.5% in 2017.

Moreover, customer deposits totaled nearly €15.9 billion at end-2018, up
8.6% year-on-year.

In the corporate market, factoring and leasing activities also posted an
increase compared with the previous year. The volume of invoices handled
increased 3.9% to €49.3 billion and the leasing portfolio grew by an average
of 11% year-on-year thanks to a 247% increase in production, to €663 million.

The operational and legal integration of the factoring entity (TARGO
Factoring) and the leasing entity (TARGO Leasing) acquired from General
Electric in 2016 was completed in 2018. These activities round off the
diversification of TARGOBANK in Germany on the corporate market, making
it a bank with a comprehensive offering for individual and corporate
customers.

The net banking income of TARGOBANK in Germany amounted to
€1,602 million, up 3.8%, while its net profit grew 4.15% to €343.7 million.

TARGOBANK in Spain

TARGOBANK Spain is an all purpose bank wholly oned by BFCM with
132 branches located in Spain’s main centers of economic activity and has
nearly 123,000 customers. At end-2018, gross customer loans leveled out
at £€2.2 billion, while customer deposits remained stable at nearly €2 billion.

In 2018, a significant change took place in the network of branches through
their specialization by markets (Retail, Corporates, and Large Corporates).

With gross operating income near the break-even point, 2018 was a year of
transition, with the roll-out of a stable organizational structure to manage
the upcoming years’ growth.

The income statement posts a loss of €19.7 million, representing an
improvement of €48 million over 2017.
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Ancillary businesses to retail banking

These comprise all of the specialized subsidiaries that market their products
through their own channels and/or through the local banks or branches of
Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale: consumer credit, factoring and receivables
management, leasing, fund management and employee savings.

Consumer credit - COFIDIS Participations Group

In 2018, commercial activity continued to be highly dynamic, both for
directly marketed products and products marketed through partners. New
loans increased by 14.4% compared with the previous year, to €6.8 billion.

Total outstanding loans increased significantly: +6.6% compared with 2017,
to €116 hillion.

Net banking income rose by €40.4 million, buoyed by the growth in
commercial activity.

Expenses include IT investments, which remained significant in Portugal,
Italy and Central European countries due to the integration of acquisitions
ininternal IT systems. Other operating costs increased in line with business
growth.

Net additions to/reversals from provisions for loan losses increased
by €14.7 million compared with 2017. This was particularly due to the
implementation of IFRS 9, which requires the provisioning of performing
loans, resulting in a rise in provisions, given the good commercial dynamics
throughout 2018.

In light of these elements, net profit amounted to €202 million, down
£8.8 million compared with 2017.

Factoring and receivables management

The factoring business in France is built around CM-CIC Factor, the Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale’s long-time customer receivables financing and
management specialist, and Factofrance and Cofacrédit, two companies
acquired from General Electric in July 2016.

At December 31, 2018, these entities together accounted for more than
20% of the French market, namely:

m £73.9 billion in receivables bought (vs. £68.0 billion in 2017; +8.6%);
m £€16.4 billion in export revenue (vs. €14 billion in 2017; +17%);

m gross outstandings of €12.6 billion at end-December (+8% compared
with end-December 2017).

After the commissions paid to the networks, the contribution of CM-CIC
Factor, Factofrance and Cofacrédit to the group’s consolidated net profit
amounted to €42.9 million for the whole of 2018.

Leasing in France
CM-CIC Bail and CM-CIC Leasing Solutions

In an environment that is still very favorable to leasing and with an
established trend to favor the use of an asset in one’s possession CM-CIC
Bail and CM-CIC Leasing Solutions continued their development at a very
dynamic pace. Overall production was at €5.6 billion, increasing by 11.8%
as compared to 2017.

The profitability level remained high thanks to the growth of outstandings,
which reached €10.6 billion (+€1,037 million) and the diversification of
offerings and services.

After the commissions paid to the networks, the net profit contributed by
the two companies amounted to €50.8 million in 2018.
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CM-CIC Lease

The adaptation by CM-CIC Lease of real estate leasing to all of the networks’
customer segments made it possible to process over the course of the
past year large volume increases in production, as much in amounts as in
the number of transactions. Thus, new funding granted in order to meet
the needs of businesses grew by 52% to €240 million. This was achieved
through 342 new financing agreements, a 13% increase.

After the commissions paid to the networks involved, the contribution of
CM-CIC Lease to consolidated net profit amounted to €7.4 million.

Fund management and employee savings
CM-CIC Asset Management

The subsidiary CM-CIC Asset Management is the asset management
specialist of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale. At December 31, 2018, it
was France’s 4™ largest asset management company (source: Six). The
management company offers a large range of funds and asset management
solutions on behalf of third parties, based primarily on a balance between
the quest for performance and managing risk.

After a promising first semester, CM-CIC Asset Management maintained
its position in an uncertain and volatile market in the last quarter and in a
context of growth in the sector.

Commercial distribution indicators remained positive with a gross inflow
of nearly €6 billion in 2018 and total outstandings of nearly €59 billion at
December 31, 2018.

Revenue amounted to £247.4 million, a slight decrease (-1.9%) as compared
to 2017 in the context of a bear market.

To reinforce its expertise, CM-CIC Asset Management announced at the
end of December 2018 an external growth operation aimed at taking over
part of the assets managed by Milleis Investments, a subsidiary of Milleis
Bangue. This operation, which should be finalized during the first half of
2019, will allow CM-CIC Asset Management to grow its managed assets
on UCITS [equity, bond and diversified funds), and to also enrich its offer
of higher-performing conviction-driven funds with all of the retail, wealth
management and private banking markets.

CM-CIC Epargne Salariale

CM-CIC Epargne Salariale saw an excellent level of activity in 2018. New
business, as well as inflows, grew sharply to a new record level. After an
excellent year in 2017, the growth dynamics continued in 2018, with gross
inflows up 9.7% compared with 2017, totaling €1,342.8 million - a record
high. Sales of contracts grew by 1.0%, representing 12,883 new contracts,
while remittances on new contracts totaled €265.8 million, up 56.9%.

The entity’s contribution to consolidated net profit amounted to €1.8 million,
after remuneration of the networks involved.

Other
Real Estate - CM-CIC Immobilier

The subsidiary CM-CIC Immobilier develops building plots and housing units
through CM-CIC Aménagement Foncier, ATARAXIA Promotion and CM-CIC
Réalisations Immabilieres (SOFEDIMY. It sells new housing units through
CM-CIC Agence Immobiliére (AFEDIM) and manages housing units on behalf
of investors through CM-CIC Gestion Immoabiliere. It also participates in
financing rounds related to real estate development transactions through
CM-CIC Participations Immaobilieres.

In 2018, CM-CIC Agence Immobiliere booked orders for 8,995 housing units.

www.creditmutuel.fr
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CM-CIC Gestion Immobiliére obtained over 4,000 ZENINVEST management
mandates, and 53% of purchasers signed a management mandate with the
group through CM-CIC Agence Immobiliére.

To provide increasing support to its customers and to enable its network
to expand its offering with innovative real estate services, CM-CIC Agence
Immobiliere will now sell pre-owned housing units. This new service was
successfully tested in Q4 2018 by several local Crédit Mutuel banks.

The subsidiary’s contribution to consolidated net profit amounted to
€26.9 million, after retrocession of commissions to the network.
Crédit Mutuel-CIC Home Loan SFH

In 2018, the debt market had to cope with tense and fluctuating operating
conditions due to a number of factors: the gradual return of inflation in

Insurance

Backed by more than 40 years of experience in banking and insurance,
the business of Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel (GACM] is
fully integrated in Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale on commercial and
technological levels.

For GACM, 2018 was marked by the integration, on January 1, 2018, of
the insurance holding company of Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe (CMNE],

NUMBER OF INSURANCE POLICIES

(in millions)

Dec. 2017 Dec. 2018

QOrganization and business lines

the euro zone, preparation for the ending of the ECB’s Quantitative Easing
(QE) program, the continuing rise in US interest rates, the political risks in
Europe, and international trade tensions - particularly between the United
States and China.

Against that backdrop, Crédit Mutuel-CIC Home Loan SFH carried out 2 bond
issues, representing 14.8% of the medium- and long-term refinancing needs
of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale on the markets:

m €1 billion through an 8-year issue in February 2018;
m €1 billion through a 10-year issue in April 2018.

In a market environment set to be complex in 2019, Crédit Mutuel-CIC Home
Loan SFH will be called upon to find an effective solution to round off the
group’s financing plan.

the absorption operation was approved by the competent supervisory
authorities, particularly by the ACPR, in a decision published in the Journal
Officiel of June 27, 2018.

The insurance business of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale currently serves
12.2 million policyholders (+4.1%) through nearly 31 million policies, and
extends to the CMNE distribution networks.

BREAKDOWN OF POLICIES BY SEGMENT

30% 4%
IRD / Healthcare
10%

' Automotive

13%

Life insurance

21%

Personal risk insurance

22%

Borrowers

GACM's total revenue amounted to €12.1 billion, up 7.4%. This growth stemmed from all segments, with sustained growth in retirement life insurance (+8.6%)

and property and casualty insurance (+6.0%).

REVENUE BREAKDOWN

(in € millions] 12/2018 12/2017 Variation (%]
Property insurance 2,087 1,965 6.2%
Of which auto 1,153 1,087 6.0%
Personal Insurance 3,044 2,888 5.4%
Of which borrowers 1558 1474 5.7%
Acceptance 30 14 ns
Sub-total, property & casualty insurance 5,161 4,867 6.0%
Life Insurance 6,783 6,249 8.6%
Other activities 139 140 -1.0%
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED REVENUE 12,083 11,255 1.4%
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Gross premium income from life insurance amounted to €6.8 billion,
showing a significant rise after a decline in 2017. The strategy of a shift
toward more unit-linked policies was maintained in 2018, supported by
guided management, which rounded out the range of financial offerings.
The share of unit-linked policies in premium income stands at 28.4%, in
line with the market (28.2%).

Under the combined effect of an increase in gross premium income and
a slowdown in surrendered policies, net premium income amounted
to €1 billion, a sharp increase compared to the end of December 2017
(€46 million).

For property insurance, revenue amounted to €2.1 billion. The home
insurance division, whose offering was reviewed at the end of 2017 in
the non-occupant homeowners segment, posted record performance. The
auto insurance offering also continued to perform very well. The auto and
homeowners portfolios thus recorded sustained growth of +4.7% and +4.1%,
respectively.

The market for professionals continued to post strong growth, as
much in property insurance as in group health. The multi-risk portfolio
for professionals thus grew by nearly 25% in 2018, while group health
insurance grew by more than 10%. In response to the network’s strong
demand, the insurance offerings for professionals will be strengthened in
2019 with decennial civil liability insurance, which will allow for growth in
the Building and Public Works sector.

Personal protection insurance is a strong focus of GACM'’s strategy.
The fiscal year ended with a 5.4% increase in revenue and a portfolio of
nearly 14.6 million policies, up 3.2%. In April 2018, a new offer in individual

CHANGE IN COMMISSIONS PAID

health insurance was rolled out, consisting of a comprehensive range of
supplemental insurance, hospitalization coverage and a product dedicated
to prevention and well-being. Simultaneously, a new help tool for sales
was made available to the network. This tool includes a reimbursement
simulator that allows customers to understand with full transparency the
levels of insurance coverage offered. These improvements boosted sales
of individual health insurance, which posted growth of 5.3%, excluding
hospitalization contracts.

In personal protection insurance, the Funeral insurance offering underwent
an in-depth review. This completes the renewal of the range initiated in
2017.

Furthermore, in 2018, the GACM rolled out a new credit-protection
insurance offer.

Concerning results, GACM’s operating margin decreased, mainly due to
the financial market downturn. In addition, its underwriting income was
weighed down by additional provisions in respect of borrowers’ insurance
due to the rise in disability and invalidity claims resulting from a larger
number of natural disasters in 2018. Indeed, natural disasters gave rise
to more than 80,000 claims for indemnities exceeding €130 million, i.e.
€60 million more than in the previous year, which had also been impacted
by numerous events, including Hurricane Irma.

The contribution of insurance to the results of Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale rose 4.4% to €844 million. GACM's net profit increased by 4.2% to
€855 million, versus €821 million previously.

In line with the growth in revenue, the commissions paid to distributor
networks rose 5.6%, exceeding €1.5 billion for the very first time.
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Revenue earned outside France amounted to nearly €650 million, accounting
for 5.4% of the total. Spain is the biggest market with €410 million, followed
by Belgium (€155 million).

The Belgian market has been expanding, on the one hand with the
consolidation of North Europe Life Belgium (NELB] following the merger
with the insurance holding company CMNE, and on the other hand with
the marketing of the auto and home insurance policies of Partners
Assurances SA by the Beobank netwaork, the Belgian subsidiary of Crédit
Mutuel Nord Europe (CMNE]. For this first full year of partnership, the sales
performance achieved in this network of over 200 outlets is satisfactory.

At December 31, 2018, GACM’s shareholders’ equity amounted to
€11.4 billion, up 1.6% compared to 2017. GACM's balance sheet remains
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sound, which enables it to confidently contend with the increasingly
competitive environment and the low interest rates.

In all its business segments, GACM continued to implement its strategy
to improve its products and services for policyholders. The websites
and smartphone applications have been enhanced with numerous new
functionalities.

In 2018, auto and home insurance benefited from the launch of new on-line
services such as insurance claims, estimates (with the auto estimate based
on only three photos] and, at the end of the year, the purchase of home
insurance. Online insurance purchasing will be extended to auto insurance
in the coming months. For life insurance, policyholders can make payments
and manage their policies online. Finally, in credit-protection insurance, the
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e-signature feature allows policyholders to quickly and easily complete
the formalities for approval. These policyholders also have the exclusive
advantage of continued medical acceptance in the event of a new loan
following a change of main residence.

Insurance sites are also open to employees of businesses that have taken
out group health or retirement policies for them.

These developments are in line with GACM's strategy to simplify insurance
procedures for its clients. It aims to provide a high-quality, efficient and
loyalty-building experience at each moment of the relationship with
policyholders.

Corporate banking
Corporate banking includes:
m the financing of large corporates and institutional clients;

m specialized value-added financing covering three business lines
[financing of acquisitions, project financing, and asset financing and
securitization) as well as debt management on behalf of third parties;

m international activities and financing carried out by foreign branches.

It therefore manages €19.3 billion in loans (+12.9%) and €6 billion in deposits
(-8.8%).

Large accounts: large corporates and investor
institutions

In an economic environment still well-focused, the total amount of
commitments from large corporates department grew in 2018. Overall
exposure thus increased from €24.2 hillion at the end of 2017 to €27 billion
at the end of 2018 (+11.8%). Balance sheet assets increased in significantly:
+26.3% [€8.2 billion compared to €6.5 billion at the end of 2017). Off-balance
sheet financing - unused confirmed credits - for its part, grew by 2.6%
(to €12.5 billion).

Commercially, and taking into account the tendency of disintermediation,
development efforts were oriented towards building better customer
relationships. The large corporates directorate works to ensure the good
coordination between all of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale’s players, in
order to meet the expectations of customers by providing the best possible
service.

The policy of selective risk-taking has, nonetheless, been pursued, as
well as the pursuit of less concentration of commitments through greater
sectoral diversification. At the end of 2018, accounting resources amounted
to €6.5 billion, including 5.1 billion in demand deposits (compared to
€4.4 billion a year earlier). Added to that is €1.2 billion of securities issued
by the group.

Specialized financing

Despite a still very competitive environment, 2018 was a good year in
terms of business.

In 2018, the observed market trends of previous years were confirmed.
Available assets remain insufficient to absorb the excess liquidity of the
market’s players (banks, investment funds, capital markets, institutional
investors), which leads to pressures on the compensation of transactions,
and on the structures.

QOrganization and business lines

Despite this context, and thanks to good commercial activity by teams
and, in a small measure, a positive currency effect, total commitments
(€12.7 billion) are up slightly compared to 2017 (€12.1 billion).

Development of the third-party management activity - via CM-CIC Private
Debt, subsidiary of the CIC - continued in 2018 with the launch of the third
senior debt fund, CIC Debt Fund 3, and the launch of a fund administered
by dedicated mandate to fund infrastructure, which will benefit from the
volume of business of the CIC’s project finance team. The European Large
Cap Fund, launched in 2017, has seen a good level of expansion in 2018.
CM-CIC Private Debt now manages nearly €2 billion.

Funding of Acquisitions

The group supports its clients in their plans for business transfers, external
growth and development by providing its expertise and know-how in
structuring the most appropriate financing for each type of transaction.

Commercially, the Acquisitions Funding activity was sustained, particularly
with regard to financing external growth. The production of loans over 2018
was 14.7% above that of 2017. In the context of growing pressures on the
levels of compensation and funding structures, which was felt in France as
much as in foreign branches, new business was achieved with particular
attention given to limiting risks and the appropriateness of structures for
borrower profiles. This prudent approach translated into a good quality
portfolio and a limited cost of risk.

Asset financing and securitization

The production of the Assets and Securitization Financing business line
improved noticeably in 2018, with the realization of 47 new files (21 in Paris
and 26 in foreign trade centers: New York, Singapore and Hong Kong].

The aeronautics sector remained the main contributor to activity in
2018 with 26 transactions (45% of the production in US dollars). Funding
of the maritime sector saw a rebound in activity with completion of
16 transactions (financing of vessels and containers) in Paris and Singapore.
The energy sector (off-shore oil and methane shipping] is still lackluster
(three transactions completed in Singapore and Paris).

A prudent policy of supporting long-time customers, both French and
foreign, was maintained.

The activity of various desks was balanced in 2018 with a production that
was geographically well distributed.

Optimized financial transactions conducted in Paris once again contributed
significantly to the department’s profit.

Project funding

The year proved satisfactory for the Project Funding business line, with
more than fifteen new projects for the Paris area and foreign branches
(New York, London, Singapore). In a very competitive environment with
regard to risk and compensation and an overall stable market, production
in 2018 fell as compared to 2017, reflecting high selectivity. The portfolio,
however, remains stable and of good quality.

The business line strengthened its expertise in the electricity and
infrastructure sector, with half of the projects in the renewable energy
sector, in segments as diverse as land- and sea-based wind power,
solar and even biomass. Also of note are several infrastructure projects:
European airport, road infrastructures in Australia and Croatia.
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Organization and business lines

Production in 2018 boosted the predominate share in the electricity sector,
which represented about half of the approvals at the end of 2018. It was
followed by infrastructures making up to almost a third, with the balance
spread between natural resources and telecom.

The geographic distribution of outstandings reflects the dominance of
Europe (66%) followed by Asia Pacific (15%), North America (13%) and the
Middle East (6%).

CIC acted as arranger or co-arranger in more than half the projects,
primarily in France and in other European countries.

International activities and foreign branches

The international realm being one of the engines of growth of its business
customers, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, via the CIC, provides a
comprehensive range of products to address the issues of international
development.

The group therefore strives to succeed in its role as a provider of banking
services and products destined to safeguarding and financing international
business transactions: documentary letters of credits, international
guarantees, cash-flow and currency risk management, financing of
operations and working capital needs. By complementing its traditional
vocation as a trusted intermediary in international business transactions,
the group pursued the development of its offerings of support and advice,
which run from multi-market targeting to the selection of partners and
assistance in establishing commercial or industrial facilities.

Managed by a unique activity center (ISO 9001), international transaction
processing is spread across France in five regional hubs to ensure close
collaboration with business offices. In addition to our group’s networks
present in Germany, Spain and Switzerland, support abroad for the clientele
relies on strategic partnerships in Canada with Desjardins, in China with
Bank of East Asia, in the Maghreb with the Banque Marocaine du Commerce
Extérieur and the Banque de Tunisie.

In 2018, more than 1,600 small and medium-sized businesses benefited
from “International Development” standard services and nearly 200 small
and medium-sized businesses and consortiums were supported in the
context of consulting services by Aidexport, a specialized subsidiary. Fiscal
year 2018 was marked by the pursuit of the development of buyer credits,
documentary operations, issuances of guarantees, for import and export,
in a context of high geopolitical risks.

With 34 representation offices and branches run by bi-cultural teams in
Great Britain, the United States, Hong Kong and Singapore, CIC covers some
fifty countries to provide advice to Group customers for their international
development projects.

The representation offices and branches have put their skills and
knowledge of regional markets to work in the service of the clientele and
the group’s specialized business lines, thus contributing to the development
of its international activities. The goal of the branches is to support and fund
business clients in the world’s strategic zones. The representation offices -
and the four international development offices within the branches - have
as their primary mission to assist the group’s customers in their plans
for growth, in maintaining effective relationships with local banks and in
responding to inquiries or intervening locally on behalf of the group’s other
professions.
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Capital markets

Market transactions taken on by CIC and BFCM are performed in
accordance with safe and prudent management norms, for the financing
and investment needs of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, as well as for
its customers. Capital market operations revolve around three types of
activities: Group cash management, commercial market activities and
Rates-Equities-Credit investment activities. Teams are located primarily
in France, but also in the New York, London and Singapore branches.

The group’s cash management activity covers all entities of Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale, including CIC. Being a matter of management of the
banks’ balance sheet, the profits/(losses) are included in those of the
group’s other activities or, failing that, in that of the holding company.

The commercial business line, under the name of CM-CIC Market Solutions,
mainly provides services to the customers of the group’s banks, and for this
reason redistributes the bulk of the profitability back to them.

The Investment business line represents in fine the net profit/(loss)
of capital markets as it is summarized in this presentation. The skills
developed for proprietary trading are offered to the customers by CM-CIC
Market Solutions through funds managed by the subsidiary Cigogne
Management SA.

Refinancing

The centralized cash management of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale rests
on the appropriate gaging of short-term and long/medium-term resources
in order to refinance the group in a prudent and efficient way. It involves
public issues and private placements on national and international markets,
as well as the holding of an appropriate liquidity reserve to comply with the
regulatory liquidity ratios and ensure the group’s resilience to severe stress.

In 2018, the debt market had to cope with tense and fluctuating operating
conditions due to a number of factors: the gradual return of inflation in
the euro zone, the gradual halt of stock buybacks by the European Central
Bank (ECB), the continuing rise in US interest rates, the political risks in
Europe, and international trade tensions - particularly between the United
States and China.

The external funding raised on the markets through the group cash
management activities of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, through BFCM
and its subsidiary Crédit Mutuel-CIC Home Loan SFH, totaled €138 billion
at end-December 2018, representing a 4.5% rise compared with end-2017.

Short-term money-market funding (under 1 year]) amounted to €49.6 billion
atend-2018, up 5.2% year-on-year. It accounted for 36% of the total funding
raised on the markets, remaining stable with respect to the previous year.
For the proper diversification of its funding, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
uses all of the required short-term issuance programs (NEU CP, ECP, and
London DCs). In order to diversify the investor base, 21% of the issues are in
US dollars, and 17% in pounds sterling. Most of the foreign currency funding
is subsequently transformed into euros.

Medium/long-term (MLT) funding totaled €88.4 billion at end-2018, up
4.1% compared with 2017. In 2018, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale raised
€13.5 billion in MLT funding mainly through BFCM, but also Crédit Mutuel-
CIC Home Loan SFH, its entity that issues covered bonds which are rated
in the top bracket by rating agencies. Overall, 69% of MLT funding was
raised in euros, while the remaining 31% was raised in foreign currencies
(US dollar, yen, pound sterling, Swiss franc, and Australian dollar], reflecting
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the ongoing diversification of the investor base. The breakdown between
public issues and private placements stands at 71% and 29%, respectively.

The refinancing policy also aims to control the proportion of encumbered
assets. Secured MLT refinancing (SFH) accounted for 16% of the total MLT
refinancing raised in 2018.

The average maturity of the MLT funding raised in 2018 was 5.5 years,
similar to that recorded in 2017 (5.8 years).

In 2018, public issues amounted to €9.6 billion, breaking down as follows:
m BFCM in the form of senior EMTN:

= €1.5 billion maturing in 7 years, issued in January,

m €2.25 billion maturing in 4 and 10 years, issued in July,

= £800 million maturing in 4 years, issued in January and July,

m SFr200 million (2 issues of 100 million each maturing in 7 and 8 years)
issued in April and November,

The total liquidity reserves of the consolidated group break down as follows:

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale (in € billions]

QOrganization and business lines

= US$L.5 billion maturing in b years, issued in July in US144A form,

m Y107.9 billion maturing in 5, 7 and 10 years, issued in October in
Samourai form,

= A$200 million maturing in b years, issued in November in Kangaroo
form (inaugural issue for BFCMJ;

m BFCM in the form of subordinated EMTN: €500 million maturing in
10 years, issued in May;

m Crédit Mutuel-CIC Home Loan SFH: a total of €2 billion in two issues
of €1 billion each maturing in 8 and 10 years, carried out in February
and April.

For the consolidated group, the liquidity position of Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale is as follows:

m an average LCR of 131.2% for 2018;

m HQLA average of €79.17 billion, with 72.6% of the assets deposited with
central banks (mainly the ECB).

December 31, 2018

Cash deposited with central banks 51.0
LCR securities 225
Other eligible assets, central banks 35.8
TOTAL LIQUIDITY RESERVES 109.3

The liquidity reserves cover market resources due to mature within the
next 12 months.

In 2018, the European Investment Bank (EIB) granted BFCM a new SME/
mid-cap loan facility of €250 million available in two tranches. The first
tranche (tranche A) of €150 million maturing in 5 years was fully drawn
down during the 4" quarter. Tranche B of the SME/mid-cap loan facility
should be drawn down in the first quarter 2019.

Moreover, a new partnership with the EIB was signed at end-December 2018
under the heading: “Crédit Mutuel Mid-Cap Co-Financing Platform”. It
consists of loans co-financed by the EIB under eligibility criteria, with the
EIB portion capped at €150 million. Another initiative is being launched in
2019 for the financing of SMEs and mid-caps.

Commercial activities (CM-CIC Market Solutions)

CM-CIC Market Solutions is the department within the CIC in charge
of capital markets on behalf of the customers of Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fedérale.

CM-CIC Market Solutions is organized around five areas of activity:

m primary Market Solutions is the group’s activity center for financial
transactions in capital markets (ECM and DCM]. This area of activity
also offers delivery of services to issuers (advice on financial disclosure,
help with shareholders’ meeting, register of shareholders) for more than
100 listed and non-listed companies. This domain benefits from the
commercial proximity developed by the group’s other business lines
[the networks’ corporate customer relationship managers, specialized
financing, CM-CIC Investissement and CM-CIC Conseil). A common
business approach with corporate account managers, called Focus
GE-GME, specifically targets businesses with which the group hopes
to build a comprehensive relationship;

m secondary Market Solutions provides advice on implementation for a
wide range of financial instruments: interest-rate hedging, currency

hedging, commodities hedging, bonds, stock, ETF, derivatives. In France,
the sales teams are located in Paris and in large regional cities. They are
available to serve the networks'investment customers. CM-CIC Market
Solutions, Inc. - CIC’s broker/dealer subsidiary - is the chaperone broker
for CM-CIC Market Solutions’ equity brokerage activities in France;

m investment Solutions encompasses an original and high-performing
offering of investment products, utilizing the EMTN issuance programs
of the CIC and of Stork Acceptance SA. Underlying these products may
be rate instruments, credit instruments or equity instruments. This offer
is mainly marketed to business customers and individuals in the Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale networks;

m depositary solutions, a leader in the portfolio management sector
[SDG) and entrepreneurial UCITS, covers two main activities: mandated
management services and collective management services, from
whence the UCITS depositary function, the middle buy-side and the buy-
side execution table. The commercial strength of Depositary Solutions
consists of pooling services and tools made available to management
under mandate and collective managements;

m Global Research includes equity research, credit research, economic
strategy research and research on commodities. Global research
is a component of service offerings to corporate and professional
investors, as much for activities covering risks (currency, interest rates,
commodities) as for investing or advice to businesses. It's purpose is
to provide practical, independent and “engaged” market intelligence.
CM-CIC Market Solutions is one of the founding members of ESN LLP
(European Securities Network], a multi-local network with intermediaries
in 6 European countries (Finland, Italy, Spain, Portugal, Greece and
France). This partnership covers 450 European companies, by means
of a research team of 70 analysts and strategists.
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2018 was marked by the implementation of MIFID Il and uncertainty on the
financial markets, which grew over the fiscal year.

As for Primary Market Solutions, the primary bond team participated in
27 bond issues in 2018. In a difficult market environment, 2018 was a
rocky year for primary equity activity (one initial public offering and four
capital increases). Initiated in 2017, the roll out of the internal commercial
mechanism Focus GE-GME continued in 2018. Its purpose is to develop
a comprehensive commercial relationship with a core target of business
customers and/or companies in which Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale has
equity interests, and establish itself as a capital structuring consultant.

Secondary Market Solutions saw activity increase overall in 2018, the first
post-MIFID Il fiscal year, impacted otherwise by relatively difficult market
conditions. Hedging revenues gradually improved throughout the fiscal
year against a backdrop of increasing volatility and expectations of interest
rate hikes. The equity sector showed itself to be fairly resilient in view
of the decline in volumes and indexes coupled with the impacts of new
regulations on its commercial model. Bond activity remained all together
fairly well oriented. The CIC became a systematic internaliser throughout
2018 on corporate bonds. Finally, the issuers’ trading room started to benefit
from a flow of business coming from the roll-out of the Focus GE-GME
mechanism.

Concerning Investment Solutions, the structured activity of EMTN saw
significant growth in 2018. EMTN'’s outstandings went from €4.9 billion at
the end of 2017 to €6 billion at the end of 2018 (€5.3 billion in EMTN CIC
and €0.8 billion in EMTN Stork Acceptance).

Depositary Solutions saw commercial activity in 2018, responding to several
important tenders in a context where the number of players offering these
types of services is decreasing. This year also saw the launch of two new
service offerings - loans against securities and buy-side trading desk - in
order to support registered fund management company customers. At the
end of 2018, the Depositary Solutions business was serving nearly 130 fund
management companies, administering more than 30,000 individual
accounts and acting as depositary for more than 310 UCITS, totaling more
than €35 billion in assets.

Concerning Global Research, the number of companies covered by the
stock analysis office continued to grow in the context of the roll out
of Focus GE-GME. At the end of 2018, the Credit research team was
strengthened and is expected to expand its coverage in the coming months.
The economy-strategy work was dictated by world geopolitical tensions
and the uncertainty of markets.

Finally, the 2018 fiscal year was marked by the launch of a new digital tool:
the CM-CIC Market Solutions maobile app, available on i0OS and Android
platforms. This application offers the clients of the CIC the possibility of
viewing live or in replay mode the daily programs that analyze market
news, financial analysis journals and even the strategic vision of listed
companies by their executives.

Rates-Equities-Credit Investments

The Rates-Equities-Credit Investment activity essentially covers the buying
and selling of securities acquired with the intention of holding them long-
term, as well as transactions on financial instruments related to them. The
teams in charge of these activities conduct transactions according to a
strict framework of limitations.

In the context of a complicated market in 2018, positions were managed
with caution. In effect, the year was marked by international, geopolitical
and economic trade tensions, particularly with the ECB maintaining interest
rates at a very low level and the gradual halt of stock buybacks in the
context of quantitative easing.
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Profits for the year, in France and abroad, held up well overall, but ended
below forecasts, with the widening credit spreads at the end of the year
being reflected on mark-to-market valuations. Observed over an average of
several years, profits were very satisfying. The objective remains to achieve
positive performance by limiting the volatility of the activities’ financial
results and giving priority to commercial development.

The performance of alternative management products, coming from
expertise in the investment sector and offered to the clientele, is down, but
compares favorably to the competition over the period. The performance
of the Stork Alternative Investment Fund, the primary investment support,
is thus higher than comparable indexes with low volatility.

Private banking

The private banking activity of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is focused on
providing quality customer service, in accordance with the profession’s best
practices. It relies on several entities within the group, each one having a
unique positioning. In France, the activity is provided by CIC private banking
and the Banque Transatlantique. CIC Banque Privée, a branch business line
integrated into the CIC network, addresses first of all the needs of business
leaders. The Banque Transatlantique offers custom private banking services
and stock-options dedicated particularly to a French clientele living aboard.
Internationally, the group has private banking entities in zones presenting
strong growth potential such as Luxembourg, Switzerland and Belgium.

These outlets offer, in France as well as abroad, a large range of services
with high added value to more than 180,000 customers. Depending on its
market and its capabilities, each entity may intervene in other customer
segments than just the private clientele.

The private banking activity totaled €134 billion in capital under
management, €21 billion of commitments and nearly 2,000 employees.

CIC private banking

With 384 employees spread out across 50 cities in France, CIC private
banking works with wealthy estates households and business leaders
at those key moments in their business life: opening capital needs,
external growth, transfer of family assets. Working with wealth engineers,
203 private bankers meet with business owners to identify their needs and
determine appropriate entrepreneurial and asset management strategies.
All of the group’s skills, particularly international, are mobilized to offer the
best solutions, specifically adapted to the needs of its customers.

In 2018, the number of transfers of businesses remained high. The skill and
synergy measures put in place by CIC private banking made it possible
to attract a number of these transactions, especially those of significant
size. In this context, customer savings deposits reached €23.7 billion at
the end of 2018.

The entry into force of the MIFID Il and DDA guidelines entailed significant
legal, IT and pricing work.

Banque Transatlantique Group

The Banque Transatlantique is a subsidiary of CIC in charge of private
management of the customers of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale. For more
than a century, it has earned, through the distinctiveness of its services and
business lines, the confidence of its customers: executive management,
entrepreneurs, French citizen working abroad, investors, large foundations
and associations.

Despite the falling financial markets at the end of the year, the groupe
Banque Transatlantique performed well in 2018, exceeding its budgetary
forecasts. In particular, the premium income from capital markets saw very
strong growth, reaching €4.4 billion.
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In France, the three business lines (Wealth Management, French Abroad
and Shareholding Manager) contributed to this financial performance.
In 2018, the Banque Transatlantique Paris once again won a significant
number of tenders for management of stock-option and free share award
plans.

The fiscal year 2018 was marked by the merger of the two of Banque
Transatlantique’s fund management companies, Dubly Douillet Gestion and
Transatlantique Gestion. The new group, located in Paris, Lille and Nancy
is henceforth called Dubly Transatlantique Gestion.

Banque de Luxembourg

The Banque de Luxembourg is one of the reference banks in Luxembourg’s
financial markets. It operates in five business sectors: private banking,
asset management, funding, working with enterprise and entrepreneurs
and a bank for professional clients. Since 2010, the bank has also operated
in Belgium. It has a Belgian branch in Brussels and - since 2015 - in Ghent.

Private banking offers a range of integrated services to a clientele with
needs that are often complex: family or professional estates, tangibles
or intangibles with an international dimension, diversified investment
strategies, problems related to transfer of wealth, etc. The service
offerings also respond to the needs of clientele regarding the analysis and
consolidation of assets, reporting, diversification with respect to traditional
asset classes, and even questions that touch on family governance or the
implementation of philanthropic projects.

At the beginning of the 1980s, the Banque de Luxembourg was among the
pioneers in development of a division of skills and resources dedicated
to investment funds. The professional bank thus provides to initiators
of funds all the necessary services for the creation of their investment
vehicles, central governments and international distribution. The Banque de
Luxembourg also offers complete support to independent managers who
delegate their administrative tasks to the bank, thus being able to focus
entirely on management and growth of their business capital.

The year 2018 was significantly marked by the entry into force of MIFID
I, with profound implications for investment advice given by the bank
and the related fee model. Simultaneously, the bank tackled the challenge
of digital transformation of its activity, in order to offer customers a
better banking experience, maximize integration of regulatory complexity
and make business processes more fluid and efficient. The bank had
more than 900 employees at the end of 2018. On December 31, 2018,
private banking outstandings amounted to €21.5 billion. The activities
of professional banking grew over the fiscal year with total assets of
€64 hillion, or €56.7 billion of net assets for investment funds and €7.3 billion
for outstandings in the “external asset manager” activity (account holder -
custodian activity).

Banque CIC Suisse

CIC Suisse is a bank focusing on businesses, entrepreneurs and private
individuals with complex financial requirements. CIC Suisse differentiates
itself form other banks thanks to its commitment to entrepreneurial
activity, rapid decision-making, advice focused on added valug, financial
stability and delivery of custom solutions. Its strategy consists of balancing
personalized service and digital solutions, like Clevercircles and e-banking.
Clevercircles is a digital platform for the creation of family patrimony for
individuals, which allows the customer to define his or her investment
strategy and to adapt it every two months to his or her expectations, in the
context of tactical asset allocation. E-Banking is a bank accessible on the
Internet. It makes it possible to access accounts, carry out transactions,

QOrganization and business lines

and obtain recent financial information. CIC Suisse is a multi-channel bank,
capable of connecting tradition and the spirit of innovation, all the while
being efficient and flexible.

In 2018, CIC Suisse increased its market share in Switzerland. In order to
better serve its clientele and become a bank of first choice, new products
and services were developed, like Corporate Finance and Factoring.
Corporate Finance includes the activities of Mergers & Acquisitions,
succession planning, business valuation and structured financing. Factoring
is a service offered through CM-CIC Factor, which deals with the collection
and management of receivables and their advance payment to CIC Suisse’s
customers.

In 2018, CIC Suisse strengthened its presence in Switzerland, in particular
thanks to recently opened branches like those in Saint-Gall (opened in
September 2017), which is growing at a sustained pace.

Through its efficient strategy and a favorable economic environment in
2018, its business volume grew by 7.8%. The volume of credit transactions
also grew by 10.6% as compared to 2017.

Private equity

With its subsidiaries (CM-CIC Investissement SCR, CM-CIC Innovation,
CM-CIC Capital, CM-CIC Capital Privé and CM-CIC Conseil), CM-CIC
Investissement has a staff of about 143 employees spread across
7 locations in France, most of them close to the country’s economic fabric
(Paris, where its corporate headquarters is located, Lyon, Nantes, Bordeaux,
Lille, Strasbourg, and Toulouse) and 8 international locations (Frankfurt,
Zurich, Geneva, London, Montreal, Toronto, New York and Boston).

CM-CIC Investissement is one of the rare players to articulate a complete
integrated range of offerings (risk capital, private equity, transfer of capital,
advice in mergers-acquisitions), allowing it to advise and invest long term
in corporate capital for a unit amount of 1 to €100 million.

These investments, realized with shareholders’ equity, allow supported
companies to roll out their own growth strategy in France and abroad, and
assure them of long-term resources adapted to the typology of the project
financed, with a capacity to reinvest if necessary.

2018 saw stronger activity in all investment business lines and in advice
on mergers-acquisitions. Thus, in proprietary trading management,
€333.9 million (including about 52.5% of equity of intermediate-sized
businesses) were invested, including €189.4 million in 26 new companies.

CM-CIC Investissement, in particular, made the following equity
investments:

m Voyageurs du Monde (tour operator];

m Montaner Pietrini (beverage distributor to cafés, hotels, restaurants);
m RC Concept (Luxury POS agency];

m Groupe DBF (vehicle distribution);

m ABF Décisions (intellectual services- support for public aid);

m ISKN (patented technology in augmented reality making it possible to
digitize movement or orientation of a magnetic ring);

m Digital Music Solutions (Augmented reality application- music);
m SPUD (online sale of organic and local products, logistics, e-commerce);

m Hunkeler (production and marketing of pre- and post-impression digital
equipment);
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Organization and business lines

m Merovee (consultant in economic intelligence).

The portfolio’s rotation was once again very active. Divestments in an
amount of €551.8 million in disposal value made it possible to free up
€344.7 million of gains (including reversal of provisions on disposal),
demonstrating once again the quality of assets.

The principal divestments concerned:

m Circet (deployment and maintenance of fixed and mobile telecom
networks);

= Ciné Digital Service (movie theater amenities/equipment);

m Juliet Sterwen [(management consulting firm, providing consulting and
organizational training);

m Caillau (designer of watertight seals for auto and aeronautical industries);

m Joryf (builder of single-family homes and collective housing in Tle-de-
France region);

m Aries alliance [metal forming technology for aeronautics industry).

On December 31, 2018, this portfolio represented €2.5 hillion (of which
€109.4 million in innovation equity) with nearly 350 well-diversified
investments, including a significant share in private equity (more than
69%). The portfolio’s assets generated dividends, vouchers and financial
income worth €69.2 million. In third-party management, CM-CIC Capital
Privé, which suspended issuance of Proximity Investment Funds (FIP) and
innovation-focused mutual funds (FCPI) since 2015, continued to manage
existing funds. The outstandings of funds under management amounted
to €156.9 million at the end of 2018, after reimbursement of €46.7 million
to their subscribers. CM-CIC Conseil performed 19 consulting operations
in 2018, resulting in a record year in terms of commissions.

IT, logistics and press

Euro-Information Télécom (EIT)

In 2018, Euro-Information Télécom enhanced its full MVNO status, which
is unique in Europe (4G interconnection with 3 infrastructure operators). In
this regard, a vast migration of the core network was launched in 2018 and
will take 2 years to complete. It will allow the use of the new 4G services
including VOLTE (4G voice) and prepare the change in the architecture for
the arrival of bG. At the same time, EIT completed the technical project for
the launch of a high-speed fixed broadband offer in partnership with SFR
[commercial launch in December 2018). This year was thus marked by a
unique and unprecedented effort in terms of development and technical
projects. This reflects the strategic decision to have a latest-generation
high-speed broadband netwaork, initially mobile-centric and subsequently
fixed-mobile convergent.
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Commercially, Euro-Information Télécom recorded a net gain of
200,000 customers. The stock of active lines on the EIT network totaled
1,867,000 at end-December. On the consumer market, EIT continued to
develop its white labels Auchan Telecom and Cdiscount Mobile, alongside
its historic brands NRJ Mobile, Crédit Mutuel Mobile and CIC Mobile. On
the B2B market, the year was marked by the development and growth of
business markets, in particular for CIC and BECM.

Euro Protection Surveillance - EPS

Euro Protection Surveillance continued to expand in 2018, now totaling
nearly 470,000 subscribers (+6.2%). EPS thus confirmed its leadership in
residential remote surveillance in France with a 31% share of the market
(Source: Atlas de la Sécurité 2018/Internal Data).

In 2018, EPS launched its first video offer for private customers and over
1,800 cameras were installed.

Lyf Pay electronic wallet

Lyf Pay - born out of the merger of Fivory and Wa (BNPP] in 2017 - offers
an innovative and industrial mobile payment solution which simplifies the
customer experience by digitizing the payment process and loyalty services.

Lyf Pay’s objective is to meet the new requirements of today’s payment and
commerce players, which means developing new purchasing experiences
which are fluid & omni-channel, managing the customer relationship, and
monitoring the ensuing data.

With over 1.3 million downloads, Lyf Pay aims to make everyday life
easier for its users by bringing together, in a single application, all the
functionalities that connected consumers need on a daily basis: in-store
and online payments, digitization of loyalty services, person-to-person
payments, charitable donations, sharing of expenses, and soon payments
into collaborative funds.

Lyf Pay is a proven solution which is already being used in numerous major
retail chains across France (such as Casino and Auchan), at sporting and
cultural events, and by non-profit organizations.

Press

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale holds nine regional newspapers: Vosges
Matin, Le Dauphiné Libéré, Le Bien public, L'Est républicain, Les Dernieres
Nouvelles d'Alsace, LAlsace, Le Progres de Lyon, Le Républicain Lorrain, and
Le Journal de Sabne-et-Loire. With a print run of one million copies per day,
the group is the leading player in France’s regional daily press.

www.creditmutuel.fr
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1.4 HISTORY

1.4.1 Crédit Mutuel’s origins

At the end of the 19" century, the farming communities in Germany’s
Rhineland region were impoverished as a result of usury.

Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen (1818-1888) then developed a new concept
to combat poverty. The idea was to arrange loans to finance the resources
needed for farming [seeds, livestock, etc.) based on the savings and
responsibility of all villagers - the shareholding members. Interest was paid
on the savings collected. The foundations of Crédit Mutuel had been laid:

m loans were only granted to shareholding members;

m limited (after originally being unlimited) joint and several liability of
shareholding members;

1.4.2 Key dates

1882 Creation of the first Caisse de Crédit Mutuel at La Wantzenau.

1885 Creation of the Basse-Alsace and Haute-Alsace federations.

1895 Opening of a branch of Caisse Centrale de Neuwied in
Strasbourg.

1897 Creation of the Lorraine federation.

1905 Creation of the Alsace-Lorraine federation.

1933 On June 1, creation of Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel under

the name of Banque Mosellane.
1958 Crédit Mutuel is granted legal status at the national level.

The Alsace-Lorraine federation becomes the Fédération du
Crédit Mutuel d’Alsace et de Lorraine.

Bangue Mosellane becomes Banque Centrale des Caisses
de Lorraine. In 1966, its name is changed to Banque du Crédit
Mutuel Lorrain (BCML).

1962 Creation of Centre Mécanographique du Crédit Mutuel, the
predecessor of GTOCM (Groupement Technigue des Organismes
du Crédit Mutuel).

1971 Creation of Assurances du Crédit Mutuel.

Opening of the Bischenberg training center.

1972 Expansion into Franche-Comté; the group is renamed Fédération
du Crédit Mutuel d’Alsace, de Lorraine et de Franche-Comté.

1992 Restructuring of head office entities:

m merger of the former Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel
(BFCM] and Expansion Rurale et Urbaine (ERU] to create
Caisse Fédérale Centre Est Europe;

m transfer of the commercial banking activity of the former
BFCM to Banque de I'Economie Crédit Mutuel (BECM),
transfer of the holding company activity of the former BFCM
to Banque du Crédit Mutuel Lorrain (BCML), and transfer of
BCMLUs commercial banking activity to BECM;

m change of BCML's company name to BFCM.

Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CMCEE] is formed through the
merger of two federations - Fédération d’Alsace, de Lorraine et
de Franche-Comté and Fédération de Bourgogne-Champagne.

History

m a democratic organization: one person one vote;
m voluntary membership;

m no remuneration for directors;

m limited geographic areas;

m no pay-out of financial surpluses;

m indivisible reserves.

Such was the foundation upon which Crédit Mutuel was built and which
continues to underpin the company to this day.

1993 Partnership between CMCEE and Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est
(CMSE).

1998 BFCM acquires 67% of CIC's capital for €2 billion.

Banque de I'Economie Crédit Mutuel is renamed Banque de
I'Economie du Commerce et de la Monétique (BECM).

2001 BFCM acquires the remaining 23% stake in CIC that was still
owned by Groupama.

2002 Partnership between CMCEE and CMSE with Crédit Mutuel
lle-de-France (CMIDF).

2002 Partnerships with Banca Popolare di Milano through CIC
(banking and insurance, payment, equity transactions, etc.).

2004 The Chambre Syndicale expands to include the CMSE and
CMIDF federations.

ACM starts to distribute auto insurance policies through the Sa
Nostra network in the Balearic Islands.

In partnership with Banque de Tunisie, which is 20%-owned
by CIC, Euro-Information creates two subsidiaries in Tunisia
specializing in information systems development (IID) and
outgoing calls (Direct Phone Services).

CIC acquires a 10% interest in Banque Marocaine du Commerce
Extérieur (BMCE), leading to cooperation in the distribution
of financial products, the delivery of banking and insurance
services, real estate transactions, consumer credit and finance
lease contracts.

2006 Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc joins the
interfederal Caisse, bringing the number of member federations
to four.

2007 On March 14, CIC private banking-Banque Pasche acquires
Zurich-based Swissfirst private banking, with retroactive effect
to January 1,2007.

In April, BFCM acquires a 100% interest in Groupe Républicain
Lorrain by buying up shares held in various group companies
for €73 million.

On June 15, BFCM announces the creation of its subsidiary
CM-CIC Covered Bonds, which launches a €15 billion EMTN
(“Euro Medium Term Notes”) program.

2008 CIC Group increases its equity interest in Banque Marocaine du
Commerce Extérieur from 10% to 15%.
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History

On June 5, BFCM acquires 100% of the capital of the French

subsidiary of the Banco Popular Espafiol Group.

OnJune 27,BFCM acquires a majority interest in Est Républicain

through France Est.

On November 18, BFCM signs an agreement with a view to
acquiring a controlling interest in COFIDIS Participations.

On December 5, BFCM acquires a 100% interest in Citibank

Germany.

2009 Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique joins the interfederal
bank, bringing the number of member federations to five.

On March 23, BFCM and 3 Suisses International (“3SI")
announce the definitive completion of the acquisition of a
controlling interest in COFIDIS Participations. This transaction
was carried out through the acquisition of 51% of COFIDIS
Participations by a holding company jointly owned by BFCM
and 3Sl and 67%-controlled by BFCM. Under the terms of the
agreements, BFCM may increase its equity interest in COFIDIS
Participations to 67% of the capital and voting rights by 2016,

at the initiative of either party.

2010 The Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group strengthens its branch network
in France and neighboring countries (in particular Spain through
the creation of a branch network with Banco Popular], thereby

expanding its activity and outreach.

On May 12, Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe
is renamed Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel (CF de CM)
reflecting the expansion of its scope of action through existing

and future partnerships.

2011 The Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique et Centre-Ouest, Crédit
Mutuel du Centre, Crédit Mutuel Normandie, Crédit Mutuel
Dauphiné-Vivarais and Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen federations
join Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel, bringing the number of

member federations to 10.

The group strengthens its ties with mass market retailers. On the
strength of its technological capabilities, it signs a partnership
agreement with Casino to market financial products. Banque

Casino is thus 50-50 held by the two partners.

2012 Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Anjou joins Caisse Fédérale du
Crédit Mutuel, bringing the number of member federations to 11.

On May 10, Banque de I'Economie du Commerce et de la
Monétique (BECM] is renamed Banque Européenne du Crédit

Mutuel.

2013 In April, the Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group and Mouvement
Desjardins - Canada’s leading cooperative financial group -
create Monético International. This Montreal-based company
offers innovative payment solutions to the retailer customers

of both financial institutions.

In April, BFCM and 3SI (formerly 3 Suisses International) sign
several agreements allowing BFCM to own 54.637% of the capital

of COFIDIS Participations either directly or indirectly.

In April, the Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group also signs a new
partnership agreement, through Euro-Information, with Banco
Popular Espafiol SA under which a 50%-owned joint venture is

created for the overall management of ATMs in Spain.
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2014

2015

2016

2017

In September, EI Télécom (EIT) and Auchan France decide to
form a partnership which results in the acquisition by EIT of
Auchan Telecom’s customers and EIT’s use of the Auchan
Telecom trademark.

In July, CF de CM and BFCM carry out capital increases
amounting to €2,562 million and €2,700 million, respectively.

In March, the Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group sells its 7% stake in
Banca Popolare di Milano. The group also increases its stake in
Banque de Tunisie to 34%.

In July, CF de CM and BFCM carry out capital increases
amounting to €1,294 million and €1,409 million, respectively.

Electronic payments: agreement between Crédit Mutuel and
UnionPay International regarding the acceptance of UnionPay
International bank cards by Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel.

After the integration of Agrupacic in 2012, Groupe des
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel acquires Atlantis, thereby making
further strides in its Spanish expansion strategy.

In 2015, the COFIDIS Participations Group pursues its
development strategy with the acquisition of Banif Mais (June),
a company with branches in Portugal, Hungary, Slovakia and
Poland specialized in auto loans for second-hand cars, and
the Italy-based company Centax (March), which specializes in
guaranteeing retail check and card payments.

The Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group celebrates ten years in the
telephony business. A new partnership signed with Bouygues
makes the Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group’s EI Télécom the only
mobile virtual network operator to have signed three full MVNO
4G contracts (with SFR, Orange and Bouygues).

BFCM enters into exclusive negotiations to acquire General
Electric’s leasing and factoring activities in France and Germany.

On March 31, the Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group exercises a call
option through Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel to acquire
a 1.02% stake in TARGOBANK Spain from Banco Popular. On
completion of this transaction, BFCM holds 51.02% of the capital
of TARGOBANK Spain while Banco Popular holds 48.98%. BFCM
also has the right to appoint the majority of the directors of
TARGOBANK Spain.

At the end of the second quarter, the group finalizes the sale of
Bangque Pasche to Luxembourg-based Banque Havilland.

On July 20, BFCM acquires General Electric’s leasing and
factoring activities in France and Germany. These businesses
will be operated in Germany under the name “Targo Commercial
Finance” and in France under the names “CM-CIC Leasing
Solutions” and “Factofrance”, respectively.

After acquiring all of the shares of Targo Deutschland Gmbh held
by CM Akquisitions Gmbh [CMA] in 2016, Banque Fédérative du
Crédit Mutuel (BFCM] absorbs CMA (effective as of March 22,
2017).

On March 30, BFCM acquires 16% of the share capital of COFIDIS
Participations, bringing its stake to 70.63%. This operation
follows the exercise of reciprocal put and call options decided
in 2008.

On May 10, Lyf Pay is created from the merger of the electronic
wallets backed by the Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group (Fivory) and
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BNP Paribas (Wa !). Lyf Pay offers a secure, innovative, multi-
service mobile payment application to support the customer
relationship.

OnJune 2,BFCM becomes TARGOBANK Spain’s sole shareholder
by acquiring 48.98% of its capital from Banco Popular. BFCM,
which already held 51.02% of TARGOBANK Spain’s capital
stock, is now its sole shareholder. This transaction reflects the
commitment of the Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group to further expand
its core business - namely banking, insurance and services - in
the Spanish retail and corporate market.

On June 6, following the resolution of Banco Popular Espafiol
(BPE), BFCM sells its entire stake (3.95%) to Banco Santander.

On August 11, the CIC share is delisted after the company’s
takeover by BFCM and Mutuelles Investissement following
a simplified tender offer at a price of €390 per share. The
decision was made to carry out this tender offer to simplify
the group’s structure and eliminate some of the regulatory and
administrative constraints associated with the listing of the CIC
shares and related costs.

At December 31, BFCM - a 93%-owned subsidiary of Caisse
Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel - directly holds 93.14% of the
capital of CIC, while Mutuelles Investissement (90%-held by
BFCM and 10%-held by ACM Vie Mutuelle, a fixed-contribution
mutual insurance company] holds 6.25%. The remaining 0.61%
corresponds to treasury shares which consequently carry no
voting rights.

On December 4, CIC finalizes the sale of its private banking
activities in Singapore and Hong-Kong to Indosuez Wealth
Management. CIC remains fully committed to Asia and
is focused on the development and growth of its core
businesses - corporate banking, structured finance and
institutional services - in the Asia-Pacific region.

After approval by the competent supervisory authorities -
particularly the Autorité de contréle prudentiel et de résolution
(ACPR - French Prudential Supervisory and Resolution
Authority) - in a decision published in the Journal Officiel of
June 27, the takeover of Nord Europe Assurances [NEA) and
its subsidiaries by Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel
(GACM] becomes effective, retroactive to January 1, 2018.

History

Three of the companies are merged as follows:
m NEA merged with GACM SA,;

m ACM Nord Vie SA merged with ACM Vie SA;
m ACM Nord lard SA merged with ACM lard SA.

Nord Europe Life Luxembourg (NELL) and CPBK Ré are integrated
into the GACM sub-group, with the latter company intended to
be sold.

Following the extraordinary general meetings of the 30 local
banks, held between September 18 and October 30, the
members of Crédit Mutuel Massif Central approved by a large
majority (85% of the votes cast] the changes to the Articles of
Association allowing them to join Caisse Fédérale de Crédit
Mutuel. This members’ vote definitively completes - in respect
of legal requirements and the Articles of Association - the
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel accession process. It was
preceded by two preliminary stages:

m onJune 19 2018, Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel -
the Crédit Mutuel group’s central body - had given its prior
approval;

m onJune 27,2018, the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de
Crédit Mutuel had unanimously approved the convergence
protocol allowing Crédit Mutuel Massif Central to join Caisse
Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel.

The changes will come into force on the effective date of
accession to Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel, i.e. January 1,
2020 at the latest.

On November 9, the Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group was renamed
Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

This name change confirms the dynamism of the alliance of
11 Crédit Mutuel federations, along with Caisse Fédérale de
Crédit Mutuel, Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM) and
all its subsidiaries.

On November 13, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale announced
the launch of ensemble#nouveaumonde, its strategic plan for
2019-2023, co-designed with directors and employees over a
period of 18 months. This plan was unanimously adopted on
September 21 by the Chambre Syndicale and Interfédérale.

The ensemble#nouveaumonde plan sets out the course
and ambitions of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale by placing
members and customers at the heart of its strategy and putting
technology at the heart of its priorities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BFCM - Corporate governance report

2.1 BFCM - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

2.1.1 Composition of management bodies as of December 31,2018

Board of directors

m Nicolas Théry, Chairman

m Michel Vieux, Vice Chairman
m Gérard Bontoux

m Hervé Brochard

m CFCM Maine-Anjou — Basse-Normandie,

represented by Jean-Marc Busnel
m Gérard Cormoreche
m Jean-Louis Girodot

m Etienne Grad

Non-voting directors

m Michel Andrzjewski
m Jean-Louis Bazille
m Yves Blanc

m Aimée Brutus

m Claude Courtois

m Pascal David

m Gérard Diacquenod
= Monique Groc

m Jean-Claude Lordelot

m Damien Lievens = Christian Muller

m Albert Mayer m Alain Pupel

m Lucien Miara m Jacques Simon

m Daniel Rocipon m Alain Tessier

m René Schwartz = Dominique Trinquet

m Francis Singler m Philippe Tuffreau

m Alain Tétedoie

Executive Management

m Daniel Baal, chief executive officer
and effective manager

m Alexandre Saada, deputy chief executive
officer and effective manager

Statutory auditors
m Ernst & Young et Autres

m PricewaterhouseCoopers France

2.1.2 Conditions of preparation and organization of the Board

The provisions of Article L.225-37 of the French Commercial Code state
that the board of directors shall present a corporate governance report
alongside the management report referred to in Article L.225-37-4 to
the shareholders’ meeting mentioned in the same article. However, the
corresponding information may be presented within a specific section of
the management report.

This report gives an account of the composition of the board and the
application of the principle of balanced representation of women and men
within it, the conditions of preparation and organization of its work, and
any limitations that the board of directors may make to the powers of the
chief executive officer.

As Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel is not a company whose shares
are admitted to trading on a regulated market, it does not adhere to the
Afep-Medef Corporate Governance Code.

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel complies with the corporate
governance regulations applicable to credit institutions. For that reason,
it should be noted that the European Banking Authority issued internal
governance guidelines on September 26, 2017 (EBA/GL/2017/11), with
which the French Prudential Supervisory and Resolution Authority (ACPR)
intends to comply fully. The European Banking Autharity and the European
Securities and Markets Authority also issued guidelines for the assessment
of the fitness of members of the management body and holders of key
positions on September 26, 2017 (EBA/GL/2017/12), with which the ACPR
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intends to comply partially, as stated in the notice published on June 4,
2018, an excerpt of which is reproduced below:

“Without prejudice to the powers of the European Central Bank, the ACPR
intends to comply partially with the fitness assessment guidelines of
September 26, 2017. The ACPR intends to comply with the guidelines, with
the exception of provisions for assessment by the supervisory authority
of the fitness of holders of key positions at each appointment or renewal.
The declaration of non-compliance applies to paragraphs 162 and 176
(transmission of results to the competent authority and documentation
relating to internal assessment] and paragraphs 171 and 172 (assessment
of the fitness of persons responsible for internal control functions and of
the chief financial officer by the competent authority]. This statement does
not call into question the procedures already in place, which will continue
to apply for the assessment of persons responsible for internal control at
approval and in the event of a change of control.

In addition, the ACPR intends to apply the guidelines relating to attendance
and the definition of independent members in the supervisory bodies with
two reservations of interpretation:

m formal independence is not an obligatory test of fitness under the
regulations, which would be enforceable in the context of a review of an
individual application. In French law, the implementation of the guidelines
cannot therefore result in the rejection on this sole basis of an individual
application for “fit and proper” reasons;
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m mere non-compliance with one or more of the criteria listed in the
guidelines [paragraph 91] does not disqualify a member from being defined
as independent. These assumptions alone do not define independence
and analysis of this attribute must also take into account other criteria,
especially ones that might be developed by French companies pursuant
to the French Commercial Code that could make it possible to achieve
the same goal.

Pursuant to paragraph 89 bj of the fitness assessment guidelines, the ACPR
also intends not to require the attendance of independent members in CRD
institutions wholly owned by a CRD institution and in CRD institutions that
are of insignificant importance that are investment firms.”

This corporate governance report explains how Banque Fédérative du
Crédit Mutuel has implemented these guidelines.

Preparation and organization of the work
of the board

Composition of the board

Rules of operation of the board of directors

The workings of the board of directors are governed by Articles 14 to 18 of
the Articles of Association.

Composition of the board of directors

The company is administered by a board of directors composed of no fewer
than three and no more than 18 members elected for renewable three-year
terms who may be natural persons or legal entities.

The board of directors may appoint non-voting directors for three-year
terms. They participate in the deliberations of the board of directors in an
advisory capacity. They may, by a decision of the majority of non-voting
directors present or represented, request a second deliberation by the
board.

Age limit

The individual age limit is set at seventy for directors and seventy-five for
non-voting directors. When those ages are reached, terms of office shall
end at the shareholders’ meeting following the date of the birthday.

Cumulative validity with an employment contract

No director shall have an employment contract with the company and its
controlled subsidiaries.

Director skills and training

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel attaches great importance to the skills
of its directors. To hold the position of director or non-voting director on
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel’s board of directors, each candidate
must have experience as an elected member and as Chairman or Vice
Chairman of the board of directors or supervisory board of a Crédit Mutuel
local bank, participate in the bodies and work of his Crédit Mutuel district
or federation, and take part in the training courses for elected members.

A special module for the training of directors has been put in place under the
impetus of the Interfederal Committee for the Training of Elected Officials
to consolidate the knowledge and skills of Banque Fédérative du Crédit
Mutuel voting and non-vating directors with regard to the regulatory skills
required since the transposition into French law of the CRD 4 Directive.
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Conflicts of interest concerning the administrative,
management and supervisory bodies

To date, there has been no mention of potential conflicts of interest for
the members of the board of directors and the chief executive officer
with respect to Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel. The code of conduct
applicable to Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel aims to prevent and if
necessary manage conflict of interest situations.

Work of the board in 2018

The board of directors meets at least three times a year according to a
pre-established schedule.

Each item on the agenda has its own separate file or presentation,
depending on its size, to more fully inform the members of the board. The
minutes give a detailed record of deliberations, decisions and votes.

In 2018, the board of directors met five times. The meeting attendance rate
ranged from 787% to 89% (83% on average) for directors.

Meeting of February 21,2018

The board meeting of February 21, 2018 was devoted mainly to the
examination and approval of the financial statements and to the preparation
of the ordinary and extraordinary general meetings held on May 4. After
it heard the report of the group auditing and accounting committee of
February 16, 2018, the board reviewed the 2017 financial statements,
heard the conclusions of the statutory auditors and reviewed control and
monitoring activities. It reviewed the treasury activity, holding company
activity and subsidiaries’ operations items. It took note of the reports of the
regulatory committees and of the presentation of the annual internal control
report and points of contact with supervisors. During that meeting, the
group’s preventive recovery plan was approved, along with the set of rules
relating to the group’s market and central treasury activities. The board
approved the corporate governance report and the collective evaluation
of the board. The board approved the reappointment of Gérard Bontoux,
Maurice Corgini, Jean-Louis Boisson, Jacques Humbert, Lucien Miara,
Daniel Rocipon, Alain Tétedoie and the Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel
Maine-Anjou - Basse-Normandie represented by Daniel Leroyer. The board
also approved the reappointment of Monique Groc and Gérard Diacquenod,
Michel Bokarius and Jean-Louis Bazille as non-voting directors. In addition,
in connection with Marc Bauer's retirement, the board appointed Alexandre
Saada, deputy chief executive officer, as second effective manager for
renewable three-year terms. A delegation was formalized for the group
auditing and accounting committee to examine the supplemental report
on the annual financial statements prepared by the statutory auditors.
During that meeting, the board reviewed and authorized the continuation
of the regulated agreements. Five new Crédit Mutuel local banks became
members.

Meeting of June 27, 2018

At its meeting of June 27,2018, the board of directors of Banque Fédérative
du Crédit Mutuel unanimously approved the principle of the convergence
of Crédit Mutuel Massif Central to Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel, and
convened an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting on September 20, 2018
to approve the corresponding amendments to the Articles of Association.

Meeting of July 26, 2018

On July 26, the board of directors approved the group consolidated financial
statements for the first half of 2018, after reviewing the opinion of the
auditing and accounting committee of July 25 and hearing input from the
statutory auditors. The board reviewed the activity of the past six months
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and updated the asset/liability management limits and approved the
subsidiaries’ operations. The board took note of the reports of the regulatory
committees and decided to grant an additional incentive corresponding
to 1.66b3% of payroll in addition to the rate calculated in the incentive
agreement signed on June 19,2015. As Daniel Leroyer's term of office ended
as Chairman of the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel
Maine-Anjou - Basse-Normandie, the board approved the appointment of
Jean-Marc Busnel as the new representative of this Caisse Fédéral. The
board also approved the appointment of Jean-Claude Lordelot as non-
voting director to replace Marie-Hélene Dumont. Two new Crédit Mutuel
local banks became members.

Meeting of November 16, 2018

At its meeting on November 16, 2018, the board of directors reviewed the
third quarter 2018 situation and the budget. The board reviewed the reports
of the group auditing and accounting committee, the group risk monitoring
committee, the appointments committee and the remuneration committee.
An exemption was granted to Factofrance for the declaration of prudential
requirements. An update was given on relationships with supervisors.
A commitment policy for fragile or vulnerable customers was adopted. In
addition, rewarding Pierre Eckly’s retirement, the board appointed Michel
Guillemin as Group Inspector General. Two new Crédit Mutuel local banks
became members.

Meeting of December 6, 2018

At the board meeting of December 6, 2018, as a result of the age limits set
and following the district elections at Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre
Est Europe, the terms of office of Jean-Louis Boisson, Jacques Humbert,
Michel Bokarius, Robert Laval, Fernand Lutz and Roger Danguel were
terminated. The board was also informed of the death of Maurice Corgini
who sat as a director.

Following a favorable opinion from the remuneration committee which met
on December 4, 2018, the board decided to co-opt Francis Singler, René
Schwartz and Albert Mayer. It appointed Michel Vieux as Vice Chairman
of the board of directors. The board also appointed Pascal David, Michel
Andrzjewski, Christian Muller and Jacques Simon as non-voting directors.

Executive Management

Composition and prerogatives

In accordance with Article L.511-13 para. 2 of the French Monetary and
Financial Code, banking regulations require the separation of the functions
of Chairman of the supervisory body and effective manager of the
institution. The effective management of the institution is assumed by at
least two people. The effective management enjoys all powers attached
to it by banking and financial laws and regulations, both internally and with
respect to third parties.

Composition of Executive Management

The Executive Management of Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel is
composed of:

m Daniel Baal, chief executive officer and effective manager;
m Alexandre Saada, deputy chief executive officer and effective manager.

Prerogatives of Executive Management

The board meetings of April 6,2017 and February 21,2018 did not limit the
powers of the two effective managers as defined by law and our articles
of association and internal rules.
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Membership in the regulatory committees
of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

For the sake of consistency throughout Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale,
on November 17, 2017, the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit
Mutuel unanimously approved the amendment of the internal rules of
the Appointments and remuneration committee and the extension of the
scope of these “umbrella” committees to all Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
subsidiaries in France and abroad, regardless of their activities and the
regulations applicable to them.

All of the boards of directors of those Group subsidiaries delegate their
appointment and remuneration powers to the “umbrella” committees of
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel. The delegations of the boards of directors
took effect starting January 1, 2018.

The board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel also set up a
group risk monitoring committee and a group auditing and accounting
committee. All of these committees form the regulatory committees of
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel, which must make proposals to the boards
of directors or supervisory boards of these institutions in their areas of
expertise.

The “umbrella” committees report on their work:

m for the group risk monitoring committee and a group auditing and
accounting committee, to the boards of directors of Caisse Fédérale
and the Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale federations;

m for the appointments committees and the compensation committees,
and for the information that concerns them, to the board of directors of
Caisse Fédérale, the board of directors of the federations or the board
of directors of the subsidiaries.

As a result, on November 17,2017, the board of Banque Fédérative du Crédit
Mutuel approved the membership of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and,
more generally all regulatory committees of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
on the appointments committee and the remuneration committee.

The information relating to Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale’s regulatory
committees is provided in the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel corporate
governance report.

Code of conduct

The Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale code of conduct was approved by the
board of directors at its meeting on March 7,2008.

This registration document, which includes all regulatory provisions relating
to conduct, reiterates the principles that must be obeyed by each entity
and employee of the group in the exercise of their activities. It is part
of the group’s overall objectives in terms of quality of customer service,
integrity and rigor in the processing of transactions and compliance with
regulations. It is intended to serve as a reference in this area and to be
adopted by the various entities.

Compliance with rules of ethics applies not only to employees in the context
of their duties, but also to the entity to which they belong. That entity must
apply the principles set forth above, which refer to values subscribed to by
all of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

This code is supplemented by anticorruption provisions and two specific
texts on the security of information systems and the fight against violence
and harassment at work.

The code of conduct is available from the group General Secretariat.
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Persons possessing inside information are regularly reminded of their
obligations and the rules applicable to them.

Principles and rules of remuneration

of identified individuals (Articles L.511-71

et seq. of the French Monetary and Financial
Code]

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel applies the principles and rules of
remuneration of identified individuals decided by Caisse Fédérale de Crédit
Mutuel, which are presented in its report on corporate governance.

Principles for determining the remuneration
granted to corporate officers

Non-executive corporate officers, i.e., all directors other than the Chairman
of the board of directors, including the non-vaoting directors, receive no
remuneration. Starting in 2019, they are subject to the provisions of the
charter governing the exercise of office of members of the board of Caisse
Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel.

The officers concerned are the Chairman of the board and the chief
executive officer.

Chairman of the board of directors

The employment contract between the Chairman of the board of directors
and Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel has been suspended since
November 14, 2014 and contract between it and the chief executive officer
has been suspended since June 1, 2017.

On December 11, 2014, the CIC board of directors decided moreover
specifies, on a proposal from the remuneration committee, to award
Nicolas Théry an annual indemnity of €250,000 as compensation for
his term of office as Chairman of the board of directors. It also decided
to create for Nicolas Théry severance pay equivalent to one year of
corporate officer compensation for his term of office as Chairman of
the board of directors. The payment of these benefits is subject to the
achievement of a performance condition relating to an increase in the
overall consolidated equity of the group for the period from January 1,
2015 to the date of termination of his term of office. This agreement, which
concerns the termination indemnity, was submitted to the approval of the
CIC shareholders’ meeting of May 27, 2015, following a special report by
the statutory auditors.

On February 26, 2015, the board of directors of Banque Fédérative du
Crédit Mutuel decided, on a proposal from the remuneration committee,
to maintain the current amount of compensation of Nicolas Théry at Banque
Fédérative de Crédit Mutuel (gross annual indemnity of £€450,000), but
effective December 1, 2014, compensate the corporate office of Chairman of
the board of directors. It also decided to set up an unemployment insurance
policy specific to corporate officers with effect from December 1, 2014.

In addition, the board of directors set a one-year indemnity for corporate
officers calculated on the basis of the average of the last twelve months
preceding the end of their term of office, and such termination benefits
shall be paid to Nicolas Théry. The payment of these benefits is subject to
the achievement of a performance condition relating to an increase in the
overall consolidated equity of the group for the period from January 1, 2015
to the date of termination of his term of office. For that term of office, the
benefits set above are without prejudice to the benefits he may receive
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as an employee pursuant to the contractual provisions in force within
the group. To that end, it should be noted that Nicolas Théry has been an
employee of the group since September 1, 2009 and that his employment
contract was suspended with effect from November 14, 2014. Nicolas Théry
is, in his capacity as an employee, subject to the supplementary pension
regulations of January 1,2008. Consequently, the remuneration committee
has proposed that these pension regulations be applied for compensation
to Nicolas Théry in his capacity as Chairman of the board, under the same
conditions as for all group employees. As part of the reform of the CM11
Retraite supplementary pension plan, and pursuant to the amendment to
the pension agreement, €25,509.78 in gross salary remuneration has been
allocated to Nicolas Théry since January 1, 2017.

This agreement concerning severance pay and retirement benefits was
submitted to the approval of the Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel
shareholders’ meeting of May 13, 2015, following the special report of the
statutory auditor.

On February 20, 2019, the board of directors decided, following a favorable
opinion from the remuneration committee on February 18, 2019, to set
the gross annual fixed remuneration of Nicolas Théry at €880,000, as
Chairman of the board of directors from June 1, 2019. The board based
its decision on the fact that Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel represents
the parent company within Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, performs the
main support duties and coordinates the group’s main subsidiaries with
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel and CIC, and is supervised directly by
the European Central Bank. The board also based its decision on the fact
that the other terms and duties of the Chairman of the board of directors
within the entities of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale will be performed on
a voluntary basis from that date.

The same board of directors decided, following a favorable opinion from the
remuneration committee on February 18,2019, to grant termination benefits
equivalent to two year’s gross salary, subject to achievement of the
performance condition set by the remuneration committee. The payment
of these benefits is subject to the achievement of a performance condition
relating to an increase in the overall consolidated equity of the group for
the period from January 1, 2015 to the date of termination of his term of
office. For that term of office, the benefits set above are without prejudice
to the benefits he may receive as an employee pursuant to the contractual
provisions in force within the group. This agreement, which concerns the
termination benefits, is subject to the approval of the Caisse Fédérale du
Crédit Mutuel shareholders’ meeting in 2020, following a special report by
the statutory auditors.

As a corporate officer, Nicolas Théry is also covered by a supplementary
pension plan and a complementary pension plan under the same conditions
applicable to all company employees.

The decision of the board of directors takes into account that Nicolas Théry
is Chairman of the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel
and that his employment contract with Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel
is suspended during this term of office. All of Nicolas Théry’s other terms
and duties are performed on a voluntary basis: the commitments made
to CIC and Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel shall end on June 1, 2019.

The chief executive officer

In addition, on April 6, 2017, the board of directors of Banque Fédérative du
Crédit Mutuel decided, on a proposal from the remuneration committee,
to set the gross annual fixed compensation of Daniel Baal at €700,000, in
addition to compensation under Article 39 relating to the supplementary
pension of €9,505.68 annually, pension plan contributions of €4,474.80
annually, health expenses of €3,595.80 annually and benefits in kind
(company car] of £3,880.56 annually.
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It also decided to create for Daniel Baal a termination indemnity equal to
one year’s gross salary, calculated on the basis of the average of the last
twelve months preceding the end of his term of office. The payment of
these benefits is subject to the achievement of a performance condition
relating to an increase in the overall consolidated equity of the group for
the period from January 1, 2015 to the date of termination of his term of
office. For that term of office, the benefits set above are without prejudice
to the benefits he may receive as an employee pursuant to the contractual
provisions in force within the group. This agreement, which concerns the
termination indemnity, was submitted to the approval of the Banque
Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel shareholders’ meeting of May 3, 2017, following
a special report by the statutory auditors.

On February 20, 2019, the board of directors decided, following a favorable
opinion from the remuneration committee on February 18, 2019, to set
the gross annual fixed remuneration of Daniel Baal at €880,000, as chief
executive officer from June 1, 2019. The board based its decision on the
fact that Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel represents the parent company
within Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, performs the main support duties
and coordinates the group’s main subsidiaries with Banque Fédérative du
Crédit Mutuel and CIC, and is supervised directly by the European Central
Bank. The board also based its decision on the fact that the other terms
and duties of the chief executive officer within the entities of Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale will be performed on a voluntary basis from that date.

The same board of directors decided, following a favorable opinion from the
remuneration committee on February 18,2019, to grant termination benefits
equivalent to two year’s gross salary, subject to achievement of the
performance condition set by the remuneration committee. The payment
of these benefits is subject to the achievement of a performance condition
relating to an increase in the overall consolidated equity of the group for
the period from January 1, 2015 to the date of termination of his term of
office. For that term of office, the benefits set above are without prejudice
to the benefits he may receive as an employee pursuant to the contractual
provisions in force within the group. This agreement, which concerns the
termination benefits, is subject to the approval of the Caisse Fédérale du
Crédit Mutuel shareholders’ meeting in 2020, following a special report by
the statutory auditors.

As a corporate officer, Nicolas Théry is also covered by a supplementary
pension plan and a complementary pension plan under the same conditions
applicable to all company employees.

The decision of the board of directors takes into account that Daniel Baal
is chief executive officer of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and that
his employment contract with Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel is
suspended during this term of office. All of Daniel Baal’s other terms and
duties are performed on a voluntary basis: the commitments made to
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel shall end on June 1, 2019.

COMPENSATION RECEIVED BY THE GROUP'S KEY EXECUTIVES FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31,2018

Employer
contributions for

Benefits supplementary
Amounts in €Y Origin Fixed portion Variable portion® in kind® benefits Total
2018
Nicolas Théry Crédit Mutuel 475,510 11,631 11,649 498,690
cic 250,000 1,189 251,189
Daniel Baal Crédit Mutuel 709,506 3,881 9,262 722,649
2017
Nicolas Théry Crédit Mutuel 475,510 11393 11,298 498,201
cic 250,000 1,059 251,059
Alain Fradin
BFCM until 05/31/2017 Crédit Mutuel 1,133,333 2,113 3,678 1139124
CFdeCM from 06/01/2017 to 06/30/2018 Crédit Mutuel 250,268** 423 736 251,427
Daniel Baal
CFdeCM until 05/31/2017 Crédit Mutuel 523,695*** 1,617 3,678 528,890
BFCM starting 06/01/2017 Crédit Mutuel 413,878 2,264 2,264 421,291
2016
Nicolas Théry Crédit Mutuel 450,000 11,226 6,406 467,632
cic 250,000 250,000
Alain Fradin Crédit Mutuel 800,000 5,072 8,688 813,760
2015
Nicolas Théry Crédit Mutuel 450,000 11,286 6,733 468,019
cic 250,000 250,000
Alain Fradin Crédit Mutuel 800,000 4,845 8,659 813,404

(1] These are gross amounts corresponding to amounts paid during the year.

(2] Any variable portion paid to the chief executive officer would be decided by the remuneration committee of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel following the shareholders’ meeting that
approves the financial statements for the previous fiscal year for which it was paid. The variable portion paid in N would therefore be for Year N-1.

(3] Company cars and/or senior executive insurance policy (GSC).

*Including end-of-term allowance of €800,000.
*Including severance pay of €203,212.
“**Including paid time off and time savings account.
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2.1.3 List of terms of office held and functions exercised by corporate officers

during fiscal year 2018 pursuant to Article L.225-37-4 of the French

Commercial Code

Nicolas Théry
Born December 22, 1965

Business address:
4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2020
Other offices

Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2019
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2024
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2020
Caisse Fédeérale de Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2019
Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the supervisory board 2014 2019
Crédit Industriel et Commercial Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2019
Banque CIC Est Chairman of the board of directors 2012 2019
Banque CIC Nord Ouest Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2021
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the supervisory board 2016 2021
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SA Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2023
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie S.AM. Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2023
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel IARD Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2023
ACM GIE Director (representing Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel) 2015 2021
Euro-Information Member of the management board 2017 2020

(representing Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe)

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Strasbourg Vosges Member of the board of directors 2014 2019
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

Euro-Information Member of the management board 2014 2017
Banque CIC Est Chief executive officer 2012 2016
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the Executive board 2015 2016
Targobank Spain Director 2011 2016
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Director (representing BECM] 2013 2016
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Deputy chief executive officer 2011 2014
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Deputy chief executive officer 2011 2014
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Deputy chief executive officer 2011 2014
Banque Publigue d'Investissement Director 2013 2014
ACM lard SA Director (representing GACM) 2013 2014
COFIDIS Member of the supervisory board 2011 2015
COFIDIS Participations Member of the supervisory board 2011 2015
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Michel Vieux
Born April 12,1951

Business address:
130-132 avenue Victor Hugo - 26009 Valence

Name of entity Position Start End
Bangque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2018 2020
Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Dauphiné-Vivarais Chairman of the board of directors 1985 2021
Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Dauphiné-Vivarais Chairman of the board of directors 1999 2021
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Pierrelatte Chairman of the board of directors 1982 2021
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de la Vallée du Rhone Chairman of the board of directors 2000 2021
Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel Member of the supervisory board 2011 2020
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CRCM Dauphingé-Vivarais) 2004 2023
Sud-Est Transactions Immobilieres Co-Managing Partner 2000 TBD
SEGI Co-Managing Partner 2001 TBD
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Non-voting director 2005

Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Non-voting director 2012

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Non-voting director 2017 2020
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2011 2017
Gérard Bontoux

Born March 7,1950

Business address:

6 rue de la Tuilerie - 31130 Balma

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2009 2021
Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique Chairman of the board of directors 1994 2020
Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique Chairman of the board of directors 1994 2020
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Toulouse St Cyprien Director 1996 2020
CIC Sud Ouest Director (representing Marsovalor) 2009 2019
Caisse Fédeérale de Crédit Mutuel Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2021
Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel Member of the supervisory board 2009 2021
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CRCM Midi-Atlantique) 2015 2021
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2015 2022
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2022

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None
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Hervé Brochard
Born March 6,1948
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Business address:
17 rue du 11 Novembre - 14052 Caen

Name of entity Position Start End

Bangque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2013 2020

Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel de Normandie Chairman of the board of directors 2013 2019
[representing Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Caen Ecuyére)

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Caen Ecuyére Chairman of the board of directors 2010 2019

Caisse régionale de Crédit Mutuel de Normandie Chairman of the board of directors 2013 2019

Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel Member of the supervisory board 2013 2021

Centre International du Crédit Mutuel Director (representing FCM Normandie] 2013 2021

Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CRCM Normandie) 2015 2021

Reygnier Distribution Managing Partner 2000 TBD

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Non-voting director 2017 2020

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2013 2017

Jean-Marc Busnel

Born April 25,1959

Business address:

43 boulevard Volney - 563083 Laval

Name of entity Position Start End

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director (representing Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel 2018 2021
Maine-Anjou - Basse-Normandie)

Other offices

Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel de Maine-Anjou Chairman of the board of directors 2018 2020

et Basse-Normandie

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel de Maine-Anjou et Basse-Normandie ~ Chairman of the board of directors 2018 2022

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Saint Hilaire du Harcouet Chairman of the board of directors 2018 2019

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Solidaire Chairman of the board of directors 2018 2019

Association Créavenir - Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the board of directors 2018 2022

Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2019

Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2020

ACM VIE-SAM Director 2018 2021

ACM IARD Director 2018 2023

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None
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Gérard Cormoréche

Born July 3, 1957

Business address:

8 rue Rhin et Danube - 69009 Lyon

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2001 2019
Other offices

MTRL Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2021
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2022
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Agricole et Rural Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2004 2021
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2022
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel pour I'éducation Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2020
et la prévention en santé

C.ECAMUSE Chairman of the board of directors 1991 2024
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Neuville-sur-Sadne Chairman of the board of directors 1993 2021
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est Chairman of the board of directors 1995 2019
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est Chairman of the board of directors 1995 2019
Caisse Agricole Crédit Mutuel (CACM]) Chairman of the board of directors 2004 2022
SCEA CORMORECHE Jean-Gérard Managing Partner 2000 TBD
SARL CORMORECHE Managing Partner 2015 TBD
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CCM Sud-Est) 2010 2022
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 1995 2019
Crédit Industriel et Commercial Director 2011 2023
SICA d’habitat Rural du Rhone et de la Loire Director 2013

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
None

Jean-Louis Girodot

Born February 10, 1944

Business address:

18 rue de la Rochefoucauld - 75439 Paris

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2008 2020
Other offices

Fédération des Caisses de Crédit Mutuel lle-de-France Chairman of the board of directors 1995 2019
Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel lle-de-France Chairman of the board of directors 1995 2019
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Paris Montmartre Grands Boulevards ~ Chairman of the board of directors 1980 2019
Euro-Information Production Member of the supervisory board 1996 2022
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie S.AM. Director 2016 2022

[representing Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel le-de-France)

Centre International du Crédit Mutuel Director 2000 2019
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2008 2020
Girodot Conseil Managing Partner 2007 TBD
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2003 2018
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Non-voting director 2016 2018
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Non-voting director 2016 2018
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Etienne Grad
Born December 26,1952
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Business address:

4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Bangque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2010 2019
Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2010 2022
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Cours de 'Andlau Chairman of the board of directors 1992 2019
District des caisses de Crédit Mutuel Chairman 2009 2022
de la Communauté Urbaine de Strasbourg

SAS GRAD Etienne Conseil et Développement Chairman 2011 TBD
Caisse Fédeérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2021
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Damien Lievens

Born July 25,1970

Business address:

105 faubourg Madeleine - 45920 Orléans

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2015 2020
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Brezolles Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2007 2019
Caisse régionale de Crédit Mutuel du Centre Chairman of the board of directors 2012 2021
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Agricole du Centre Chairman of the board of directors 2012 2019
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel du Centre Chairman of the board of directors 2015 2021
Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel Member of the supervisory board 2015 2020
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CRCM Centre) 2015 2023
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Agricole et Rural Director 2015

Caisse Agricole Crédit Mutuel (CACM) Director 2015 2022
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2017 2024
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2017 2024
SCEA Lievens Managing Partner 2013 TBD
Crédit Industriel et Commercial Non-voting director 2015 2021
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Non-voting director 2017 2020
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2015 2017
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Albert Mayer
Born September 17,1955

Business address:

4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2022

Other offices

PCA Caisse de Crédit Mutuel FREYMING HOMBOURGHAUT Chairman of the board of directors 1993 2019

Expertise et audit comptable Albert Mayer SAS Chairman of the board of directors 2003 TBD

District des caisses de Crédit Mutuel de Sarreguemines Chairman 2018 2022

Secogem SARL Managing Partner 2006 TBD

Pole d'expertise comptable Managing Partner 2007 TBD

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Lucien Miara

Born January 17,1949

Business address:

494 avenue du Prado - 13008 Marseille

Name of entity Position Start End

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2015 2021

Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen Chairman of the board of directors 2006 2022

Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen Chairman of the board of directors 2006 2022

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Villeneuve-Loubet Chairman of the board of directors 2018

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Montpellier Alco Chairman of the board of directors 2017

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Marseille Saint Loup Chairman of the board of directors 2018

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Frontignan Chairman of the board of directors 2018

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Marseille Prado Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2020

Camefi Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2020

Euro-Information Production Member of the supervisory board 1997 2019

Centre International du Crédit Mutuel Director 2014 2019
(representing FCM Méditerranéen)

Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director 2014 2023
(representing CRCM Méditerranéen)

Assurance du Crédit Mutuel Vie Director 2016 2022
(representing CRCM Méditerranéen)

Banque Marocaine du Commerce Extérieur Director (representing BFCM) 2017 End of BFCM

term of office

Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2014 2020

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2015 2021

Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2020

Crédit Industriel et Commercial Non-voting director 2014 2020

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None
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Born February 17,1948
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Business address:
99 avenue de Geneve - 74054 Annecy

Name of entity Position Start End
Bangque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2021
Other offices

Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc Chairman of the board of directors 2011 2019
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc Chairman of the board of directors 2015 2019
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel d’Albertville Chairman of the board of directors 2011 2021
Les 3D Managing Partner 2000 TBD
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CRCM Savoie-Mont Blanc) 2016 2020
Centre International du Crédit Mutuel Director 1900 2018
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2021
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

René Schwartz

Born January 14,1957

Business address:

4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2021
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel du Nouveau Monde Chairman of the board of directors 1992 2021
District des caisses de Crédit Mutuel de Mulhouse Chairman 2018 2022
CARPA Mulhouse Director 2009 TBD
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Director 2018 2022
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Francis Singler

Born July 18,1956

Business address:

4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2021
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Ried Centre Alsace (01359) Chairman of the board of directors 2018 2024
District des caisses de Crédit Mutuel de Sélestat Chairman 2018 2022
Euro-Information Production Member of the supervisory board 2019 2021
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Director 2018 2022

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None
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Alain Tétedoie
Born May 16, 1954

Business address:
10 rue de Rieux - 44040 Nantes

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2007 2021
Other offices
Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel Vice Chairman of the supervisory board 2011 2020
La Fraiseraie Representing Thalie Holding 2015 TBD
Centre de Conseil et de Service - CCS Chairman of the supervisory board 2008 2024
Fedération du Crédit Mutuel de Loire-Atlantique Chairman of the board of directors 2009 2020
et du Centre-Ouest
Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel de Loire-Atlantique Chairman of the board of directors 2010 2020
et du Centre-Ouest
CM-CIC Immobilier Chairman of the supervisory committee 2013 2019
Thalie Holding Chairman 2014 TBD
GFA LA FRAISERAIE Managing Partner 2015 TBD
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie S.AM. Director (representing Caisse régionale de Crédit Mutuel 2015 2021
Loire-Atlantique - Centre Ouest)
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Loire-Divatte Director 2006 2022
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2022
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2022
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Non-voting director 2017 2020
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2011 2017
Banque CIC-Ouest Director (representing EFSA) 2006 2018
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Daniel Baal
Born December 27,1957
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Business address:
4 rue Frédeéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Chief executive officer and effective manager 2017 2020
Other offices

Fédération Centre Est Europe Chief executive officer 2017 2021
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Chief executive officer 2017 2020
Crédit Industriel et Commercial Chief executive officer 2017 2020
COFIDIS Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2021
COFIDIS Participations Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2021
Euro-Information Production Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2020
Targo Deutschland GmbH Vice Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2022
TARGOBANK AG Vice Chairman of the supervisory board 2018 2022
GACM Member of the Executive board 2017 2021
Banque de Luxembourg Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2023
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

SAS Les Gatines Chairman 2010 2017
CIC Sud Ouest Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2018
CIC Ouest (West] Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2018
CIC Iberbanco Chairman of the supervisory board 2015 2017
Targo Management AG Vice Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2018
(merged into TARGOBANK AG on May 9,2018)

Fivory SA Member of the board of directors 2014 2017
Fivory SAS Member of the board of directors 2015 2017
Euro-Information Management board (permanent representative of CRCM IDF) 2017
Centre International du Crédit Mutuel Director (representing CCCM) 2017
Alexandre Saada

Born September 5, 1965

Business address:

4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Deputy chief executive officer and effective manager 2018 2021
Other offices

Crédit Mutuel - CIC Home Loan SFH Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2019
CIC Ouest (West] Chairman of the board of directors 2018 2021
Opuntia (LUXE TV) SA Director 2018 TBD
Banque de Tunisie Director 2019 TBD
COFIDIS France Non-voting director 2017 2021
COFIDIS Participations Non-voting director 2017 2021

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Delegations of authority in use

None.
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2.2 CAISSE FEDERALE DE CREDIT MUTUEL -
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

2.2.1 Composition of management bodies as of December 31,2018

Board of directors

m Nicolas Théry, Chairman m Bernard Basse
m Gérard Bontoux, Vice Chairman m Hervé Brochard
m Gérard Cormoréche
m Chantal Dubois m Damien Lievens
m Charles Gerber m Gérard Lindacher
m Etienne Grad m Jean-Louis Maitre
m Audrey Hammerer m Jean-Paul Panzani
m Véronique Hemberger m Marc Prigent
m Christine Leenders m Alain Tétedoie
m Mireille Lefebure m Philippe Tuffreau
m Elia Martins m Didier Vieilly
m Lucien Miara m Michel Vieux
m Laurence Miras

m Gérard Oliger

m Frédéric Ranchon

m Daniel Rocipon

m Agnés Rouxel

m Daniel Schoepf

m Francois Troillard

m Annie Virot

Non-voting directors

m Jean-Frangois Jouffray

Executive Management

m Daniel Baal, chief executive officer
and effective manager

m Eric Petitgand, deputy chief executive officer
and effective manager

m Frantz Rublé, deputy chief executive officer

Statutory auditors
m Ernst & Young et Autres

m PricewaterhouseCoopers France

Works Council representatives
m Régine Godot-Jacquot

m Damien Hild

2.2.2 Conditions of preparation and organization of the Board

The provisions of Article L.225-37 of the French Commercial Code state
that the board of directors shall present a corporate governance report
alongside the management report referred to in Article L.225-37-4 to
the shareholders’ meeting mentioned in the same article. However, the
corresponding information may be presented within a specific section of
the management report.

This report gives an account of the composition of the board and the
application of the principle of balanced representation of women and men
within it, the conditions of preparation and organization of its work, and
any limitations that the board of directors may make to the powers of the
chief executive officer.

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel complies with the corporate governance
regulations applicable to credit institutions. However, it does not adhere to
the Afep-Medef Code which applies to the governance of listed companies
and is not suited to its situation for a certain number of recommendations
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given the structure of its shareholding (100% owned by Crédit Mutuel group
entities).

For that reason, it should be noted that the European Banking Authority
issued internal governance guidelines on September 26, 2017 (EBA/
GL/2017/11), with which the French Prudential Supervisory and Resolution
Authority (ACPR) intends to comply fully. The European Banking Authority
and the European Securities and Markets Authority also issued guidelines
for the assessment of the fitness of members of the management body
and holders of key positions on September 26, 2017 (EBA/GL/2017/12),
with which the ACPR intends to comply partially, as stated in the notice
published on June 4, 2018, an excerpt of which is reproduced below:

“Without prejudice to the powers of the European Central Bank, the ACPR
intends to comply partially with the fitness assessment guidelines of
September 26, 2017. The ACPR intends to comply with the guidelines, with
the exception of provisions for assessment by the supervisory authority
of the fitness of holders of key positions at each appointment or renewal.
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The declaration of non-compliance applies to paragraphs 162 and 176
(transmission of results to the competent authority and documentation
relating to internal assessment] and paragraphs 171 and 172 (assessment
of the fitness of persons responsible for internal control functions and of
the chief financial officer by the competent authority]. This statement does
not call into question the procedures already in place, which will continue
to apply for the assessment of persons responsible for internal control at
approval and in the event of a change of control.

In addition, the ACPR intends to apply the guidelines relating to attendance
and the definition of independent members in the supervisory bodies with
two reservations of interpretation:

m formal independence is not an obligatory test of fitness under the
regulations, which would be enforceable in the context of a review of an
individual application. In French law, the implementation of the guidelines
cannot therefore result in the rejection on this sole basis of an individual
application for “fit and proper” reasons;

m mere non-compliance with one or more of the criteria listed in the
guidelines [paragraph 91] does not disqualify a member from being defined
as independent. These assumptions alone do not define independence
and analysis of this attribute must also take into account other criteria,
especially ones that might be developed by French companies pursuant
to the French Commercial Code that could make it possible to achieve
the same goal.

Pursuant to paragraph 89 bj of the fitness assessment guidelines, the ACPR
also intends not to require the attendance of independent members in CRD
institutions wholly owned by a CRD institution and in CRD institutions that
are of insignificant importance that are investment firms.”

This corporate governance report explains how Caisse Fédérale du Crédit
Mutuel has implemented these guidelines.

Preparation and organization of the work
of the board

Composition of the board

Rules of operation of the board of directors

The workings of the board of directors are governed by Articles 14 to 18 of
the Articles of Association and is supplemented by internal rules approved
by the board of directors on February 20, 2019.

Composition of the board of directors

The company is administered by a board of directors comprised of no fewer
than three and no more than 18 members elected for renewable three-year
terms who may be natural persons or legal entities that represent members.

The board of directors also includes two directors representing employees,
in accordance with Article L.225-27-1 of the French Commercial Code, who
are elected for renewable three-year terms.

The board of directors may appoint non-voting directors for three-year
terms. They participate in the deliberations of the board of directors in an
advisory capacity. They may, by a decision of the majority of non-voting
directors present or represented, request a second deliberation by the
board.

Age limit

The individual age limit is set at 70 for directors and 75 for non-voting
directors. When those ages are reached, terms of office shall end at the
shareholders’ meeting following the date of the birthday.
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Cumulative validity with an employment contract

No director shall have an employment contract with the company and its
controlled subsidiaries (with the exception of employee directors, who are
not affected by the rules for combining a directorship with an employment
contract).

Application of the principle of balanced representation

of women and men on the board of directors

The Copé-Zimmermann Act (law No. 2011-103 of January 27, 2011, as
amended in 2014 and in force as of January 1, 2017) is applicable to Caisse
Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and has been implemented by the appointment of
7 female directors in 2017 and 1 female director in 2018 during the ordinary
shareholders’ meeting of May 4, 2018.

As a result of these appointments the board consists of 40% female
directors and 60% male directors.

The board can also count on the participation of one male director and one
female director representing employees.

Director skills and training

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel attaches great importance to the skills
of its directors. To hold the position of director or non-voting director on
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel's board of directors, each candidate
must have experience as an elected member and as Chairman or Vice
Chairman of the board of directors or supervisory board of a Crédit Mutuel
local bank, participate in the bodies and work of his Crédit Mutuel district
or federation, and take part in the training courses for elected members.

A special module for the training of directors has been put in place under the
impetus of the Interfederal Committee for the Training of Elected Officials to
consolidate the knowledge and skills of Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel
voting and non-voting directors with regard to the regulatory skills required
since the transposition into French law of the CRD 4 Directive.

Members of the regulatory committees also have access to specific training
modules to strengthen the skills needed to perform the work of these
committees.

Composition of the board of directors and independent
directors

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel has a board of directors made up of
members elected by their peers at shareholders’ meetings as members
of the board of directors or supervisory board of the local bank. These
elected members of local banks may subsequently be elected by their
peers to Crédit Mutuel regional banks, districts and/or federations across
the territory covered by Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

These elected officials are subject to a number of cooperative principles
and values specific to the Crédit Mutuel group, such as compliance with
rules set out in a code of conduct: respect for values and regulations,
respect for persons, the duty of good management, confidentiality, the duty
of discretion, the independence of elected officials, and the prevention of
conflicts of interest. As such, they perform their duties independently and
with integrity and honesty.

The criteria on independence within the board of directors of Caisse
Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel are set out in its internal rules.

Work of the board in 2018

The board of directors meets at least three times a year according to a
pre-established schedule.

Each item on the agenda has its own separate file or presentation,
depending on its size, to more fully inform the members of the board. The
minutes give a detailed record of deliberations, decisions and votes.
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In 2018, the board of directors met five times. The meeting attendance rate
ranged from 80% to 95% (89% on average)] for directors, and between 78%
and 89% (83% on average) for directors and non-voting directors.

Meeting of February 21,2018

The board meeting of February 21, 2018 was devoted mainly to the
examination and approval of the financial statements and to the preparation
of the ordinary and extraordinary general meetings held on May 4. The
board adopted guidelines to define the position of Crédit Mutuel CM11
Group representatives on the matters discussed by the board of directors
of Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel. The board also approved the
brand architecture and the new name of the Crédit Mutuel CM11 Group
becoming Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale. After it heard the report of
the group auditing and accounting committee of February 16, 2018, the
board reviewed the 2017 financial statements, heard the conclusions of
the statutory auditors and reviewed control and monitoring activities. It
reviewed action items and approved the limits and thresholds for risk
management. It took note of the reports of the regulatory committees
and of the presentation of the annual internal control report and points
of contact with supervisors. The board approved the group’s preventive
recovery plan, along with the set of rules relating to the group’s market
and central treasury activities.

Following a favorable opinion from the remuneration committee, the board
approved the corporate governance report and the collective evaluation
of the board and approved the procedure for identifying potential future
executives and the fit and proper procedure on reappointment. Following
a favorable opinion from the remuneration committee, the board also
approved the renumeration policy, the amendments to its internal rules
and the remuneration of identified individuals. The board approved the
reappointment of Gérard Bontoux, Jean-Paul Adenot, Jean-Louis Boisson,
Charles Gerber, Jacques Humbert, Lucien Miara and Daniel Rocipon, and
proposed the appointment of Elia Martins to replace Jean-Louis Girodot.
The board also approved the reappointment of Jean-Louis Maitre, Marc
Prigent and Didier Vieilly as non-voting directors. The board approved the
appointment on behalf of the group and Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel of
a cooperative auditor and the delegation to each federation of the role and
mission of monitoring the cooperative audit on behalf of its local banks. It
took note that there were no regulated agreements. Five new Crédit Mutuel
local banks became members.

Meeting of June 27, 2018

At its meeting of June 27, 2018, the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale
du Crédit Mutuel unanimously approved the principle of convergence of
Crédit Mutuel Massif Central to Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel, and
convened an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting on September 20, 2018
to approve the corresponding amendments to the Articles of Association.

Meeting of July 26, 2018

On July 26, 2018, the board of directors approved the group consolidated
financial statements for the first half of 2018, after reviewing the opinion
of the auditing and accounting committee of July 25 and hearing input
from the statutory auditors. The board reviewed the activity of the past six
months and updated the asset/liability management limits and approved
the amendment of the commitment guidelines and financial regulation, as
well as the increase in the ceiling for the Crédit Mutuel-CIC Home Loan
SFH secured bond issue. The risk appetite framework, ICAAP report and
ILAAP procedures were approved. An update was given on relationships
with supervisors. The board took note of the reports of the regulatory
committees and decided to grant an additional incentive corresponding
to 1.66b3% of payroll in addition to the rate calculated in the incentive
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agreement signed on June 19, 2015. Two new Crédit Mutuel local banks
became members.

Meeting of November 16, 2018

At its meeting on November 16, 2018, the board of directors reviewed the
third quarter 2018 situation and the budget. The board reviewed the reports
of the group auditing and accounting committee, the group risk monitoring
committee, the appointments committee and the remuneration committee.
The interest rate risk limits at the end of September were approved. An
exemption was granted to Factofrance for the declaration of prudential
requirements. An update was given on relationships with supervisors.
A commitment policy for fragile or vulnerable customers was adopted. The
board took note of the recommendation and work in the process of being
finalized in order to adopt internal rules. In addition, in connection with
Pierre Eckly’s retirement, the board appointed Michel Guillemin as Group
Inspector General and approved the procedure for appointing inspector
generals in Crédit Mutuel federations and in CIC regional banks. Two new
Crédit Mutuel local banks became members.

Meeting of December 6,2018

At the board meeting of December 6, 2018, as a result of the age limits
and following the district elections at Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre
Est Europe, the terms of office of Marie-José Neyer and Jean-Paul Adenot,
Jean-Louis Boisson, André Gerwig and Jacques Humbert were terminated.

Following a favorable opinion from the remuneration committee which met
on December 4, 2018, the board decided to co-opt Véronique Hemberger
and Etienne Grad, Gérard Oliger, Daniel Schoepf and Frédéric Ranchon. The
composition of regulatory committees was also reviewed following these
appointments (see composition of committees).

Executive Management

Composition and prerogatives

In accordance with Article L.511-13 para. 2 of the French Monetary and
Financial Code, banking regulations require the separation of the functions
of Chairman of the supervisory body and effective manager of the
institution. The effective management of the institution is assumed by at
least two people. The effective management enjoys all powers attached
to it by banking and financial laws and regulations, both internally and with
respect to third parties.

Composition of Executive Management

The Executive Management of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel is
composed of:

m Daniel Baal, chief executive officer and effective manager;

m Eric Petitgand, deputy chief executive officer and effective manager;

m Frantz Rublé, deputy chief executive officer.

Prerogatives of Executive Management

The board meetings of July 29, 2016 and April 6, 2017 did not limit the
powers of the two effective managers as defined by law and our articles
of association and internal rules.

Internal committees

The provisions which define the composition, functioning, regulatory
framework and duties of the regulatory committees of Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale are set out in the internal rules of the board of directors
adopted by the board of directors on February 20, 2019.
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Composition of the group’s remuneration committee

Following the decisions of the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de
Crédit Mutuel on December 6, 2018, this committee is composed of a
Chairman and four members, appointed by the board of directors, for the
term of their directorship with Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and two
associate members appointed for the term of their directorship with their
Federation.

m Chairman: Gérard Bontoux

m Members: Christine Leenders, Gérard QOliger, Francois Troillard (employee
director), Annie Virot

m Associate member: Jean-Frangois Jouffray

Composition of the group’s appointments committee

Following the decisions of the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de
Crédit Mutuel on December 6, 2018, this committee is composed of a
Chairman and three members, appointed by the board of directors, for
the term of their directorship with Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and
two associate members appointed for the term of their directorship with
their Federation.

m Chairman: Gérard Oliger
m Members: Gérard Bontoux, Laurence Miras, Agnés Rouxel
m Associate members: Mireille Gavillon, Jean-Francois Jouffray

Composition of the group’s auditing and accounting committee
Following the decisions of the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de
Crédit Mutuel on December 6, 2018, this committee is composed of a
Chairman and four members, appointed by the board of directors, for the
term of their directorship with Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and two
associate members appointed for the term of their directorship with their
Federation.

m Chairman: Jean-Francois Jouffray

m Members: Gérard Cormoréche, Charles Gerber, Etienne Grad, Véronique
Hemberger

m Associate members: Jean-Pierre Bertin, Didier Belloir, Christian
Fouchard, Patrice Garrigues, Damien Lievens, Yves Magnin, Patrick
Morel, Jean-Francois Parra, Francis Pernet, Alain Pupel, René Schwartz

Composition of the group’s risk monitoring committee

Following the decisions of the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de
Crédit Mutuel on December 6, 2018, this committee is composed of a
Chairman and four members, appointed by the board of directors, for the
term of their directorship with Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and two
associate members appointed for the term of their directorship with their
Federation.

m Chairman: Daniel Schoepf

m Members: Gérard Bontoux, Christine Leenders, Daniel Rocipon, Nicolas
Théry

m Associate members: Gilles Berrée, Bernard Basse, Hubert Chauvin, Jean-
Frangois Jouffray, Benoit Laurent, Claude Levéque, Jean-Paul Panzani,
Michel Vieux

Code of conduct
The Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale code of conduct was approved by the
board of directors at its meeting on March 7,2008.

This registration document, which includes all regulatory provisions relating
to conduct, reiterates the principles that must be obeyed by each entity
and employee of the group in the exercise of their activities. It is part
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of the group’s overall objectives in terms of quality of customer service,
integrity and rigor in the processing of transactions and compliance with
regulations. It is intended to serve as a reference in this area and to be
adopted by the various entities.

Compliance with rules of ethics applies not only to employees in the context
of their duties, but also to the entity to which they belong. That entity must
apply the principles set forth above, which refer to values subscribed to by
all of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

This code is supplemented by anticorruption provisions and two specific
texts on the security of information systems and the fight against violence
and harassment at work.

The code of conduct is available from the group General Secretariat.

Persons possessing inside information are regularly reminded of their
obligations and the rules applicable to them.

Ethics and compliance committee

An ethics and compliance committee was created collectively by the
Chambre Syndicale on April 13-14, 2007 to review the implementation of
the code of conduct by the group bodies of the banks affiliated with Caisse
Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel.

It has 22 members appointed by the Chambre Interfédérale on the principle
of one elected member and one staff representative per Group federation:

m 11 elected members, proposed by the board of directors of their home
federation from among the elected members of that federation who
participate in the Chambre Interfédérale;

m 11 staff representatives, proposed by the Works Council of their home
federation from among the representatives who participate in the
Chambre Interfédérale.

The director of Group Human Resources, the group General Secretariat,
the Inspector General, the heads of compliance and the heads of elected
member relations at the federations contribute to the committee’s work
in an advisory capacity.

The committee is chaired by an elected member with a seat on the
Chambre. He or she represents the member banks and is proposed by
the board of directors of Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe.

Principles and rules of remuneration

of identified individuals (Articles L.511-71

et seq. of the French Monetary and Financial
Code]

The remuneration policy of the Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédéral Group, a
group that belongs to its customers and members, is designed primarily
to be sound and responsible and gives priority to aligning the interests of
the group with those of its employees and to protecting the interests of its
members and customers. It therefore takes its duty to advise very seriously.

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale believes that a Company’s remuneration
policy is an important aspect of consistency in its strategy and risk
management. Against this backdrop, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale has
remained true to its mutualist values and has defined a policy whose
principles are in accordance with regulatory requirements and with industry
practices, with the aim of:

m ensuring consistency between employee behavior and the group’s
long-term objectives, in particular with respect to developing risk
management control;
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m promoting career advancement through internal training and encouraging
employees’ longterm commitment;

m ensuring fair pay for work and retaining talented employees by offering
them appropriate compensation that takes into consideration the
competitive environment and is based on their level of seniority,
expertise and professional experience;

m ensuring equal pay for men and women, based on classification, and
more broadly fighting all forms of discrimination;

m making sure that shareholders’ equity is regularly strengthened.

The remuneration policy builds on the Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
risk appetite framework, which states that the remuneration of Group
employees must not encourage excessive risk-taking and aims to avoid
all conflicts of interest.

In that context, the overall remuneration policy therefore does not
encourage risk-taking in excess of the level of risk defined by Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale. It is guided by the principles of restraint and prudence
implemented by Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, including for risk-takers.

Variable remuneration is strictly limited to a few business lines and
functions and is not an incentive for employees to take risks that would
not be in line with the guidelines from executive management and the
board of directors, in particular for those employees whose activities are
likely to have a significant impact on the institution’s risk exposure.

The board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel approved the
Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale remuneration palicy, including the overall
remuneration policy for staff whose professional activities are likely to have
a significant impact on the institution’s risk profile.

This general policy takes account of Article 104 of the Decree of November 3,
2014, Articles L.b11-89 et seq. of the French Monetary and Financial Code,
and Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No. 604/2014 of March 4,2014,
which sets out the appropriate qualitative and quantitative criteria for
identifying these categories of staff.

The latest version of the remuneration policy for risk-takers was approved
by the board of directors on February 20, 2019.

In view of the cooperative structure and values in effect within Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, directors work on a voluntary basis and are
entitled only to the reimbursement of expenses incurred in connection
with their duties.

For all persons at Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale who meet the above
criteria, i.e. 432 individuals, the overall amount of remuneration for 2018 as
set out in the aforementioned Article L.511-73 was €91,750,000.

A preference for fixed remuneration, with variable
remuneration strictly limited to a few specialized
activities

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale has decided to prioritize fixed remuneration
in keeping with its mutualist values and its responsibilities toward

its customers and members. It incorporates its constant concern for
sustainable development and employee career advancement into its policy.

For most Group employees, in particular all those who work for the
networks, the group has decided® to not set individual targets for customer
sales that might generate variable remuneration.

Generally speaking, the components of additional compensation (benefits
in kind, variable remuneration, etc.) are subject to restrictions and concern

(1] With some exceptions abroad.
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only specific situations in certain business lines or functions when justified
by particular considerations. The variable remuneration practices for the
group’s specialized businesses are therefore generally consistent with
those of other banking groups: trading floor, specialized financing, asset
management, private equity, private banking and consumer credit.

A Group remuneration policy for Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale in 2018

At its meeting of February 21,2018, the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale
de Crédit Mutuel approved the integration into its scope, as of fiscal year
2018, of the entities covered by the AIFM and UCITS V directives as well
as those subject to the Solvency Il directive.

Article L.511-91 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, established by
Article 3 of Order No. 2014-158 of February 20, 2014, states that when a
credit institution is part of a group subject to supervision by the Autorité de
contréle prudentiel et de résolution (ACPR - French Prudential Supervisory
and Resolution Authority) on a consolidated basis, the board of directors of
such institution may decide that the functions assigned to the regulatory
committees (risk, appointments, remuneration) be performed by the
committee of the credit institution at which level supervision is exercised
on a consolidated or sub-consolidated basis.

Within Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, all boards of directors of Group
entities - regardless of their activities and the applicable regulations, in
France and abroad - delegate their remuneration authority to the “umbrella”
committee (Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel). This includes the federations
and regional banks (which “control” the Caisse Fédérale), the consumer
credit activity, the asset management activity and the insurance entities
(which are in the consolidated accounting scope], the private equity,
services and/or IT activities, the group’s economic interest groups and the
international private banking and subsidiary activities (including Banque
Transatlantique, Banque de Luxembourg, CIC Suisse, TARGOBANK in
Germany and TARGOBANK in Spain).

The scope therefore goes beyond just the regulatory monitoring scope of
the banking activity.

The boards of directors’ delegations of authority take effect at the beginning
of 2018 and the group’s entities’ regulatory committees, with the exception
of the “umbrella” committee of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel, will be
eliminated. The “umbrella” committee reports on its work to the board of
directors of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel, and to the boards of directors
of Group entities for the information that is relevant to them.

Principles for determining the remuneration
granted to corporate officers

Non-executive corporate officers, i.e., all directors other than the Chairman
of the board of directors, including the non-voting directors, receive no
remuneration. Starting in 2019, they are subject to the provisions of the
charter governing the exercise of office of members of the board of Caisse
Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel.

The officers concerned are the Chairman of the board and the chief
executive officer.
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Chairman of the board of directors

The employment contract between the Chairman of the board of directors
and Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel has been suspended since
November 14,2014 and contract between it and the chief executive officer
has been suspended since June 1, 2017.

On December 11, 2014, the CIC board of directors decided moreover
specifies, on a proposal from the remuneration committee, to award
Nicolas Théry an annual indemnity of €250,000 as compensation for
his term of office as Chairman of the board of directors. It also decided
to create for Nicolas Théry severance pay equivalent to one year of
corporate officer compensation for his term of office as Chairman of
the board of directors. The payment of these benefits is subject to the
achievement of a performance condition relating to an increase in the
overall consolidated equity of the group for the period from January 1,
2015 to the date of termination of his term of office. This agreement, which
concerns the termination indemnity, was submitted to the approval of the
CIC shareholders’ meeting of May 27, 2015, following a special report by
the statutory auditors.

On February 26, 2015, the board of directors of Banque Fédérative du
Crédit Mutuel decided, on a proposal from the remuneration committee,
to maintain the current amount of compensation of Nicolas Théry at Banque
Fédérative de Crédit Mutuel [gross annual indemnity of £450,000), but
effective December 1, 2014, compensate the corporate office of Chairman of
the board of directors. It also decided to set up an unemployment insurance
policy specific to corporate officers with effect from December 1, 2014.

In addition, the board of directors set a one-year indemnity for corporate
officers calculated on the basis of the average of the last twelve months
preceding the end of their term of office, and such termination benefits
shall be paid to Nicolas Théry. The payment of these benefits is subject to
the achievement of a performance condition relating to an increase in the
overall consolidated equity of the group for the period from January 1, 2015
to the date of termination of his term of office. For that term of office, the
benefits set above are without prejudice to the benefits he may receive
as an employee pursuant to the contractual provisions in force within
the group. To that end, it should be noted that Nicolas Théry has been an
employee of the group since September 1, 2009 and that his employment
contract was suspended with effect from November 14, 2014. Nicolas Théry
is, in his capacity as an employee, subject to the supplementary pension
regulations of January 1,2008. Consequently, the remuneration committee
has proposed that these pension regulations be applied for compensation
to Nicolas Théry in his capacity as Chairman of the board, under the same
conditions as for all group employees. As part of the reform of the CM11
Retraite supplementary pension plan, and pursuant to the amendment to
the pension agreement, €25,509.78 in gross salary remuneration has been
allocated to Nicolas Théry since January 1, 2017.

This agreement concerning severance pay and retirement benefits was
submitted to the approval of the Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel
shareholders’ meeting of May 13, 2015, following the special report of the
statutory auditor.

On February 20, 2019, the board of directors decided, following a favorable
opinion from the remuneration committee on February 18, 2019, to set
the gross annual fixed remuneration of Nicolas Théry at €880,000, as
Chairman of the board of directors from June 1, 2019. The board based
its decision on the fact that Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel represents
the parent company within Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, performs the
main support duties and coordinates the group’s main subsidiaries with
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel and CIC, and is supervised directly by
the European Central Bank. The board also based its decision on the fact
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that the other terms and duties of the Chairman of the board of directors
within the entities of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale will be performed on
a voluntary basis from that date.

The same board of directors decided, following a favorable opinion from the
remuneration committee on February 18,2019, to grant termination benefits
equivalent to two year’s gross salary, subject to achievement of the
performance condition set by the remuneration committee. The payment
of these benefits is subject to the achievement of a performance condition
relating to an increase in the overall consolidated equity of the group for
the period from January 1, 2015 to the date of termination of his term of
office. For that term of office, the benefits set above are without prejudice
to the benefits he may receive as an employee pursuant to the contractual
provisions in force within the group. This agreement, which concerns the
termination benefits, is subject to the approval of the Caisse Fédérale du
Crédit Mutuel shareholders’ meeting in 2020, following a special report by
the statutory auditors.

As a corporate officer, Nicolas Théry is also covered by a supplementary
pension plan and a complementary pension plan under the same conditions
applicable to all company employees.

The decision of the board of directors takes into account that Nicolas Théry
is Chairman of the board of directors of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel
and that his employment contract with Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel
is suspended during this term of office. All of Nicolas Théry’s other terms
and duties are performed on a voluntary basis: the commitments made
to CIC and Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel shall end on June 1, 2019.

The chief executive officer

In addition, on April 6, 2017, the board of directors of Banque Fédérative du
Crédit Mutuel decided, on a proposal from the remuneration committee,
to set the gross annual fixed compensation of Daniel Baal at €700,000, in
addition to compensation under Article 39 relating to the supplementary
pension of €9,505.68 annually, pension plan contributions of €4,474.80
annually, health expenses of €3,595.80 annually and benefits in kind
(company car) of £€3,880.56 annually. It also decided to create for
Daniel Baal a termination indemnity equal to one year’s gross salary,
calculated on the basis of the average of the last twelve months preceding
the end of his term of office. The payment of these benefits is subject to
the achievement of a performance condition relating to an increase in the
overall consolidated equity of the group for the period from January 1, 2015
to the date of termination of his term of office. For that term of office, the
benefits set above are without prejudice to the benefits he may receive
as an employee pursuant to the contractual provisions in force within
the group. This agreement, which concerns the termination indemnity,
was submitted to the approval of the Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel
shareholders’ meeting of May 3, 2017, following a special report by the
statutory auditors.

On February 20, 2019, the board of directors decided, following a favorable
opinion from the remuneration committee on February 18, 2019, to set
the gross annual fixed remuneration of Daniel Baal at €880,000, as chief
executive officer from June 1, 2019. The board based its decision on the
fact that Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel represents the parent company
within Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, performs the main support duties
and coordinates the group’s main subsidiaries with Banque Fédérative du
Crédit Mutuel and CIC, and is supervised directly by the European Central
Bank. The board also based its decision on the fact that the other terms
and duties of the chief executive officer within the entities of Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale will be performed on a voluntary basis from that date.
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The same board of directors decided, following a favorable opinion from
the remuneration committee on February 18, 2019, to grant termination
benefits equivalent to two year’s gross salary, subject to achievement
of the performance condition set by the remuneration committee. The
payment of these benefits is subject to the achievement of a performance
condition relating to an increase in the overall consolidated equity of the
group for the period from January 1, 2015 to the date of termination of his
term of office.

For that term of office, the benefits set above are without prejudice to
the benefits he may receive as an employee pursuant to the contractual
provisions in force within the group. This agreement, which concerns the
termination benefits, is subject to the approval of the Caisse Fédérale du
Crédit Mutuel shareholders’ meeting in 2020, following a special report by
the statutory auditors.

As a corporate officer, Nicolas Théry is also covered by a supplementary
pension plan and a complementary pension plan under the same conditions
applicable to all company employees.

The decision of the board of directors takes into account that Daniel Baal
is chief executive officer of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel and that
his employment contract with Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel is

suspended during this term of office. All of Daniel Baal’s other terms and
duties are performed on a voluntary basis: the commitments made to
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel shall end on June 1, 2019.

Common provisions

The compensation received by the group’s key executives is detailed in
the tables below.

The group’s key executives also benefited from the group retirement
savings plans and supplementary pension plan during the fiscal year.

On the other hand, the group’s key executives did not enjoy any other
specific benefits.

No capital securities or securities giving access to capital or the right to
acquire capital securities of Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel or the
CIC was allocated to them. In addition, they do not receive attendance
fees because of their office, whether in the group companies or in other
companies, but because of their functions within the group.

The group’s key executives may also hold assets or loans in banks of the
group, under the conditions offered to all employees. As of December 31,
2018, they do not hold any loans of this nature.

COMPENSATION RECEIVED BY THE GROUP'S KEY EXECUTIVES FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31,2018

Employer
contributions for

Benefits supplementary
Amounts in €Y Origin Fixed portion Variable portion® in kind® benefits Total
2018
Nicolas Théry Crédit Mutuel 475,510 11,531 11,649 498,690
cic 250,000 1,189 251,189
Daniel Baal Crédit Mutuel 709,506 3,881 9262 722,649
2017
Nicolas Théry Crédit Mutuel 475,510 11,298 498,201
cic 250,000 1378 1,059 251,059
Alain Fradin
BFCM until 05/31/2017 Crédit Mutuel 1,133,333 2,113 3,678 1139124
CFdeCM from 06/01/2017 to 06/30/2018 Crédit Mutuel 250,268** 423 736 251,427
Daniel Baal
CFdeCM until 05/31/2017 Crédit Mutuel 523,5695*** 1,617 3,678 528,890
BFCM starting 06/01/2017 Crédit Mutuel 413,878 2,264 2,264 421,291
2016
Nicolas Théry Crédit Mutuel 450,000 11,226 6,406 467,632
cic 250,000 250,000
Alain Fradin Crédit Mutuel 800,000 5,072 8,688 813,760
2015
Nicolas Théry Crédit Mutuel 450,000 11,286 6,733 468,019
cic 250,000 250,000
Alain Fradin Crédit Mutuel 800,000 4,845 8,659 813,404

(1) These are gross amounts corresponding to amounts paid during the year.

(2] Any variable portion paid to the chief executive officer would be decided by the remuneration committee of Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel following the shareholders’ meeting that
approves the financial statements for the previous fiscal year for which it was paid. The variable portion paid in N would therefore be for Year N-1.

(3] Company cars and/or senior executive insurance policy (GSC).

*Including end-of-term allowance of €800,000.
*Including severance pay of £€203,212.
***Including paid time off and time savings account.
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2.2.3. List of terms of office held and functions exercised by corporate officers

during fiscal year 2018 pursuant to Article L.225-37-4 of the French

Commercial Code

Nicolas Théry
Born December 22, 1965

Business address:
4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2019
Other offices

Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2019
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2024
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2020
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2020
Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the supervisory board 2014 2019
Crédit Industriel et Commercial Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2019
Banque CIC Est Chairman of the board of directors 2012 2019
Bangque CIC Nord Ouest Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2021
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the supervisory board 2016 2021
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SA Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2023
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie S.AM. Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2023
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel IARD Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2023
ACM GIE Director (representing Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel) 2015 2021
Euro-Information Member of the management board 2017 2020

(representing Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe)

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Strasbourg Vosges Member of the board of directors 2014 2019
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

Euro-Information Member of the management board 2014 2017
Banque CIC Est Chief executive officer 2012 2016
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Chairman of the Executive board 2015 2016
TARGOBANK Spain Director 2011 2016
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Director (representing BECM) 2013 2016
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Deputy chief executive officer 2011 2014
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Deputy chief executive officer 2011 2014
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Deputy chief executive officer 2011 2014
Banque Publique d’Investissement Director 2013 2014
ACM lard SA Director (representing GACM) 2013 2014
COFIDIS Member of the supervisory board 2011 2015
COFIDIS Participations Member of the supervisory board 2011 2015
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Gérard Bontoux
Born March 7,1950

Business address:
6 rue de la Tuilerie - 31130 Balma

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2021
Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique Chairman of the board of directors 1994 2020
Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique Chairman of the board of directors 1994 2020
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Toulouse St Cyprien Director 1996 2020
CIC Sud-Ouest Director (representing Marsovalor) 2009 2019
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2009 2021
Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel Member of the supervisory board 2009 2021
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CRCM Midi-Atlantique) 2015 2021
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2015 2022
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2022
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Gérard Cormoréche

Born July 3,1957

Business address:

8 rue Rhin et Danube - 69009 Lyon

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 1995 2019
Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est Chairman of the board of directors 1995 2019
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est Chairman of the board of directors 1995 2019
Caisse Agricole Crédit Mutuel (CACM]) Chairman of the board of directors 2004 2022
C.ECAMUSE Chairman of the board of directors 1991 2024
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Neuville-sur-Sadne Chairman of the board of directors 1993 2021
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2022
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2022
MTRL Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2021
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel pour I'éducation Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2020
et la prévention en santé

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Agricole et Rural Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2004 2021
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2001 2019
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CCM Sud-Est) 2010 2022
Crédit Industriel et Commercial Director 2011 2023
SICA d’habitat Rural du Rhone et de la Loire Director 2013 TBD
SCEA CORMORECHE Jean-Gérard Managing Partner 2000 TBD
SARL CORMORECHE Managing Partner 2015 TBD

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None
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Chantal Dubois

Born October 8, 1952

Business address:

10 rue de Rieux - 44040 Nantes

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2017 2020
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Limoges Centre Vice Chairwoman of the board of directors 1985 2019
Fondation du Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique - Centre Ouest Chairman 2013 2019
DOM'AULIM ESH Director (representing CRCM Loire-Atlantique Centre Ouest) 2012

Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique - Centre Ouest  Director 2010 2020
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique - Centre Ouest Director 2010 2020

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
None

Charles Gerber

Born June 3, 1954

Business address:

4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 1999 2021
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de la Largue Chairman of the board of directors 2012 2021
District des caisses de Crédit Mutuel d'Altkirch-St Louis Chairman 1999 2022
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Director 2002 2022

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
None

Etienne Grad
Born December 26,1952
Business address:

4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2021
Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2010 2022
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Cours de I'Andlau Chairman of the board of directors 1992 2019
District des caisses de Crédit Mutuel Chairman 2009 2022
de la Communauté Urbaine de Strasbourg

SAS GRAD Etienne Conseil et Développement Chairman 2011 TBD
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2010 2019

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
None
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Audrey Hammerer
Born January 8,1978
Business address:

4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2019
Other offices

None

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
None

Véronique Hemberger
Born December 24,1951
Business address:

4 rue Frédeéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2021
Other offices

CME 67 Chairman 2014 2022
UNCME Chairman 2017

District des caisses de Crédit Mutuel Member of the District de la CUS 2018 2022
de la Communauté Urbaine de Strasbourg

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Director (representing BFCM) 2018 2022

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
None

Christine Leenders
Born February 21,1956
Business address:

1 place Moliere - 49000 Angers

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2017 2020
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Durtal-Seiches sur le Loir Chairwoman of the board of directors 2003 2019
Le pied a I'étrier Chairman 2014 TBD
Ecurie le mors aux dents Chairman 2017 TBD
Les Landes Managing Partner 2014 TBD
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Anjou Director 2010 2020
Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel d’Anjou Director 2010 2020
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Agricole et Rural de I'Anjou Director 2006 2021

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
None
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Mireille Lefebure
Born October 27,1952
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Business address:
105 faubourg Madeleine - 45920 Orléans

Name of entity Position Start End

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2017 2020

Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Tours Halles Chairwoman of the board of directors 2014 2019

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel du Centre Director 2017 2021

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Elia Martins

Born June 4,1970

Business address:

18 rue de la Rochefoucauld - 75009 Paris

Name of entity Position Start End

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2021

Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Paris 8 Europe Chairwoman of the board of directors 2013 2020

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel lle-de-France Director 2017 2020

Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel lle-de-France Director 2017 2020

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Lucien Miara

Born January 17,1949

Business address:

494 avenue du Prado - 13008 Marseille

Name of entity Position Start End

Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2015 2021

Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen Chairman of the board of directors 2006 2022

Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen Chairman of the board of directors 2006 2022

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Villeneuve Loubet Chairman of the board of directors 2018

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Montpellier Alco Chairman of the board of directors 2017

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Marseille Saint Loup Chairman of the board of directors 2018

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Frontignan Chairman of the board of directors 2018

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Marseille Prado Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2020

Camefi Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2020

Euro-Information Production Member of the supervisory board 1997 2019

Centre International du Crédit Mutuel Director (representing FCM Méditerranéen) 2014 2019

Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CRCM Méditerranéen) 2014 2023

Assurance du Crédit Mutuel Vie Director (representing CRCM Méditerranéen) 2016 2022

Banque Marocaine du Commerce Extérieur Director (representing BFCM) 2017 End of BFCM term
of office

Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2014 2020

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2015 2021

Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2020

Crédit Industriel et Commercial Non-voting director 2014 2020

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None
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Laurence Miras
Born April 4,1965

Business address:
130-132 avenue Victor Hugo - 26009 Valence

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2017 2020
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Agriculture de Valréas Chairwoman of the board of directors 2014 2021
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Dauphiné-Vivarais Director 2014 2020
Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen Director 2018 2023
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Gérard Oliger

Born July 7,1951

Business address:

4 rue Frédeéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbhourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2019
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel du Pays de Bitche Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2022
District des caisses de Crédit Mutuel du District de Sarreguemines Chairman 2006 2022
Assurance du Crédit Mutuel Vie Director (representing GACM) 2015 2023
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Director 2006 2022
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2019
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Frédéric Ranchon

Born June 22,1966

Business address:

61 rue Blatin - 63000 Clermont-Ferrand

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2021
Other offices

Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Massif Central Chairman 2016 2022
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Massif Central Chairman 2017 2023

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None
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Daniel Rocipon
Born February 17,1948
Business address:

99 avenue de Geneve - 74054 Annecy

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2021
Other offices

Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc Chairman of the board of directors 2011 2019
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc Chairman of the board of directors 2015 2019
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel d’Albertville Chairman of the board of directors 2011 2021
Les 3D Managing Partner 2000 TBD
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing CRCM Savoie-Mont Blanc) 2016 2020
Centre International du Crédit Mutuel Director 1900 2018
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2021

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
None

Agnés Rouxel

Born April 20, 1965

Business address:

17 rue du 11 Novembre - 14052 Caen

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2017 2020
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Sainte-Adresse Chairwoman of the board of directors 2018 2021
JP2A Managing Partner 2004 TBD
Genese Managing Partner 2004 TBD
Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Normandie Director (representing CCM Sainte Adresse) 2018 2023

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
None

Daniel Schoepf
Born March 9,1955
Business address:

4 rue Frédeéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2018 2020
Other offices

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Dettwiller Chairman of the board of directors 2014 2021
District des Caisses de Crédit Mutuel de Saverne Chairman 1996 2022
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SAM Director (representing BFCM) 2015 2021
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Director 1996 2022
Editions des Derniéres Nouvelles d'’Alsace Director 2014 2020
SAP L'Alsace Director 2014 2020

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years
Banque Européenne du Crédit Mutuel Member of the supervisory board 2006 2018
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Francois Troillard
Born September 16,1958

Business address:
4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2016 2019
Other offices

None

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None

Annie Virot

Born March 64,1955

Business address:

4 rue Frédeéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2017 2020
Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Vice Chairwoman of the board of directors 2016 2022
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Dijon Darcy Chairwoman of the board of directors 2017 2019
District des caisses de Crédit Mutuel de Bourgogne-Champagne ~ Chairman 2018 2022
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Director 2017 2020

Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

None
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Daniel Baal
Born December 27,1957
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Business address:
4 rue Frédeéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Chief executive officer and effective manager 2017 2020
Other offices

Fédération Centre Est Europe Chief executive officer 2017 2021
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Chief executive officer 2017 2020
Crédit Industriel et Commercial Chief executive officer 2017 2020
COFIDIS Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2021
COFIDIS Participations Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2021
Euro-Information Production Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2020
Targo Deutschland GmbH Vice Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2022
TARGOBANK AG Vice Chairman of the supervisory board 2018 2022
GACM Member of the Executive board 2017 2021
Banque de Luxembourg Vice Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2023
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

SAS Les Gatines Chairman 2010 2017
CIC Sud-Ouest Chairman of the board of directors 2016 2018
CIC Ouest (West) Chairman of the board of directors 2017 2018
CIC Iberbanco Chairman of the supervisory board 2015 2017
Targo Management AG Vice Chairman of the supervisory board 2017 2018
(merged into TARGOBANK AG on May 9, 2018)

Fivory SA Member of the board of directors 2014 2017
Fivory SAS Member of the board of directors 2015 2017
Euro-Information Management board (permanent representative of CRCM IDF) 2017
Centre International du Crédit Mutuel Director (representing CCCM) 2017
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Eric Petitgand
Born February 4, 1964

Business address:
4 rue Frédéric-Guillaume Raiffeisen - 67000 Strasbourg

Name of entity Position Start End
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel Deputy chief executive officer and effective manager 2016 TBD
Other offices

Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Deputy chief executive officer 2016 TBD
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel - Antilles Guyane Deputy chief executive officer 2017 TBD
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel - Antilles Guyane Chief executive officer - Effective manager 2017 TBD
Bischenberg Chairman (representing BFCM) 2005 TBD
Monetico International Vice Chairman 2013 2019
Lyf Director 2017 2019
Euro-Information Télécom Member of the management board 2017 TBD
Centre de Conseil et de Service - CCS Member of the board of directors 2016 2022
Euro-Information Member of the supervisory board 2016 2024
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Member of the supervisory board (representing CFdeCM) 2016 2021
Previous offices held over the past five fiscal years

Cautionnement Mutuel de I'Habitat Member of the board of directors 2016 2018
Euro-Information Epithéte Member of the management board (representing CFdeCM) 2017 2018
Euro-TVS Member of the management board (representing CFdeCM) 2016 2017
CM-CIC Asset Management Director (representing CIC Associés) 2016 2017
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc Chief executive officer 2003 2016
Caisse régionale du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc Chief executive officer 2003 2016
Filaction Chairman 2011 2016
Cemcice Servicios Espafia Vice Chairman 2014 2016
Euro-Information Production Member of the supervisory board 2003 2017
Euro-Information Direct Services Member of the management board 2007 2017
ACM lard S.A. Director (representing CRCMSMB] 2011 2016
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Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

3.1 PRESENTATION OF THE ACTIVITIES AND
PROFIT/LOSS OF CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE

FEDERALE

3.1.1 Description of certain factors affecting the profit/loss and the financial

situation

Structure and sectors of activity

The profit/loss and the financial situation of the group reflect the significant
weight of retail banking and insurance within the group’s activities. The
retail bank regularly contributes nearly three quarters of the group’s net
banking income (67% in 2018). Generally, corporate and investment banking,
including proprietary trading, as well as private banking and private equity,
represent a relatively low share of net banking income. Furthermore, the
customers of the insurance and private banking sectors are often also
retail banking customers (the Group’s networks in retail banking market
the group’s insurance products, often related to supplying another retail
banking service or simply through contacts with the banking network,
which endeavors to develop relationships with customers and offer them
a maximum number of services). Thus, the acquisition of customers by
these sectors is a means of improving the results of the retail bank through
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The group’s net interest income includes net interest generated by
regulated savings accounts [passhook accounts “livret A” and “livret Bleu”),
which represent 10% of customer deposits as of December 31, 2018. Most
of these deposits made by customers on these accounts are transferred to
the Caisse des Dépots et Consignations (CDC), a financial institution held
by the French state, which is intended to finance public programs, such as
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the payment of commissions to the distribution networks and cross sales
of products.

The group’s activity is concentrated in France, which represents more
than three quarters of the group’s net banking income (77% in 2018).
Internationally, the group has significant activities in Germany and, to a
lesser extent, in Spain, and holds equity investments in North Africa. The
group is not established in Greece. CIC also has international subsidiaries
in London, New York, Hong-Kong and Singapore, and representative offices
in several other countries. These international activities generally represent
only a low share of the group’s net banking income.

Home loans represent nearly half of the total loans granted to customers
by the group. The graph below illustrates the types of loans granted by the
group pursuant to the fiscal years 2016, 2017 and 2018.

180 —— = Home loans

—— = Equipment loans

37 — . Consumer loans/Revolving

39 —— Current accounts/Cash loans
15 ——— Others

2018

the construction of social housing. The CDC pays a fixed interest, which
is added to the interest rates provided on these savings accounts. As this
interest is fixed, the share of deposits on regulated savings accounts in
the total customer deposits of the group may have an impact on average
interest income.

www.creditmutuel.fr



Administrative costs

The group pays particular attention to controlling its general operating
expenses by seeking to industrialize, if possible, the processes used by
retail banking, in order to achieve improvements in operational efficiency.
Almost all entities of the group use the same information system, which
generates significant efficiency savings. Furthermore, the retail banking
personnel are encouraged to promote all products and services of the
group, rather than specializing by type of product. Due to the efforts made
by the group, the cost/income ratio has stayed at a level that is below the
average of the five largest French banks, in spite of the unfavorable effects
of expenses related to the tax and social-security regulations.

Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

Cost of risk

The cost of the group’s risk is relatively limited due to the nature of its
economic model based on retail banking, its prudent approach in matters of
risk-taking and the rigor adopted to manage and monitor risk. In particular,
as the group’s activities are mainly exercised in France, the provisions for
country risk are of little significance. The group’s cost of risk is also the
reflection of the consumer credit activities of TARGOBANK in Germany
and COFIDIS, which have a cost of risk greater than that of the networks
of Crédit Mutuel and CIC.

Exposure to European sovereign debt

In 2012, the group sold the balance of its Greek sovereign bonds as part
of a private sector involvement plan announced on February 21, 2012. This
transaction generated a loss of €34 million (€21 million after tax). The group
has endeavored to reduce its exposure to sovereign debt, which remains
limited overall.

The table below presents the December 31, 2018 exposure of the group to the weakest sovereign debt:

(in € millions] 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Greece 0 0
Portugal 39 60
Ireland 217 131
Total exposures to Greece, Portugal and Ireland 256 191
Italy 383 745
Spain 569 324
Total exposures to Italy and Spain 952 1,069

On December 31,2018, all securities representing the public debt of Greece,
Portugal and Ireland held by the group represented 0.6% of shareholders’
equity. Additional details concerning the exposure of the group to European
sovereign debt are provided in note 7c to the 2018 financial statements of
Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

Capital structure

Due to the status of the group as a cooperative bank, the group’s capital is
held by the local banks, which are held by their members. The net profit/
(loss] of the group is mainly booked to reserves, with the members receiving

fixed compensation determined each year for their shares of category B
(the “B shares”). Generally, the share in the net profit/(loss] booked to
reserves stands at about 97% and the balance is distributed as shares.

The group encourages regular subscription to new shares through
marketing campaigns. The shares represent a means of improving customer
loyalty while constituting a regular source of new capital. However, as the
group is not listed on the stock market, it cannot raise capital through public
offers. Information on the regulatory capital requirements of the group is
presented in chapter 4 - Information on Pillar 3 of the Basel agreements.

3.1.2 Activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

Economic environment

2018: slowdown in growth against a background
of political and geopolitical tensions

The exceptional recovery in growth in 2017, related notably to world trade,
dissipated throughout 2018. The application of customs barriers to exports
affected all geographic areas and, creating a shock to confidence, also
reduced investment levels. Furthermore, in Europe, the intensification
of political uncertainties (ltaly, Brexit], which are taking a long time to
dissipate, has worsened visibility for economic agents, while the sharp
increase in the price of oil has weighed on consumption. The uncoupling
of the various areas in terms of growth therefore widened between the

United States, where it continued to accelerate, and the consolidation seen
in the rest of the world. In spite of these uncertainties, the central banks of
the developed countries continued to display their confidence concerning
the tightening of their accommodating monetary policy (end of purchases
of financial securities and/or increase in base rates).

Ayear subject to the resurgence of political and geopolitical
risks

Since the spring of 2018, the protectionist rhetoric of Donald Trump
has accelerated. After the sanctions on steel and aluminum that struck
almost all of its partners, the American president concentrated on China:
a first salvo of tariffs covering $50 billion of Chinese products imported
into American territory (taxed at 25%) was followed by a second salvo
concerning $200 billion of imported products (taxed at 10%). Each of
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Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

these measures led to a proportionate response from Beijing, leading
to fears of an unlimited escalation of protectionist responses between
the two countries. At the end of 2018, the beginnings of a calm were
negotiated between Donald Trump and Xi Jinping with the 90 day truce
from December 1,in which both countries refused to raise tariffs during this
period with the aim of finding a long-term trade agreement. The pressure
also remains strong on Europe and Japan through the threat of possible
American tax sanctions against the automobile sector.

Europe is also having to cope with thorny political questions both with
Italy and the United Kingdom. Concerning Brexit, the political situation
reached a stalemate at the end of the year. London and Brussels reached
an agreement organizing the exit from the European Union, which Theresa
May has not succeeded in gaining approval by the House of Commons. In
[taly, it was only in mid-December that the Italian government returned to
greater orthodoxy in the conduct of its economic policy, under pressure
from the financial markets. This lack of visibility contributed to weakening
European growth by blocking investment decisions.

Uncoupling of growth rates at the global scale

In the Eurozone, the 2017 economic upturn gradually faded due to an
increasingly unfavorable worldwide outlook. The contribution of external
trade was significantly reduced in 2018 after several exceptional quarters,
related to the drop in foreign demand. Beyond this background trend, the
slowdown in European growth accelerated in the second half of the year
under the effect of temporary external factors (change in automobile
regulations, social upheaval in France] and persistent political tensions
between the European Union and the United Kingdom or Italy. Consumers
were also penalized by the sharp increase in petrol prices. In this context,
the rate of job creation admittedly slowed but remained sufficiently high
to strengthen wage pressures due to supplies of available labor being
exhausted. These reassuring elements concerning inflation prospects
favored an adjustment in the communication of the European Central Bank
(ECBY: it gradually reduced its purchases of financial assets - which ended
on January 1,2019 - while showing confidence in the idea of making a first
increase in base rates by the end of 2019.

In the United States, growth continued to accelerate throughout the year,
benefiting from the momentum of 2017, the dissemination of the effects
of the tax reform to households and companies (voted in December 2017)
and the massive increase in public expenditure. Although the trade war
led by Donald Trump contributed to depressing global activity, it did not
strongly impact domestic growth, which benefited from the increase in
consumption. Backed by this finding, the Fed continued to increase its
base rates, taking advantage of the rise in inflation. These elements drove
the dollar, American sovereign rates and stock markets. These general
upward movements ended during the second half year due to fears about
the consequences of protectionism, the rapid rise in inflation and the end
of the growth cycle.

Concerning emerging countries, capital outflows accelerated, imperiling
financial equilibrium - notably with a strong depreciation of currencies
- forcing central banks to abruptly raise their base rates. In this volatile
context, almost all of the emerging economies slowed from the second
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half of 2018. In China, the cleanup of the financial system decided by the
authorities in 2017 and the Sino-American trade war accentuated the
slowdown in activity. Given the extent of the drop in foreign demand, the
Chinese government sought to relaunch domestic drivers of growth by
monetary easing, a tax reform for households and a drop in charges for
companies, with an impact which has been limited to date.

Concerning commodities, a temporary peak beyond $80 per barrel of oil
was reached in October 2018, before prices resumed a downward trend
following the partial U-turn by Donald Trump on the question of the ol
embargo against Iran. This drop in prices over the last quarter was also
fueled by worries concerning the momentum in production growth and
findings of global overproduction.

In France, both the executive and economic growth ran up
against the social upheaval caused by the yellow vest
protesters [“gilets jaunes”)

In 2018, the French government sought to continue reforms against an
economic background that was getting worse. Companies continued to
invest but households significantly reduced their consumption expenses
faced with the rise in inflation. At the end of the year, the “yellow vests”
movement strongly penalized the resumption in activity which began in
the 3 quarter. The announcements of the government should sustain
purchasing power in 2019 but could lead to an increase in the deficit,
which suggests an upward trend in French rates. Lastly, property prices
grew strongly throughout 2018, continuing the movement of 2017. In spite
of the stabilization of the amount of old housing, price increases were
generalized throughout the territory, nevertheless with a more pronounced
acceleration in Paris.

Activity

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is intensifying its commercial development
at the service of its 24.9 million customers over all its business lines:
increase in outstanding savings and loans, good performance in insurance
and diversification towards innovative services for our customers and
members.

The bank

Outstanding deposits from customers stood at €304.3 billion at the end
of December 2018, up by 5.5%, driven by the strong growth in demand
deposits (+10.8% to €133.9 billion), given low interest on savings products.
Outstanding regulated savings also increased by 7.1% for the passbook
accounts “livret Bleu” and “livret A" and by 7% for other passbook accounts.
These passbook accounts represent 29% of outstanding deposits (10%
for “livret Bleu” and “livret A" and 19% for the other passbook accounts),
representing an overall amount of €87.1 billion.

Mortgage saving agreements retained positive flows of €1.5 billion, bringing
assets outstanding to €34.9 billion at the end of 2018, while negotiable
deposits (popular savings plans, term deposits) saw their outstanding
assets drop by respectively 5.4% and 12.9% to €40.3 billion overall.

www.creditmutuel.fr



CUSTOMER DEPOSITS
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2017 2018

Outstanding customer deposits
on12/31in € billions

Outstanding loans to customers stood at €370.9 billion as of December 31,
2018, dropping by 7.5%.

Production of home loans dropped by 5.6% by volume compared to 2017,
due to the significant reduction in renegotiations and redemptions of loans
and outstanding amounts at €179.5 billion, that were up by 6.9%.

Outstanding consumer loans were €37.1 billion at the end of December 2018,
up by 8.2% over one year. The specialized subsidiaries of the group, COFIDIS
and TARGOBANK in Germany represent 64% of the outstanding business

CUSTOMER LOANS

370.9
3449

2017 2018

Outstanding loans to customers
on 12/31in € billions

Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

STRUCTURE OF DEPOSITS ON 12/31/2018
447, 3%
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Mortgage saving
agreements
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Negotiable deposits

19%

Other passbook accounts

in this category and are positioned favorably with outstanding business
up respectively by 9.6% and 10.3%. The group is therefore taking its place
to support and retain individual customers by financing their expenses for
equipment and improvements or for purchasing cars.

Support to corporate and professional customers also has good momentum,
whether through the networks, with equipment loans outstanding up by
10% to 86.5 billion, or via specialized finance leasing subsidiaries, for which
outstanding business (€14.3 billion at the end of 2018) grew by 8.8%.

STRUCTURE OF LOANS ON 12/31/2018
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In 2018, the growth in outstanding loans, which was greater than that of deposits (+7.5% against +5.5%) led to a 2.3 point increase in the loan/deposit

ratio, which stood at 121.9% at the end of December 2018.
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B Customer loans

Insurance

The insurance business line of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale now covers
12.2 million insured parties (+4.1%) through nearly 31 million contracts and
extends through the distribution networks of Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe.

The global revenue of Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel (GACM)
stood at €12.1 billion, up by 7.4%. All branches contributed strongly to
this development, with a sustained increase in life insurance/retirement
premium income (+8.6%) and in risk insurance (+6.0%).

In life insurance, gross premium income stood at €6.8 billion, a significant
increase, after 2017 when it fell. The strategy of orienting premium income
towards more account units was maintained in 2018, sustained by the
controlled management which supplemented the financial offers. The share
of unit-linked policies in premium income stands at 28.4%, in line with the
market (28.2%).

The combined effect of the increase in gross premium income and the
slowdown in redemptions enabled net premium income to reach €1 billion,
strongly up compared to the end of December 2017 (€46 million).

Concerning property insurance, revenue stood at €2.1 billion. The housing
branch, for which the offer was reviewed at the end of 2017 on the non-
occupying owners segment, has production at its highest level. The car
insurance offers also continue to perform very well. The portfolios thus
grew steadily, respectively at +4.7% and +4.1%.

The market for professionals continues to grow strongly, both in property
insurance and in group health. The multi-risk portfolio for professionals
grew by nearly 25% in 2018, group health insurance by more than 10%.
In response to the network’s strong demand, the insurance offerings for
professionals will be strengthened in 2019 with decennial civil liability
insurance, which will allow for growth in the Building and Public Works
sector.

Personal insurance is a strong element of the strategy of GACM. The fiscal
year ended with revenue up by 5.4% and a portfolio of nearly 14.6 million
contracts, up by 3.2%. A new individual health offer was made available
in April 2018, consisting of a complete range of supplementary insurance,
hospitalization coverage and a products dedicated to prevention and well-
being. Simultaneously, a new help tool for sales was made available to
the network. The latter includes a reimbursement simulator that allows
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customers to understand with full transparency the level of insurance
coverage offered. These improvements energized sales of individual health
insurance, which posted growth, excluding hospitalization contracts, of
5.3%.

In personal risk insurance, the Funeral offer was profoundly reviewed. It
supplements the renewal of the range that was initiated in 2017.

Lastly, in 2018, the GACM released a new insurance policy for borrowers.

Services activities

The intention of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale to offer its members
and customers a set of services that fulfil their day-to-day requirements
is illustrated in the development of a wide range of high-performance
services, notably in telephony, remote monitoring, property sales and
electronic wallets.

Euro-Information Télécom

In 2018, Euro-Information Télécom advanced its full MVNO offer, unique in
Europe (interconnected using 4G with three infrastructure operators). In
this regard, a vast program to migrate the core network was begun in 2018
and will be spread over two years, to enable the use of new 4G services
including VoLTE (4G voice) and to prepare the evolution of the architecture
for the arrival of bG. At the same time, EIT finalized the technical project
relative to the launch of a fixed ultrafast broadband offer, in partnership
with SFR (commercial launch in December 2018). This year was therefore
marked by a unique and unprecedented effort in terms of development
and technical projects. This was the result of the strategic choice to have
a latest-generation access network in ultrafast broadband, today mobile-
centric and tomorrow convergent between fixed and mobile.

Commercially, Euro-Information Télécom had net positive growth
of 200,000 customers. The estate of active lines on the EIT network stood
at 1,867,000 at the end of December, 2018. On the general-public market,
EIT is continuing to develop its white label brands Auchan Telecom and
Cdiscount mobile alongside its historical brands NRJ Mobile, Crédit Mutuel
Mobile and CIC Mobile. On BtoB, the year was marked by the development
and expansion of corporate markets, particularly from CIC and BECM.

www.creditmutuel.fr



Euro Protection Surveillance (EPS)

In 2018, Euro Protection Surveillance continued its development and now
has nearly 470,000 subscribers (+6.2%). EPS is thus consolidating its place
as the number 1 in residential remote monitoring in France, holding about
31% of the market (Source: Atlas de la Sécurité 2018/Internal data).

In 2018, EPS released its first video offer for private individuals and more
than 1,800 cameras were installed.

The Lyf Pay electronic wallet

Lyf Pay, born of the merger between Fivory and Wa! (BNPPJ in 2017, offers a
mobile, innovative and industrial payment solution, simplifying the customer
experience by dematerializing payment and loyalty services.

The aim of Lyf Pay is to respond to the new challenges that currently face
merchant and payment players, which are the development of new and
smooth omni-channel purchasing experiences, control of the customer
relationship and of the data arising from it.

With more than 1.3 million downloads, Lyf Pay has the ambition of
facilitating the daily lives of its users by grouping, in the same application,
all functionalities that connected consumers need on a day-to-day basis:
payment in shops or over the Internet, dematerialization of loyalty services,
payment between friends, payment of gifts, sharing expenses, and soon,
a collaborative kitty.

Profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

Lyf Pay is a proven solution that is already operational in numerous large-
scale retailers everywhere in France, such as Casino and Auchan, during
sporting and cultural events, as well as in the non-profit world.

CM-CIC Immobilier
The real estate subsidiary CM-CIC Immobilier is organized around the
following activities:

CM-CIC Agence Immobiliere [AFEDIM]) markets new housing units
throughout France. The management of new housing units purchased by
investors is assigned to CM-CIC Gestion Immobiliere. CM-CIC Aménagement
Foncier produces and markets building land. ATARAXIA Promotion builds
real estate development programs and CM-CIC Réalisations immaobilieres
(SOFEDIM] carries out joint real estate development. Lastly, CM-CIC
Participations Immobiliéres participates in round table events in real estate
development operations on the national territory.

For 2018, CM-CIC Agence Immobiliere reserved 8,995 housing units (9,904
in 2017), down by 9% compared to 2017 (-209 housing units).

Concerning the portfolio of property management contracts, ZEN INVEST,
CM-CIC Gestion Immobiliere manages 19,430 contracts (16,010 on
12/31/2017) representing an increase of 21% compared to 2017; the new
ZEN INVEST contracts, signed by CM-CIC Agence Immobiliére stood at
4,075 (4,534 in 2017) over 8,995 housing units reserved.

(in € millions] 2018 2017 Changes
Net banking income 14,070 14,009 +0.4%
General operating expenses -8,714 -8,458 +3.0%
Gross operating income 5,356 5,551 -3.5%
Cost of risk -904 -871 +3.8%
Operating income 4,452 4,680 -4.9%
Profit/loss on other assets and associates 111 -346 ns
Profit/(loss) before tax 4,563 4,334 +5.3%
Income tax -1,569 1,929 -18.6%
Net corporation tax profits & losses on discontinued activities 0 22 ns
Net profit/(loss) 2,993 2,427 +23.3%
non-controlling interests 298 219 +36.2%

Net banking income

The net banking income, at €14,070 million, is up by 0.4% thanks to a
good level of commercial activity and in spite of difficult and more volatile
market circumstances.

Income from retail banking is up by 2.5%, driven both by dynamic
commissions (+2.3%) and the confirmation of the trend seen during the
year of a rise in interest margin (+2.5%).

Insurance benefited from the strong and continued growth in its revenue
and the consolidation, in the first half of 2018, of the activities of Nord
Europe Assurances; net insurance income is up by 3.3%.

The confirmed growth in private banking and private equity activities
enabled these business lines to show an increase in their contribution to
income of respectively 8.3% and 7.2%.

Net banking income from corporate banking and capital markets (4% of the
group total] dropped by 16.5%, given the rather unfavorable environment
on this activity.
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fiscal year ending on December 31

(in € millions) 2018 2017 Changes
Retail banking 10,284 10,031 +2.5%
Insurance 1,822 1764 -6.4%*
Corporate banking and capital markets 639 765 -16.5%
Private banking 551 509 +4.9%*
Private equity 278 259 +72%
Logistics and holding company services 1,330 1,459 -8.8%
Interactivities -83b 177 ns
TOTAL 14,070 14,009 +0.4%

* At constant scope.

The geographical breakdown of the net banking income of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale shows the predominance of the banking and insurance activities
in the group’s domestic market, France, which represents 77% of the net banking income from the commercial business lines during the 2018 fiscal year.

The table below gives the breakdown of the group’s net banking income (all activity sectors) by geographic area for the fiscal years 2017 and 2018.

(in € millions] 2018 2017 Changes
France 10,951 11,060 -1.0%
Europe outside France 2,940 2,776 +5.9%
Other countries 179 173 +4.0%
TOTAL 14,070 14,009 +0.4%

In accordance with Article 7 of the law 2013-672 dated July 26,2013 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, modifying Article L.511-45, which requires
credit institutions to publish information on their establishments and their activities in each state or territory, the table below details the activity of Crédit

Mutuel Alliance Fédérale in the various countries where it is established.
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Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

The country of each establishment is mentioned in the consolidation scope. The group has no establishments that fulfill the criteria defined by the order
dated October 6, 2009 in non-cooperative states or territories shown on the list fixed by the order dated January 17, 2014.

Profit or loss Other tax and

Net banking  before taxes Current Deferred social security Public
Country income and duties taxes taxes contributions Workforce subsidies
Germany 1,616 625 -148 21 -106 5,803 0
Belgium 145 44 -16 2 -8 610 0
Spain 412 87 -30 8 -21 2,469 0
United States of America 118 78 -8 4 -10 87 0
France 10,948 5,273 -1,224 -66 -1,797 52,113 0
Hong-Kong 7 2 -0 0 -0 13 0
Hungary 36 5 0 0 -2 338 0
Italy 49 6 -0 0 -4 236 0
Luxembourg 335 166 -33 4 -27 936 0
Morocco* 0 73 0 0 0 0 0
Monaco 2 1 0 -0 -0 9 0
Poland 2 -1 0 0 -0 46 0
Portugal 172 94 -30 3 -6 714 0
Czech Republic 7 -2 0 0 -1 146 0
United Kingdom 38 22 2 0 -4 68 0
Saint Martin (Dutch part) 3 1 0 0 -0 9 0
Singapore 51 33 -3 0 -4 137 0
Slovakia 2 -3 0 0 -1 57 0
Switzerland 125 44 -6 -1 -11 338 0
Tunisia* 0 18 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL 14,070 6,565 -1,495 74 -2,002 64,129 0

* Equity consolidated companies.

Gross operating income

The gross operating income stood at €5,356 million in 2018, against
€5,551 million in 2017.

The group’s general operating expenses, at €8,714 million, remain very
well controlled, with an increase of 1.2% after neutralization of exceptional
elements related to social policy (purchasing power bonus, additional profit-
sharing), entries into scope and in spite of the continuation of technological
investments for the digital transformation. They include a contribution to
the European Central Bank’s Single Resolution Fund of €138 million, up by
27 million compared to 2017, representing an increase of 24%.

For the retail bank, the major business line of the group (67% of net banking
income), the cost/income ratio stood at 63.2%, almost stable (+0.1 point)
over one year (excluding the contribution to the Single Resolution Fund, it
is actually totally stable at 62.4%).

Analysis of the cost of risk and non-performing loans

The cost of risk stood at €204 million in 2018, of which 742 million was
for the cost of proven risk, which was down by 11.3%, illustrating the good
quality of the assets. Related to outstanding customer loans, the cost of
proven risk was at a low level of 19 basis points (bp), against 23 bp at the
end of December 2017.

The cost of non-proven risk is up, mainly attributable to the application
of the new accounting standard “IFRS 9", which obliges performing loans
to be provisioned, which automatically increases the cost of risk when
commercial activity increases.

The share of non-performing loans in gross loans is down, going from 3.34%
on December 31,2017 to 3.05% as of December 31, 2018.
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Cost of risk in % of loans to customers 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Bank networks 0.10% 0.13%
Private individuals®? 0.03% 0.04%
Home loans®? 0.01% 0.02%
Consumer loans - TARGOBANK in Germany 1.39% 1.32%
Consumer loans - COFIDIS 2.24% 2.36%
Corporate banking® -0.03% 0.11%
Private banking 0.01% 0.05%
COST OF OVERALL CUSTOMER RISK 0.22% 0.24%
(1] Networks [excluding TARGOBANK in Germany, COFIDIS and support network subsidiaries].
(2] Excluding TARGOBANK in Spain.
(3] Large companies, International (including foreign branches), specialized financing.
(in € billions] 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Gross amount of outstanding loans to customers 379.0 352.0
Gross non-performing loans 11.6 11.8
Provisions for depreciation of receivables 8.1 7.0
of which provisions for depreciation of non-performing receivables 6.3 6.4
of which provisions for depreciation on performing loans 18 05
Share of non-performing loans in gross loans 3.05% 3.34%
Overall coverage rate 70.0% 59.7%

See the report on risks in chapter 3.3 of the 2018 registration document for more extensive information concerning the group’s credit portfolio, the risks
related to off-balance-sheet commitments, provisions and non-performing exposure.

Operating income

The operating income dropped by 4.9% to €4,452 billion in 2018, against
4,680 billion in 2017.

Other elements of the income statement

Proportionate share in the net profit/(loss] of equity consolidated
companies. The proportionate share of the group in the net profit/(loss)
of equity consolidated companies is 67 million in 2018, mainly including
Banque Marocaine du Commerce Extérieur (BMCE Bank of Africa), Banque
de Tunisie and Royale Marocaine d’Assurance. In 2017, this item included
the recognition of the capital loss on Banco Popular securities following
its transfer to Santander in June according to the decision of the Single
Resolution Board (impact €121 million net after tax) and the depreciation
of the value of the equity-consolidated securities of BMCE Bank of Africa
to their market price (€175 million).

Profit or loss on other assets. Profit or loss on other assets showed a net
profit of €44 million, notably including the effect of the initial consolidation
of Bangue de Luxembourg Investissements.

Changes in the value of goodwill. Nil in 2018.

Profit/(loss) before tax

Profit/(loss) before tax, at €4,663 million, was up by 5.3% in 2018 compared
to 2017.

Net profit/(loss)

Corporate income tax dropped by 18.6%. The 2018 contribution of Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale to mandatory deductions (taxes, tax on salaries,
local taxes and specific taxes) stood at €2 billion, representing 56% of
its profit/(loss) before tax in France. As a reminder, the non-recurring
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surcharge imposed on large companies, to partly compensate for the
unconstitutional nature of the tax on dividends, stood at €296 million
in 2017.

The net profit/(loss) stood at €2,993 million, up by 23.3% over one year
thanks to income holding up well, good control of risk and the non-
recurrence of certain expenses recognized in 2017.

Profit/(loss) per activity of Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale

Description of the business divisions

1/ The retail bank: this business groups the local Caisses de Crédit Mutuel
of the 11 federations, the CIC network, Banque Européenne du Crédit
Mutuel, CIC Iberbanco, TARGOBANK in Germany and in Spain, the COFIDIS
Participations group, Bangue Casino and all specialized activities for which
the marketing of products is done by the networks: equipment leasing
and leasing with purchase option, real estate leasing, factoring, asset
management, employee savings and real estate sales and management.

2/ Insurance: the insurance business line consists of the Groupe des
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel.

3/ Corporate banking: it offers services to customers consisting of
large companies and institutionals, as part of an overall approach to their
requirements, both in France and in the foreign branches of CIC ([New
York, London, Singapore and Hong-Kong]. It also relies on the action of
the “corporate” networks for their large customers, and contributes to
the development of international business and to the implementation of
specialized financing.

www.creditmutuel.fr



4/ Capital markets the group’s capital markets business is shown on the
balance sheet of CIC. It includes the interest rates investment business,
shares and loans and the commercial business (CM-CIC Market Solutions)
in France and in the branches in New York and Singapore.

5/ Private banking: the companies composing the business line operate
in France through CIC Banque Transatlantique and abroad through the
intermediary of the subsidiaries and branches: Banque de Luxembourg,
Banque CIC Suisse, Bangue Transatlantique Luxembourg, Banque
Transatlantique Belgium, Banque Transatlantique Londres.

6/ Private equity this business line is exercised by CM-CIC Investissement
which, based in Paris, has branches in Lyon, Nantes, Lille, Bordeaux and
Strasbourg, thus ensuring proximity with customers, while addressing a
gradual international development phase. It brings together the businesses
of equity investment, mergers/acquisitions consulting and financial and
stock-market engineering.

Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

7/ 1T, logistics and press & holding: this division groups

m firstly, the group’s IT companies, logistics organizations and the press
activity (IT, logistics and press);

m secondly, the custodian and central treasury/refinancing activities of the
group [since January 2017) as well as all the elements not assigned to
another activity (holding).

The retail bank

Retail banking is by far the group’s most important business sector. In 2018,
67% of the group’s net banking income came from the retail banking
business line. The table below presents the elements constituting the
profit/loss of the retail bank for the fiscal years 2017 and 2018.

(in € millions] 2018 2017 Changes
Net banking income 10,284 10,031 +2.5%
General operating expenses -6,495 -6,327 +2.7%
Gross operating income 3,789 3,704 +2.3%
Cost of risk -867 -849 +2.1%
Profit/loss on other assets and associates 6 -7 ns
Profit/(loss) before tax 2,928 2,849 +2.8%
Income tax -1,039 -996 +4.4%
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) 1,889 1,853 +2.0%

The networks and specialized subsidiaries of the retail bank have sound
commercial momentum, with a net banking income of €10,284 million, up
by 2.5% over one year.

This development reflects the favorable increase in interest margin,
volumes having compensated for the negative context of interest rates,
together with the growth in commissions.

Outstanding loans thus increased by 6.8% to €329.1 billion, while
outstanding deposits made by customers, at 267.5 billion, changed by
5.4% over one year. Outstanding life insurance business also continued to
develop favorably by 1.9% to €71.5 billion.

General operating expenses are up by 2.7%, in line with income and notably
under the effect of social measures in favor of purchasing power.

Gross operating income, at €3,789 million, grew by 2.3% and the cost/
income ratio of the retail bank is practically stable at 63.2% (+0.1 pp).

The overall cost of risk is up by €18 million. It covers, firstly, a drop of
66 million in proven depreciation on customer loans, as well as an increase
of 85 million in the cost of non-proven risk. The latter is related to the
impact of the entry into force of the accounting standard “IFRS 9", notably
on consumer loans.

The net profit/(loss), at £1,889 million, increased by 2%.

Banking networks

The net banking income of the banking and insurance network of the
Caisses de Crédit Mutuel increased by 1% over one year to €2,977 million,
reflecting the good commercial momentum of the network. The general
operating expenses are up by 4.2%. The cost of proven risk is down by 15.9%,
but the non-proven component suffered a significant increase, which leads
finally to an increase in the cost of overall risk of 13.3%. The net profit/(loss)
is therefore down by 5.8% to €440 million.

The net banking income of the banking and insurance network of the
regional Banks of CIC increased by 1.8% to €3,427 million, reflecting the
good commercial momentum of the networks. General operating expenses
are slightly up by 1.5% and the gross operating income improved by 2.3% to
€1,243 million, enabling the cost/income ratio to gain 0.2 points to 63.7%.
The cost of proven risk was down by 17.7%. It largely compensates for the
increase in the non-proven component and leads to a drop in the overall
cost of risk by 7.8%. The net profit/(loss) remained stable at €661 million.

On December 31, 2018, the net banking income of the BECM was up by
2.3% to €300 million. The interest margin increased by 3.7% due to the
drop in the cost of customer resources and the growth in outstanding
loans. General operating expenses stood at £€96.8 million, i.e. +3.7%. The
cost/income ratio stands at 32.2%, slightly up by 0.4 points. The cost of
risk stands at €31.3 million, representing 0.22% of average outstanding
business, reflecting the very good quality of assets. The net profit/(loss)
stood at €110.3 million as of December 31, 2018, up by 9.8%.

The net banking income of TARGOBANK in Germany stood at €1,602 million,
a 3.8% increase reflected in the net profit/(loss], which is at £343.7 million
(+4.1%).

Support services for retail banking

The net banking income of COFIDIS increased by €40.4 million, driven
by the development of the commercial activity. Operating expenses
include significant IT investments in Portugal, Italy and in the countries
of Central Europe related to the integration of acquisitions within the
internal information systems. The other operational costs are increasing
in line with the growth in the activity. The cost of risk increased by
€14.7 million compared to 2017, related in particular to the implementation
of the IFRS 9 standard, which implies provisioning for performing loans,
with a consequent increase in provisioning, given the good commercial
momentum over 2018. Given these elements, the contributory net profit/
(loss) stands at €202 million, down by 8.8 million compared to 2017.
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Insurance

In 2018, 12% of the net banking income of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale came from the insurance business line. The table below details the elements
making up the net profit/(loss) of the insurance business line for the fiscal years 2017 and 2018. The comparative quantified information and the amounts
for the 2017 fiscal year delivered below are indicated in values on a like-for-like basis following the consolidation on January 1, 2018 of the insurance

holding company Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe.

(in € millions] 2018 2017 Changes
Net insurance income 1,822 1,947 -6.4%
General operating expenses -684 -5676 +156%
Gross operating income 1,238 1,371 -9.7%
Profit/loss on other assets and associates 28 22 +31.0%
Profit/(loss) before tax 1,266 1,393 -9.1%
Income tax -423 -585 -277%
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) 844 808 +4.4%

The operating margin of the Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel
(GACM) was down, notably due to the drop in the financial markets.
Additional provisions for credit protection insurance due to a rise in claims
forincapacity and invalidity and claims expenses related to natural events
that were greater in 2018 also had an unfavorable impact on underwriting
income. Natural events caused more than 80,000 claims for compensation
exceeding €130 million, representing €50 million more than during the

Corporate banking and capital markets

previous year, which was itself affected by numerous events including
hurricane Irma.

The profit/(loss) contributed by insurance to the profit/loss of Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale was up by 4.4% and stood at €844 million. The net
profit/(loss) of the GACM is €855 million, against €821 million, representing
an increase of 4.2%.

This profit/(loss) includes a payment of commissions to the distribution
networks of €1,510 million.

In 2018, 4% of the net banking income of the group came from the corporate banking and capital markets activities. The table below presents the elements
making up the profit/loss of the corporate banking and capital markets business line for the fiscal years 2017 and 2018.

(in € millions] 2018 2017 Changes
Net banking income 639 765 -16.5%
General operating expenses -324 -321 +0.8%
Gross operating income 316 (771 -28.9%
Cost of risk 8 1 ns
Profit/(loss) before tax 323 433 -25.3%
Income tax -86 -142 -39.2%
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) 237 291 -18.6%

Corporate banking
Net outstanding loans to customers of the corporate bank stand at
€19.3 billion, up by 12.9%.

The net banking income at €395 million is up by 3.4% with an increase in
net interest margin of 5.8%.

General operating expenses increased by 3.1% to €112 million, with a
contribution to the Single Resolution Fund that was €3 million greater
than that of the previous year.

The cost of risk showed income of €2 million against an expense of
€19 million one year earlier, with a cost of proven risk which saw an income
of €9 million at the end of 2018 against an expense of €38 million at the
end of 2017. The cost of non-proven risk was nil at the end of 2018, against
an income of €19 million at the end of 2017.

Profit/(loss) before tax stood at €292 million, up by 14.8% compared to
December 31, 2017. Net profit/(loss) reached €217 million, compared to
€179 million a year earlier.
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Capital markets

During 2018, the capital markets had a difficult market context, particularly
due to portfolio valuations at the end of the year, resulting in net banking
income down by 36.3% to €244 million after allocation, to activities and
entities related to customers, of income resulting from commercial
transactions.

Capital markets are mainly intended to develop an offer to customers.
The net banking income of CM-CIC Market Solutions before retrocession
to other entities of the group increased by 25% but, like other business
centers of the group, its profit/(loss) after retrocession is merely in balance.

Payments to other entities of the group, deducted from the net banking
income from capital markets business, stand at a total of €82 million, up
by 40% over 2017.

The general operating expenses are stable.

The cost of risk had an expense of €1 million at the end of 2018, against
an income of €8 million at the end of 2017.

Profit/(loss) before tax stood at €31 million, against €179 million the
previous year and net profit/(loss] stood at €20 million against €112 million.
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Private banking

FINANCIAL INFORMATION FROM CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE I
Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

In 2018, 4% of net banking income from Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale came from the private banking business line. The table below presents the elements
constituting the profit/(loss) of the private banking business line for the fiscal years 2017 and 2018.

(in € millions] 2018 2017 Changes*
Net banking income 551 509 +4.9%
General operating expenses -375 -353 +3.3%
Gross operating income 176 155 +8.4%
Cost of risk -16 -5 ns
Profit/loss on other assets and associates 26 4 ns
Profit/(loss) before tax 186 154 +16.1%
Income tax -47 35 +18.5%
Net corporation tax profits & losses on discontinued activities 0 22 ns
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) 139 141 -2.8%

* At constant scope - see methodological details.

Account deposits of the private bank increased by 15.6% to €22 billion.
Customer funds invested in group savings products stood at £88.4 billion
(€93.6 billion at the end of 2017). Outstanding loans stood at €13 billion
(+12%).

Net banking income stood at €551 million, up by 4.9%. The net interest
margin and other elements of NBI increased by 9.5% and commissions
by 1.5%.

General operating expenses stood at €375 million (+3.3%).
The cost of risk stood at €16 million, against €5 million the previous year.
Net profits on non-current assets stood at €26 million (€4 million in 2017),

Private equity

of which €18 million was generated by the first consolidation of the Banque
de Luxembourg Investissement.

Profit/(loss) before tax stood at €186 million, up by 16.1% and net profit/
(loss) stood at €139 million, against 141 million of which €22 million of profit/
(loss) net of tax on discontinued activities on December 31,2017 (disposals
of the private banking business in Singapore and Hong-Kong in 2017).

These results do not include those of the CIC private banking branches
which are included in the CIC networks; they are intended to mainly serve
company manager customers.

In 2018, 2% of net banking income from Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale came from the private equity business line. The table below presents the elements
constituting the profit/(loss) of the private equity business line for the fiscal years 2017 and 2018.

(in € millions) 2018 2017 Changes
Net banking income 278 259 +7.2%
General operating expenses -50 -47 +4.3%
Gross operating income 229 212 +7.9%
Cost of risk 1 0 ns
Profit/(loss) before tax 230 212 +8.3%
Income tax 1 1 -13.7%
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) 231 213 +8.2%

Assets invested under proprietary trading stand at €2.3 billion, of which
334 million invested in 2018 by all entities of the private equity division.
About €1.9 billion was provided in equity over the last five years. The
portfolio is composed of nearly 335 equity investments excluding funds,
the great majority of which are composed of companies that are customers
of the group’s networks. The capital managed on behalf of third parties
stands at €157 million.

The private equity business had good performance in 2018, with net
banking income of €278 million on December 31,2018, against €259 million
in 2017 and net profit/(loss) stood at €231 million against €213 million a
year before.

(in € billions] 12/31/2018
Accumulation of capital invested by the group 2,348
Value of the group’s portfolio, excluding capital managed on behalf of third parties 2,529
Investments during the year 334
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Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

IT, logistics, press and holding
These activities are composed of two separate sectors.

The first groups the activities which are not attached to one of the other
business lines, such as the historical equity investments of the group in the
companies of the press and media sector established in the east of France,
El Télécom, which provides mobile telephony services to customers of the
retail bank, Euro Protection Surveillance, which delivers remote monitoring
services to individuals, and Lyf Pay, the group’s electronic wallet. It also
includes the information systems, the group’s real estate, the services
of the Consulting and Service Centre (ex CM-CIC Services), a subsidiary

created in May 2008 to centralize and rationalize logistics, payment
processes, services platforms and support services intended for members
of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale and the local banks of other federations.

The second groups the coordination and carrying activities of the
subsidiaries as well as the equity investments and acquisitions of the group
(notably amortization of valuation differences and costs of refinancing
acquisitions), as well as the start-up expenses of new branches and local
banks, and lastly, the proportionate share of accounting by the equity
method of entities in which the group holds non-controlling interests.

The table below presents the elements constituting the profit/(loss) of the IT, logistics and press/holding business line for the fiscal years 2017 and 2018.

(in € millions] 2018 2017 Changes
Net banking income 1,330 1,459 -8.8%
General operating expenses -1,722 -1,665 +3.4%
Gross operating income -392 -206 ns
Cost of risk -30 -6 ns
Profit/loss on other assets and associates 50 -374 ns
Profit/(loss) before tax -372 -587 ns
Income tax 25 226 ns
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) -346 -813 ns

The net banking income from the logistics and holding business line stood
at €1,330 million in 2018, against €1,459 million in 2017. These figures are
explained as follows:

m the “logistics” activity of the group generated net banking income or
commercial margins for a total amount of €1,439 million in 2018 against
€1,318 million in 2017, representing an increase of 9.2% (+121 million).
This increase results mainly from the growth of Euro-Information,
Euro-Information Développement, Euro Protection Surveillance and
El Télécom. The contribution from the press sector dropped by 17 million
to €273 million;

m the holding activities of the group generated negative net banking
income of €382 million in 2018, notably including the cost of carry of
fixed expenditure, the cost of equity and development plans.

The general operating expenses increased by 3.4%, going from €1,665 million
in 2017 to €1,722 million in 2018, in line with the increase in the activity of
the group’s IT structures.

The cost of risk of this business line stood at -€30 million in 2018; it is
composed of unpaid debts at El Télécom and provisions for miscellaneous
risks.

In 2018, the item “net profit/loss on other assets and associates” recorded
income of €50 million, mainly corresponding to the share attributable to
the group in the positive result of equity consolidated companies, including

Bangue Marocaine du Commerce Extérieur (BMCE Bank of Africa) and
Bangue de Tunisie. In 2017, it was negative by €374 million, mainly due to
the impact of the resolution of Banco Popular.

The corporate income tax accounted for an income of 25 million in 2018,
against a tax expense of €226 million in 2017, related to the non-recurring
surcharge imposed on large companies to partly compensate for the
unconstitutional nature of the tax on dividends.

Thus, the IT, logistics and press/holding activities recorded net profit/(loss)
of -€346 million in 2018, compared to -€813 million in 2017.

Financial position of Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale

Balance sheet

From January 1, 2018, the group has applied the IFRS ¢ standard as adopted
by the European Union on November 22, 2016. The group made the choice,
offered by the transitional arrangements of the standard, not to restate
the data from previous fiscal years. Consequently, for the balance sheet,
the comparative data presented opposite the data for December 31,2018
in the consolidated financial statements and the comments below is that
of January 1, 2018.

12/31/2018 01/01/2018 12/31/2017
(in € millions] IFRS 9 IFRS 9 IAS 39
BALANCE SHEET TOTAL CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE 667,364 618,256 619,199

The balance sheet total stood at £667.4 billion as of December 31, 2018, up by 7.9% compared to January 1, 2018 (+49.1 billion).
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The impact of the first application of the IFRS 9 standard was a reduction
by €943 million in the balance sheet total of the group, which thus dropped
to €618,256 million. This fall came mainly from the following factors:

m the application of the new model for recognizing credit risk caused
adjustment to depreciation on financial assets at amortized cost
[increase of €1.1 billion). Most of this adjustment concerns loans to
customers;

m the effect of these adjustments on deferred taxes generates an increase
in tax assets.

The structure of the balance sheet is the reflection of the commercial
banking activity of the group and the measures taken by the group to
strengthen its financial structure in order to meet the new regulatory
requirements that will be applicable in the forthcoming years. In particular:

m the group finances a greater share of loans to customers through
deposits, this development being in line with the strategy used by
the group over the last few years. The loans/deposits ratio gradually
improved: it stood at 121.9% as of December 31, 2018, against 148.4%
in 2010;

m the group’s liquidity risk was strictly managed under a system controlled
by BFCM based on a centralized risk management system, described
in chapter 3.3 Report on risks. Thus, significant progress was made
concerning the Basel 3 liquidity ratios which are now beyond the
threshold of 100%; the LCR stood at 131.2% on average over 2018;

m Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale had surplus stable resources of
€31.6 billion over stable expenditure. This situation results from a policy
that for several years has been focused on strengthening deposits and
extending market debt.

The ratio between non-performing loans and total loans to customers
went from 3.34% as of December 31,2017 to 3.05% on December 31,2018.
Furthermore, the non-performing loan coverage ratio of the group stood
at 70% as of December 31, 2018.

On December 31, 2018, equity capital stood at €43.6 billion and Common
Equity Tier 1 stood at 35.5 billion. The ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 without
transitional measures stood at 16.6%, one of the best at the European level.
The overall ratio without transitional measures stood at 19.7% and the
leverage ratio with the application of the delegated act without transitional
measures at 6.0% (it would stand at 6.2% with exemption of the centralized
regulated savings assets according to the decision of the EU court on
July 13, 2018).

Assets

Summary. The consolidated assets of the group stood at €667.4 billion on
December 31,2018 compared to €618.3 billion as of January 1, 2018 (+7.9%).

This 7.9% increase in total assets (+49.1 billion) comes mainly from the
increase in loans and receivables to customers (+€27.7 billion, representing
+8.1%) and investments from the insurance business line (+£€15.7 billion,
representing +14.8%).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss include financial instruments held for
trading (including derivative instruments] and certain financial assets
designated by the group at fair value through profit or loss on the date of
their acquisition (including securities held by the private equity business
line). These assets are revalued at their fair value during each closure.

The total amount of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss stood
at €18.6 billion as of December 31, 2018 against €16 billion on January 1,
2018, representing an increase of 16.9%. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss represented 2.8% of the total assets of the group
on December 31, 2017.

Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

Financial assets at fair value through equity. Financial assets at fair
value through equity mainly include bonds and other debt securities for
€17.1 billion and government securities for 9.6 billion.

Loans and receivables to credit institutions. Loans and receivables to
credit institutions are composed of demand deposits, inter-bank loans and
securities subject to repurchase agreements. Loans and receivables to
credit institutions reached €44.2 billion as of December 31,2018, compared
to €41.2 billion on January 1, 2018.

Loans and receivables to customers. Loans and receivables to customers
stood at €370.9 hbillion on December 31, 2018, against €343.2 hillion on
January 1, 2018, representing an increase of 8.1%.

Liabilities (excluding shareholders’ equity)

Summary. The consolidated liabilities of the group excluding shareholders’
equity stood at €623.8 billion as of December 31,2018 against €578.3 billion
on January 1, 2018 (+7.9%). These liabilities include subordinated debt at
€7.2 billion on December 31, 2018 and €7.7 billion on January 1, 2018.
The increase in liabilities other than shareholders’ equity in 2018 mainly
came from the increase in debts due to customers (mainly deposits]
of €156.9 billion (+5.5%) and liabilities relative to contracts for insurance
business of €14 billion (+13.8%).

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The total amount
of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (held for trading)
stood at €4.4 billion on December 31,2018 against €5.4 billion on January 1,
2018, down by 19.4%.

Due to credit institutions. Debts due to credit institutions increased by
€6.7 billion (+14.2%) to stand at €53.6 billion as of December 31, 2018.

Due to customers. Debts due to customers are mainly composed of demand
deposits, term deposits, regulated savings accounts and securities subject
to repurchase agreements. Debts due to customers stood at €304.3 billion
as of December 31, 2018 and €288.4 billion on January 1, 2018. This
increase mainly comes from that of current accounts, passbook accounts
and mortgage saving agreements.

Debt securities at amortized cost. Debt securities are composed of
negotiable certificates of deposit and bond issues. Debt securities stood
at €119.7 billion as of December 31, 2018, up by 6.4% compared to January 1,
2018.

Liabilities related to contracts of the insurance business line. Liabilities
related to contracts of the insurance business line stood at €115.6 billion as
of December 31,2018 against €101.5 billion on January 1,2018, representing
an increase of 13.8%.

Consolidated equity

The consolidated equity attributable to the group stood at €40.3 billion on
December 31, 2018 against €37.7 billion on January 1, 2018, the change
mostly corresponding to net carryover from 2018.

The non-controlling interests went from €2,293 million on January 1, 2018
to €3,306 million on December 31, 2018.

Liquidity and financing

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale’s central cash management is based on
appropriate calibration of resources in the short, medium and long terms
with the objective of refinancing the group in an efficient and prudent
manner. It is formalized by public issues and private placements on national
and international markets as well as by holding a liquidity reserve adapted
to compliance with regulatory liquidity ratios and the resistance of the
group to severe stress.
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The gradual resumption of inflation in the Eurozone, the gradual cessation
of the repurchase of assets by the European Central Bank, the continuation
of the increase in rates in the United States, political risks in Europe and
international trade tensions, notably between the United States and China,
contributed to the tense and irregular functioning of the debt market
in 2018.

In total, the external resources raised on the markets by the Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale group treasury via BFCM and its subsidiary Crédit Mutuel -
CIC Home Loan SFH stood at €138 billion at the end of December 2018,
representing an increase of 4.56% compared to the end of 2017.

Short money-market resources (at less than 1 year] represented exposure
of £€49.6 billion at the end of 2018 and increased by 5.2% in relation to the
previous fiscal year. They represented 36% of all market resources raised,
a stable share compared to the previous year (36% in 2017). Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale has all of the short-term issue programs (NeuCP, ECP,
London CDs) necessary for the proper diversification of its resources. In
order to diversify the investor base, 21% of resources are issued in US
dollars and 17% in pounds sterling. These resources in foreign currencies
are then mostly converted to euros.

The medium and long-term (MLT) resources stood at £€88.4 billion at the
end of 2018, representing an increase of 4.1% compared to 2017. In 2018,
Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale established €13.5 billion of MLT resources,
mainly using the BFCM signature, but also that of Crédit Mutuel - CIC Home
Loan SFH, its covered bonds issuing entity, which has the best rating from
the agencies. 69% of these MLT resources were raised in euros and the
balance (representing 31%) in foreign currencies (US dollar, yen, British
pound, Swiss franc, Australian dollar], thus illustrating the efficient pursuit
of diversification of the investor base. The breakdown between public
issues and private placements stood respectively at 71% and 29%.

The refinancing policy also aims to control the proportion of encumbered
assets. Medium-long-term secured (SFH] refinancing represented 15% of
the total medium-long-term refinancing raised in 2018.

The average maturity of medium-long-term resources raised in 2018 was
5.5 years, close to that seen in 2017 (5.8 years).

In 2018, issues in a public format represented €9.6 hillion and breakdown
as follows:

m BFCM in an EMTN senior format:
m €1.5 billion at 7 years, issued in January,
m £2.25 billion at 4 and 10 years, issued in July,
= 800 million British pounds at 4 years, issued in January and July,

= 200 million Swiss francs (two issues of 100 million each at 7 and
8 years), issued in April and in November,

m 1.5 billion US dollars at 5 years, issued in July in a US144A format,

= 1079 billion yen at 5, 7 and 10 years, issued in October in a Samurai
format,

m 200 million Australian dollars at 5 years, issued in November in a
Kangaroo format (inaugural issue for the BFCMJ;

m BFCM in a subordinated EMTN format: €500 million at 10 years, issued
in May;

m Crédit Mutuel - CIC Home Loan SFH: a total of €2 billion on two issues
of €1 billion each at 8 years and 10 years implemented in February and
in April.

On the consolidated scope, the liquidity situation of Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale is the following:

m an average LCR ratio over 2018 of 131.2% [vs 131.4% in 2017);

m HQLA liquidity resource assets of €79.17 billion, 72.6% of which placed
with central banks (mainly the ECB.

The total liquidity reserves over the consolidated perimeter break down as follows:

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale (in € billions] 12/31/2018
Cash deposited in central banks 51.0
LCR securities 225
Other eligible central bank assets 35.8
TOTAL LIQUIDITY RESERVES 109.3

The liquidity reserve covers market resources due at 12 months.

In 2018, the European investment bank allocated, to BFCM, a new
amount of “Loans for small, medium and intermediate-sized companies”
of €250 million usable in two tranches. The first tranche (tranche A)
of €150 million was fully drawn during the 4" quarter over a period of
five years. Tranche B of the amount for “Loans for small, medium and
intermediate-sized companies” is planned to be drawn during the first
half of 2019.

Also, a new partnership with the BEl was signed at the end of
December 2018: “Crédit Mutuel Mid-Cap Co-Financing Platform”. It
concerns loans co-financed by the BEI that fulfill eligibility criteria, the
share of the BEI not being able to exceed €150 million. Another initiative
should take place in 2019 to promote the financing of small, medium and
intermediate-sized businesses.

(1) Without transitory measures.
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Solvency

On December 31,2018, the equity of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale stood
at £43.6 billion (€41 billion on December 31, 2017, €40 billion on January 1,
2018, after the effects of the first application of IFRS 9 except for the
insurance subsidiaries).

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale maintained a high level of financial
solidity with a Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1] ratio at 16.6% at the end of
December 2018, up by 10 bp compared to December 31, 2017. The Tier 1
ratio also stood at 16.6%% at the end of December 2018 and the overall
solvency ratio reached 19.7%.

Weighted exposure by risk stood at €214 billion on December 31, 2018, of
which 190.6 billion (89% of the total] was credit risk. CETL shareholders
equity was €35.5 billion(1) at the end of December 2018, up by 8.7%
(+€2.8 billion).
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The prudential requirements in matters of shareholders equity for 2019,
which result from the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP)
for 2018 carried out by the European Central bank, were notified to Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale:

The Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) requirement that Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale must comply with on a consolidated basis is fixed at 8.50% on
March 1, 2019, of which:

m 1.50% pursuant to the requirements of Pillar 2 (excluding Pillar 2
Guidance, nonpublic);

m 2.50% pursuant to the capital conservation buffer.

The overall solvency requirement is fixed at 12% (excluding Pillar 2
Guidance, nonpublic).

Presentation of the activities and profit/loss of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

The leverage ratio is 6.0% on December 31, 2018, up by 10 bp over one
year thanks to significant generation of capital in relation to a controlled
increase of the balance sheet.

Methodology notes and alternative
performance indicators

Methodology notes

Variations at constant scope

Private banking sector: following the entry into the consolidation scope,
in 2018, of Banque de Luxembourg Investissements, variations at constant
scope are calculated after taking into account this entity in 2017.

These elements are detailed below on the various intermediate management balances:

PRIVATE BANKING
2018 2017 Variation

published published variation in at constant gross at constant
(in € millions) scope scope scope
Net banking income 551 509 16 525 +8.3% +4.9%
General operating expenses -375 -3b3 -10 -363 +6.1% +3.3%
Gross operating income 176 155 7 162 +13.2% +8.4%
Cost of risk -16 -5 -5 ns ns
Operating income 160 150 7 157 +6.8% +2.1%
Net profit/loss on other assets and associates 26 4 4 ns ns
Profit/(loss) before tax 186 154 7 161 +21.2% +16.1%
Income tax -47 -35 -5 -40 +3b.4% +18.5%
Net profit/loss on discontinued activities 0 22 22 ns ns
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) 139 141 2 143 -1.5% -2.8%

(1) Target calculation. It would stand at 6.2% with exemption from the centralized exposure on regulated savings (according to the decision of the EU Court dated July 13, 2018].
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Alternative performance indicators

ARTICLE 223-1 OF THE GENERAL REGULATIONS OF THE FRENCH FINANCIAL MARKETS AUTHORITY/POLICIES OF THE ESMA (ESMA/20151415)

Designation Definition/calculation mode For the ratios, justification of the use
Cost/income ratio Ratio calculated from items on the consolidated income Measurement of the operating efficiency of the bank
statement:

Ratio between general operating expenses (sum of items
“general operating expenses” and “movements in
depreciation, amortization and provisions for property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets” on the consolidated
income statement) and the “net banking income”

Overall cost of customer risk Cost of customer risk from the notes to the consolidated Enables assessment of the level of risk as a percentage
related to the outstanding loans  financial statements related to gross outstanding loans at  of credit commitments on the balance sheet
[expressed in % or in basis points) the end of the period

Cost of risk Item “cost of risk” on the publishable consolidated income ~ Measurement of the level of risk
statement

Customer loans Item “loans and receivables to customers” from the asset ~ Measurement of customer activity in matters of loans
side of the consolidated balance sheet

Customer deposits; Item “Due to customers” on the liability side of the Measurement of customer activities in matters of

account deposits consolidated balance sheet balance-sheet resources

Insurance savings Life insurance assets held by our customers - management Measurement of customer activity in matters of life
data (insurance company) insurance

Bank financial savings Off-balance-sheet savings assets held by our customers or  Measurement representative of the activity in matters
under custodianship (securities accounts, UCITS..] - of off-balance-sheet resources (excluding life insurance)
management data (entities of the group)

Total savings Sum of account deposits, insurance savings and bank Measurement of customer activity in matters of savings
financial savings

General operating expenses Sum of the lines “general operating expenses” and Measurement of the level of general operating expenses

general operating expenses; “movements in depreciation, amortization and provisions for

management expenses property, plant and equipment and intangible assets”

Interest margin; net interest Calculated from the items on the consolidated income Measurement representative of profitability

yield; net interest income statement:

difference between interest received and interest paid:

m interest received = item “interest and similar income”
from the publishable income statement;

m interest paid = item “interest and similar expenses” from
the publishable income statement

Production of loans Amount of new loans released to customers - sources: Measurement of customer activity in matters of new loans
management data, sum of individual data of the entities of
the “retail banking - banking network” segment +COFIDIS

Share of non-performing loans Ratio between gross outstanding receivables subject to Asset quality indicator
in gross loans individual depreciation (S3) and gross customer loans

(calculated from the notes “Loans and receivables to

customers” to the consolidated financial statements: gross

receivables +finance leases)

Alternative performance indicator, reconciliation with the financial statements

COST/INCOME RATIO FOR RETAIL BANKING

(in € millions] 2018 2017
General operating expenses for retail banking -6,495 -6,327
Net banking income for retail banking 10,284 10,031
COST/INCOME RATIO FOR RETAIL BANKING 63.2% 63.1%
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COST/INCOME RATIO FOR RETAIL BANKING EXCLUDING SINGLE RESOLUTION FUND

(in € millions] 2018 2017
General operating expenses for retail banking -6,495 -6,327
Retail banking contribution to the single resolution fund -80 -66
General operating expenses for retail banking excluding single resolution fund contribution -6,415 -6,261
Net banking income for retail banking 10,284 10,031
COST/INCOME RATIO FOR RETAIL BANKING 62.4% 62.4%

COST OF RISK/GROSS OPERATING INCOME

(in € millions) 2018 2017
Cost of risk -904 -871
Gross operating income 5,3b6 5,651
COST OF RISK/GROSS OPERATING INCOME 16.9% 15.7%

NET PROFIT/(LOSS) - REGULATORY ASSETS

(in € millions] 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Net profit/(loss] 2,993 2,427
RWA 214,048 198,374
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) - AVERAGE ASSETS L4% 1.2%

COST OF PROVEN CUSTOMER RISK RELATED TO OUTSTANDING LOANS

(in € millions) 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Cost of proven customer risk 7117 -826
Gross loans to customers 378,995 351,958
COST OF PROVEN CUSTOMER RISK RELATED TO OUTSTANDING LOANS* 0.19% 0.23%
* Annualized.

RATE OF NON-PERFORMING LOANS

12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Gross receivables subject to individual depreciation (S3) 11,577 11,754
Gross loans to customers 378,995 351,958
RATE OF NON-PERFORMING LOANS 3.1% 3.3%
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3.2 RECENT DEVELOPMENTS AND PROSPECTS

3.2.1 Events after the reporting period

No significant event or event likely to have an impact on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018 occurred after closure.

3.2.2 Prospects

In 2018, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale had histarical performance in terms The success of the “Priorité Client Sociétaire 2018" transformation plan
of results arising from the effectiveness of the “Priorité Client Saciétaire and of the multi-service diversification strategy is a genuine asset for the
2018" plan. Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is a strong player, both through initiation of the new strategic plan “ensemble#nouveau monde” built around
its results and the strength of its networks, serving the development of a principle - technology at the service of the human - and an alliance of
the local economy and companies and serving everyone as a cooperative local Caisses de Crédit Mutuel, federations and subsidiaries united in the
and socially-responsible bank. search for efficiency in serving customers and members.
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3.5 MANAGEMENT OF THE RISKS OF CREDIT
MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE

This chapter includes the information required by IFRS 7 on the risks relative to financial instruments.

The figures that were the subject of checks on fairness and coherence specified in Article L.823-10 of the French Commercial Code in the same way as the

“ o

rest of the management report are marked with a “v’.

The periodic control, permanent control and compliance functions provide enhanced security for the processes covering all activities.

The description of the controls, review of reporting and the action plans undertaken are described in the “internal control system and risk monitoring” section.

The risks department consolidates the overall monitoring of risks and optimizes their control, notably through measuring the equity allocated to each activity

and the analysis of profitability generated.

In the rest of this part, the word “group” may be used alone but it should be understood as Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

3.3.1 Risk factors

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is exposed to various risks associated with
its activities of retail banking, insurance, corporate banking and capital
markets, private banking and private equity. The group has set up a process
to identify and measure risks related to its activities which enables it, at
least once a year, to prepare the map of its most significant risks. The
degree of significance arises from a system of scoring gross risks according
torisk indicators and judgments of experts taking into account the position
in the economic cycle and the prospects for changes and the group’s
appetite for risk. The map of risks is subject to the validation of the boards
of directors of the group. Below are the main factors that can significantly
influence the main risks of the group.

1. Credit risk

The economic prospects of the Eurozone, notably those of France,
worsened at the beginning of 2018. The impact of a downturn similar to that
of 2008 on the profitability and solvency of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
through warsening of the quality of loan portfolios could be significant. The
probability of such an occurrence is considered to be low.

Indeed, credit risk constitutes the main risk of Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale, due to its business model. Gross exposure (balance sheet,
off-balance-sheet, derivatives and repurchase agreements) to credit risk
represented €655 billion on December 31, 2018 and mobilized about 89%
of the capital requirements of the group pursuant to Pillar 1 of the Basel 3
regulations.

A serious warsening of the economy, or even a crisis of the magnitude of
that of 2008, could have four types of significant impact on the exposure
of the group to credit risk.

1.1. The first impact would be related to the risk of financial loss due to
the inability of counterparties to fulfill their contractual obligations
(risk of default). The counterparties may be banks, financial institutions,
industrial or commercial companies, states, investment funds or natural
persons. This risk concerns the financing activities (which therefore
appear on the balance sheet of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale) or

12.

13.

guarantee activities (which appear off-balance-sheet) as well as
other activities exposing the group to a risk of counterparty default,
notably its activities related to the trading and settlement/delivery of
financial instruments on the capital markets, and to insurance. This
risk of default is expressed firstly by an aggravation in non-performing
loans and disputed debt, an indicator of default risk; and is also an
important warning factor for regulators and the European supervisor. It
also results in a worsening of the cost of risk related to the provisioning
of these non-performing loans. On December 31,2018, the rate of non-
performing loans [non-performing loans/gross loans to customers)
of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale reached 3.05% and the cost of risk
reached €904 million (related to gross outstanding loans, the cost of
customer risk is 0.22%). However, after the 2008 crisis, the group’s
rate of non-performing loans climbed as far as 4.68% [December 31,
2009), generating a peak in the cost of risk of €1,987 million (the cost
of customer risk representing 0.77% of the gross loans at the time],
over a more restricted scope, given the acquisitions made by the group
since 2009.

The second impact would depend on the method used for calculating
the weighted risks in the denominator of the solvency ratio. In the
standard method, the change in the quality of loans has little impact
on the calculation of weighted risks and therefore on the solvency
ratio. However, when the loan portfolios have an authorization from the
supervisor to use internal models for the calculation of weighted risks,
any worsening of the portfolios concerned aggravates the denominator
of the solvency ratio. Within Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, nearly 70%
of total exposure to credit risk is subject to internal rating®™ for which
the quality determines the calculation of the capital requirements
pursuant to the credit risk under the Basel 3 method and therefore
the group’s solvency ratio. A worsening of the ratings for all or part of
the portfolio would therefore lead to a worsening of the solvency of
the group in relation to the risk of migration of ratings.

Due to the extent of its portfolio of real estate loans (nearly 50% of
customer loans), mainly in France (€173 billion), the group is exposed
to a downturn in the real estate market. A scenario of this type

(1) According to the level of estimated risk associated with a counterparty, an internal rating is assigned to it which will influence the capital requirements for credit risk.
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would affect its cost of risk through an increase in defaults, as well
as, concerning mortgage financing, if the value of the housing units
given under guarantee became significantly and sustainably affected
by a drop in the real estate market. Following the crisis of 2008, the
cost of risk on the portfolio of property loans to private customers
reached 0.10% of the balance-sheet commitments during two years
(2009 and 2010J, to come back down to a low point of 0.01% in 2018.

L.4. Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale has unitary exposure that is relatively
high to certain states, to bank counterparties or to large groups, mainly
French. The default of one or more of the group’s largest customers
could degrade its profitability. Concerning states, the group is mainly
exposed to France, mainly the Banque de France, member of the euro
system, and to the Caisse des Dépots et Consignations (equivalent to
French sovereign risk, due to the mechanism for the centralization of
deposits from regulated savings). Other than states, on December 31,
2018, the unitary exposures on and off balance sheet exceeding
€300 million (representing about 10% of the net profit/loss) on banks
represented €4.8 billion for eight counterparties, and on companies,
it represented €34.9 billion for 55 counterparties. The probability of
several of these counterparties being downgraded or even defaulting
simultaneously cannot be ruled out and would affect the profitability
of the group.

2. Regulatory/prudential risk

The group is subject to significant banking regulation, some aspects of
which are not yet expressed in its ratios and which could have a significant
impact on them.

As specified in 1.2, a great majority of the group’s exposures are approved
by the supervisor for calculation using the internal weighted risks
method. However, changes to the “finalization of Basel 3" regulations will
unfavorably impact the calculation of weighted risks and therefore the
solvency ratio of the group. The probability of the occurrence of this risk is
almost certain but it will gradually occur between 2022 and 2027.

2.1 The finalization of the Basel 3 agreements specifies that for portfolios
with a low risk of default authorized for the IRBA method (notably the
internal calculation of the parameters covering probability of default
and loss given default), the internal parameter “loss given default” may
no longer be used for calculating weighted risk. It will be replaced by
a standard value fixed at 40% for all establishments from January 1,
2022, which will increase the capital requirements on exposures. For
the group, this will concern counterparties that are “banks” and “large
corporates” (groups having more than €500 million in consolidated
revenue), representing about €85 hillion of balance-sheet and off-
balance-sheet exposure on December 31, 2018.

2.2 From 2022, an “output floor” will gradually be put in place, the aim
of which is to limit the gains in equity arising from internal models for
the calculation of weighted risks in the denominator of the solvency
ratio. As specified in 1.2, about 70% of the group’s exposures have a
risk weighting taken from internal models, most of which are well
below the standard weighting. The application of the output floor will
be done in gradual levels between 2022 (50%) and 2027 (72.5%) and
will unfavorably affect the solvency rating.

2.3 Asspecifiedin 1.3, the group’s exposure to real estate risks is significant.
They will also be unfavorably affected by the regulations when the
new standard method applies in 2022. This new approach will use the
Loan-To-Value indicator (LTV, the ratio between the amount of the loan
and the market value of the property) to weight the risk of exposures.
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As the LTV increases, so does the risk weighting, up to 100%, while the
weighting in the current standard method for exposures guaranteed
by a mortgage or equivalent surety - representing nearly €140 billion
on December 31,2018 - is 35% (and 14% using the internal method).
This new methodology will also have the consequence of making
capital requirements relative to portfolios of property receivables more
sensitive to a drop in property prices (portfolios using the standard
method and portfolios using an internal method via the output floor
mechanism mentioned in 2.2].

2.4 The mission of the Targeted Review of Internal Models or TRIM
carried out by the European Central Bank (ECB) with European banking
institutions may result in a worsening of the level of CETL.

3. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is defined as the difference to which the profit/(loss) of
a bank is subject when interest rates vary upwards or downwards. As the
value of an institution is directly related to its earnings, changes in interest
rates also mean changes in its asset value impact on the balance of on-and
off-balance sheet items.

The interest rate risk in the banking portfolio breaks down into 3 sub-types
of risks, defined by the Basel Committee:

m the gap risk, for which we distinguish the risk of repricing and the risk
of translation of the yield curve;

m the basic risk, expressing the imperfect correlation between variable
rates (e.g.: different indexing...J; and

m the option risk, addressing both the implicit options relating to the
behavior of the customer and the explicit options that are automatically
exercisable according to the rates environment.

Economic model and balance-sheet structure: Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale does more than 90% of its business in the Eurozone and is
therefore subject to the economic risks of the zone. Also, the group is
subject to the economic climate in France, as more than 75% of net banking
income is generated in France. A significant share of net banking income is
related to the property loans business (about 50% of the total of customer
loans). As well as the net interest yield, which is highly dependent on
developments to the long-term yield of French fungible treasury bonds
(0AT]), a significant share of the activity of GACM, the insurance subsidiary
of the group, is related to the real estate borrower insurance business line.

3.1 Increase in rates: if the ECB increases its base rates, Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale could suffer an increase in the cost of its resources.
In case of a rise in rates, there is a risk of switching by depositors
due to the structure of deposits, of which nearly 44% are invested
in current accounts. These resources could move towards products
that pay higher interest or to asset management funds. This situation
could increase the cost of resources. Also, in the case of migration of
balance-sheet deposits towards deposits off-balance-sheet, the level
of the liquidity reserve ratio (the ratio of loans over deposits] would
be affected by these changes, which might mean making more use
of market resources.

3.2 Macroeconomic uncertainties: macroeconomic uncertainties such as
trade tensions between the United States and China, Brexit, the end of
the accommodating policy of the ECB (including the arrival at maturity
of the TLTRO) or the employment relations climate in France have had
an influence on the markets and may reduce investors’ appetite for
risk, resulting in an increase in the cost of refinancing for the group.
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4. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk may be defined as the ability of an institution to find the
necessary funds to finance its commitments at a reasonable price, at any
time. Thus, a credit institution finds itself:

m at risk of not being able to honor its commitments due to a scarcity of
financial resources;

m risk of paying significantly more expensive refinancing.

Assets are less liquid than liabilities: if the credit institution is not
sufficiently liquid, it may have to sell assets at a loss.

Liquidity ratios: On December 31, 2018, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
had a liquidity reserve ratio of 121.9%, up by 2.3 points compared to the
previous year. This ratio enables assessment of the group’s refinancing
requirements on financial markets. The LCR, which measures the ability to
cope with its commitments over thirty days, is the second liquidity indicator
that is important for the group. The average LCR over 2018 is 131.2%,
stable compared to the previous year. This ratio is monitored monthly and
a significant worsening over several consecutive months would be an
advanced sign of concern in terms of liquidity for the group.

4.1 Changes to the reference indices: on the subject of the regulations
relative to reference indices, it should be noted that some of them
(LIBOR, EURIBOR, EONIA] will be considered as non-compliant indices
from January 1, 2022 and may not be used in new contracts and
financial instruments. The transition towards new indices involves
many points to which attention must be paid. The first relates to the
level of rates of substitution by which the structure (old index/new
index] differs technically and requires putting in place an adjustment
margin, for which the methodology remains to be defined by the
authorities. The second point of attention relates to the transition
from the old to the new index, which could potentially lead to a risk
of asymmetry in treatment between the various items on the balance
sheet (assets and liabilities) and their hedging. Lastly, the third problem
concerns the liquidity of these new indices, such as the ESTER (Euro
Short-Term Rate] for which the reference levels will only be officially
published during the fourth quarter of 2019.

4.2 Operational profitability: in November 2018, the group presented its
strategic plan 2019-2023 which is based on growth in net banking
income of 3% per year. This growth partly depends on the rise in
interest rates and good control of costs. Not achieving these growth
objectives or controlling costs would have a very negative impact on
the cost/income ratio.

4.3 Credit rating: the maintenance of favorable conditions for the
refinancing of the BFCM requires continuous attention to the credit
ratings assigned by the ratings agencies. The cost of non-secured
refinancing raised on the market by BFCM is directly dependent on
its credit spread. Variations on credit spreads are instant, sensitive
to movements of markets that are sometimes highly volatile and
dependent on factors such as the French sovereign rating. Spreads
are also affected by the perception of the credit quality of the bank by
the market and by the rating agencies. A drop in the credit ratings of
BFCM could have an unfavorable impact on refinancing conditions.

Management of the risks of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

b. Governance risk

BFCM holds no equity investment in the local banks. Consequently, BFCM
shares neither the profits nor the losses of the local banks. Its economic
interest in the profit/loss of the local banks is limited to the financing
that it provides them with as part of its activity as the financial arm of the
group. Furthermore, BFCM has no voting rights or other rights to influence
the management, strategy or policies of the local banks.

The local banks control BFCM via the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel
and may have interests that are different from those of investors in the
securities issued by the BFCM. Aimost all of the shares of BFCM are held
directly or indirectly by the local banks, notably 93% by the Caisse Fédérale
de Crédit Mutuel. Consequently, the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel
and the local banks solely determine the outcome of votes at meetings
of shareholders of the BFCM, including votes on decisions such as the
appointment or co-option of members of its board of directors and the
distribution of dividends. Although the maintenance of the reputation of the
BFCM as a first-rate issuer is an essential matter for the group, it cannot be
ruled out that certain decisions taken by the general shareholders’ meeting
of the BFCM might be contrary to the interests of its bondholders.

The BFCM does not participate in the solidarity mechanism specific to
the local banks. The local banks have no obligation to support either the
liquidity or the solvency of the BFCM if such support may be necessary.
While the financial ratings of the BFCM are partly based on the assumption
by the ratings agencies that such support would be provided if needed due
to the key role played by the BFCM in the financial structure of the group,
this assumption is based on the opinion of the rating agencies concerning
the economic interests of the local banks, and not on any legal obligation.
If the financial situation of the BFCM were to deteriorate, there is no
assurance that the local banks or the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel
would provide additional capital or any other support to the BFCM.

Out of the eighteen federations of Crédit Mutuel that are active in France,
only eleven federations compose the group. The banks of the seven other
federations use the name and the logo Crédit Mutuel, or for their non-
cooperative subsidiaries, mention their belonging to Crédit Mutuel. If one
or more of the federations of Crédit Mutuel which are outside the group
encountered difficulties, such as a slowdown in its activities, a deterioration
in the quality of its assets or a drop in its financial rating, it is possible that
the market might not understand the distinction between the federation
in difficulty, which does not form part of the group, and the federations
of the group. In such a case, the difficulties encountered by a federation
outside the group may have an unfavorable impact on the reputation of the
group and/or have an impact on the profit/loss and the financial situation
of the group.

The eighteen federations of Crédit Mutuel have a mutual financial
support mechanism, pursuant to which the local banks of the group
may be obliged to provide their support to the local banks of federations
outside the group. Although the support system for a local bank would
be initially implemented at the regional level, within the federation of that
said local bank, if the resources at the regional level were insufficient, it
may call upon the national support mechanism, meaning the support of
the other federations. Although the local banks of the group also benefit
from the support of federations outside the group, they remain exposed
to risks relative to the local banks which do not form part of the group.
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Under French law, certain questions relative to the governance of
the eighteen federations of Crédit Mutuel (which include the eleven
federations of the group and the seven federations outside the group) are
determined by a central body known by the name of the Confédération
Nationale du Crédit Mutuel [CNCM). The CNCM represents all of the local
banks of the eighteen federations before the French banking supervisory
and regulatory authorities. Furthermore, the CNCM has the power to
exercise financial, technical and administrative monitoring functions
concerning the organization of the Crédit Mutuel banks and to take
measures to ensure their proper functioning, including suspending a bank
from the list of banks authorized to carry out business within the Crédit
Mutuel system.

6. Market risk

This is a risk of loss of value caused by any unfavorable change in market
parameters, such as interest rates, the price of securities, exchange rates
and commodity prices. Market risk concerns several business lines of
the bank, including capital markets activities of the CM-CIC Marchés, the
asset-liability management activity (see above) and the asset management
activity performed by the group’s management companies.

The potential impact of market risk on the asset-liability management
activity is addressed elsewhere in this chapter (an increase in rates
increases the cost of resources, even though it also could improve the
net interest margin). The risk to the asset management activities is due
to the fact that the commissions received by this business line depend
on the valuation of the funds which are managed, and these depend on
market valuation levels.

The main risk factors associated with market risks are:

6.1 Aworsening of economic prospects negatively affecting the financial
markets in that they are supposed to reflect the financial health of
issuers of the capital and debt securities that are traded in them. The
valuation of securities drops and the volatility of the valuation level
increases. The effect on the activities of CM-CIC Marchés is negative.

The investment business line suffers from adverse financial market
conditions to the extent that this business line intervenes assuming
the improvement of the economy, taking a position on an increase in
stock markets and on a better quality of signature of the issuers of
debt.

The commercial business line also suffers from poor market conditions.
Commissions from the brokerage activity drop with transactions
covering amounts that are reduced due to the lower valuation level.
Furthermore, the number of transactions on the primary market (initial
public offers, capital increases and debt issues) trends downwards,
which implies less commission.

Given the adverse financial market conditions in 2018, CM-CIC Marchés
had a 2018 result that declined significantly compared to that of 2017,
while remaining positive. The beginning of 2019 saw a recovery in the
markets, but the same uncertainties that disrupted the markets during
the second half of 2018 remained.
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6.2 Monetary policy is another factor that has a significant impact on
market risks (see above part on interest-rate risks). The accommodating
monetary policy of the ECB influences the net interest margin of the
bank, and consequently its profitability is strongly affected by this
(maintenance at a low level).

The market risk to which the group’s capital markets function, CIC
Marchés, is exposed is low. The equity capital allocated to CIC Marchés
is €490 million (1.2% of overall prudential equity capital, which stood
at €42 billion on December 31, 2018). At the end of 2018, €325 million
of this limit was used (against 800 million in 2008). The VaR of the
trading portfolio stood at €7 million at the end of 2018, a level that is
intrinsically low.

7. Operational risks

This is the risk of losses resulting from inappropriateness or failure of
internal processes, or due to external events which are deliberate,
accidental or natural. Operational risks also include risks of non-compliance
and reputation, including legal risks, as well as risk of harm to the image
of the group which could occur due to non-compliance with regulatory or
legal obligations or ethical standards.

The main risk factors associated with operational risks are:
7.1 External and internal fraud.

7.2 Legal risks to which the group is exposed and which could have
unfavorable effect on its financial situation and its profit/loss.

7.3 Shortcomings or delays by the group in the full compliance of its
activities with the rules related to financial or banking activities,
whether they are of a legislative or regulatory nature, professional and
deontological standards, instructions or ethics in professional behavior.
The adoption by different countries of multiple and sometimes
divergent legal or regulatory requirements exacerbates this risk.

7.4 Reputational risk, which could have an unfavorable effect on the
profitability and commercial prospects of the group.

7.5 Any failure of, or attack against, the IT systems of the group, which
could cause lost earnings, losses and sporadically weaken the
customer protection system.

At the end of 2018, €1.6 billion of equity was allocated to cover the losses
generated by this risk. At that same date, the relationship between the
allocation of equity capital (potential loss) and losses (proven loss) stood
at 11 (representing €1.6 billion of equity capital allocated for proven loss
of €146 million). The main risks of potential loss are fraud [external and
internal) and risks related to the policy towards customers, products and
commercial practices (including the legal risk). The risks with the greatest
impact on proven loss in 2018 were fraud, errors and policy towards
customers, products and commercial practices.

Lastly,in the past there have been no instances of risk to reputation or risk
of failure of, or attack against, the IT system affecting profitability, the image
of the group or the quality of the customer protection system.

www.creditmutuel.fr



3.3.2 Credit risks

3.3.2.1 Organization of the commitments
function

In accordance with the regulations in force, the organization of the
management of commitments makes a broad distinction between the
following two systems:

m the granting of loans;

m the measurement of risk, the monitoring of commitments and the
management of at-risk items.

The organization of the commitments function and the management of
these last are based on a single reference system which sets the rules
and practices used within the group.

3.3.2.1.1 System for granting loans

The granting of loans is built around knowledge of the customer, evaluation
of the risk and commitment decision procedures.

Knowledge of the customer

Knowledge of the customer and the targeting of prospects rely on the
close links that have been established with the economic environment.
The segmentation of customers into different risk categories guides the
commercial prospecting. A credit file is used to support the decision on
granting.

Risk evaluation

Risk evaluation is based on the analyses carried out at several stages
according to formalized processes, with notably:

m customer rating;
m risk groups;

m the weighting of exposure related to the nature of the product and the
guarantee adopted.

The relevant Group employees receive periodic training on risk management
and assessment.

Customer rating: a single system for the whole of the group

In accordance with the applicable regulations, the Group's internal customer
rating is at the center of the credit risk system: granting, payment, pricing
and monitoring. In this regard, all delegations rely on the rating of the
counterparty. Generally, the lending unit validates the internal rating of all
cases that it processes.

Rating algorithms and expert models have been developed in order to
improve the evaluation of the group’s credit risks and fulfill the regulatory
requirements relative to approaches to internal rating.

This system of rating is common to the whole of the Crédit Mutuel group.

The definition of rating methodologies is done under the responsibility
of the Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel [CNCM) for all portfolios.
However, the regional entities are directly involved in implementing and
validating projects run by working groups on specific subjects and on work
relative to the quality of data and the acceptance of applications.

The counterparties of the group eligible for the internal approaches are
rated by a single system.

Discrimination and the proper qualification of risk are performed by models
(algorithms or tables). The scale of values reflects the progressiveness of

Management of the risks of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

the risk and breaks down into nine positions excluding default (A+, A-, B+,
B-, C+, C-, D+, D-, E+] and three positions for default (E-, E= and F).

The monitoring of rating models is built around three main constituents
which are the study of stability, performance and supplementary analyses.
This monitoring is done under the aegis of the CNCM on each rating model.

Risk groups [counterparties)

A*group of related customers” is considered to consist of natural persons
or legal entities that constitute a whole from the point of view of risk
because one of them holds over the other or others, directly or indirectly,
a power of control or because there exists between them links so that if
one of them encounters financial problems, notably difficulties in financing
or repayment, the others would have difficulties in financing or repayment.

The risk groups are constituted based on a procedure that uses the
provisions of subparagraph 39 of paragraph 1 of Article 4 of the regulatory
text from the EU No. 575/2013.

Weighting of income and guarantees

To evaluate the counterparty risk, a weighting may apply to the nominal
commitment. It is a combination of the nature of the loan and that of the
guarantee.

Grant decision
The grant decision is mainly based on:

m a formalized risk analysis of the counterparty;

m the rating of the counterparty or group of counterparties;

m levels of delegation;

m the principle of a second examination;

m the rules on limiting authorizations according to equity;

m remuneration adapted to the risk profile and consumption of equity.

The management of decision-making circuits is automated and is done
in real-time: from the end of investigation of a request for a loan, the
electronic file is sent to the right decision-making level.

Levels of delegation

The customer relationship manager is responsible for the
comprehensiveness, quality and reliability of the information collected. In
accordance with Article No. 107 of the order dated November 3, 2014,
he/she prepares credit files intended to formalize all information of a
qualitative and quantitative nature on each counterparty. He/she checks
the relevance of elements collected either from customers or from external
tools (sectoral studies, annual reports, legal information, rating agencies)
or internal tools made available to him/her. Each customer relationship
manager is responsible for the decisions that he/she takes or instructs
and has an intuitu personae delegation.

For cases for which the amount exceeds the intuitu personae delegations,
the decision is taken by a commitments decision committee, for which the
rules of functioning are the subject of procedures.

The delegations are based on adjustment of commitment limits according:
m to the rating;

m to the total amount of commitments on a counterparty or on a risk
group, which may be weighted by the type of loan concerned or by
eligible guarantees;

m to delegation exclusions.
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Role of lending unit

Each regional bank has a lending team, which reports directly to Executive
Management and is independent of the operational departments. The
missions are mainly of two types and are therefore divided between
two independent teams, who are in charge:

m one, of checking the appropriateness of the grant decisions through the
analysis, through a second examination, of the loan files and checking
that the interest on the loans is adequate to the risk taken;

m the other, of implementing the process of prudential monitoring and
evaluation of credit risk in addition to the permanent control actions.

3.3.2.1.2 System for measuring risk, monitoring
commitments and the management
of at-risk items

In accordance with the regulatory requirements, commitments are
monitored by national and regional organizations.

Risk measurement

To measure risks, Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale has various tools enabling
an aggregated, static and dynamic approach:

m to the exposure to a counterparty or group of counterparties;

m to the production of exposure according to the policies adapted to
the business lines concerned (rating, market, loan products, business
sectors, interest).

Each commercial entity has informational tools and can constantly check
compliance with the limits allocated to each of its counterparties.

Monitoring commitments

The commitments function contributes, alongside the other players
concerned, to a quarterly and formalized monitoring of the quality of the
credit risks on each business line.

The system for monitoring the commitments function intervenes, in a
manner that is independent of the grant, in addition and in coordination
with the actions carried out mainly on the first-level control, the permanent
control and by the chief risks officer. The aim is to detect risky situations
as early as possible from criteria defined by customer segments, in a
computerized manner or through the intermediary of operational managers
and relevant commitments.

Under the CRBF 93-05 regulation, the corporate regulatory limits of Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale are determined according to the regulatory capital
and internal ratings of counterparties. Regulatory limits are monitored
according to specific conditions (including frequencies) defined in
dedicated procedures.
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The monitoring of overruns and account functioning anomalies is done
through advanced risk detection tools [management of debtors/sensitive
risks/automatic reports in negotiated collection/...), based both on external
and internal criteria, notably the rating and the functioning of accounts.
These indicators aim to allow identification and handling of cases as early
as possible. This detection is automated, systematic and comprehensive.

Permanent control of commitments

The permanent control network function, which is independent of the
commitments function, provides a second-level control of credit risk.
Counterparties with alert signals are reviewed and entities combining
negative indicators are identified. The objective of the check is to monitor
the application of appropriate “risk” strategies and the implementation of
adapted corrective measures.

Additional security is thus provided to the management of credit risk.

Management of at-risk items

A unified definition of default compliant with Basel and accounting
requirements.

A unified definition of default is used for the whole of the Crédit Mutuel
group. Based on the alignment of prudential standards on the accounting
service (regulation ANC No. 2014-07 dated November 26, 2014/regulation
(EU) No. 575/2013). It is expressed by the correspondence between the
Basel concept of debt in default and the accounting concept of disputed
and non-performing loans. IT tools take into account contagion, which can
extend the downgrading of related exposure.

Detection of at-risk items

The practice consists of comprehensively identifying receivables to
be placed “under at-risk items” then assigning them to the category
corresponding to their situation: sensitive (non-downgraded], non-
performing, irrevocable non-performing or disputed. All receivables are
subject to monthly automated detection processing according to indicators
of internal or external origin configured in the information system. The
downgrading, according to regulatory criteria in force, is done automatically.

Transition to default, provisioning, reclassification

as performing

Processing the transition to default, provisioning and the reclassification
as performing comply with prudential rules in force, with automation on a
monthly basis, which keeps the process comprehensive.

Management of customers downgraded to non-performing

or disputed

The counterparties concerned are managed differently according to
the gravity of the situation: in the branch by the customer relationship
manager or by dedicated teams specialized by market, type of counterparty
or collection mode.
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3.3.2.2.1 Quantified summary of credit risk (balance sheet and off-balance-sheet)

Exposure

The total gross exposure reached €406.4 billion, up by 9.0% compared to the end of 2017. Customer loans stood at €369.4 billion, up by 7.2% compared

to 2017, and exposure on credit institutions reached €37.0 billion.

(in € millions] 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Credit institutions 36,991 28,264
Customers 369,428 344,743
Gross exposure 406,419 373,007
PROVISIONS FOR DEPRECIATION

Credit institutions = 0
Customers -8,109 -7,016
NET EXPOSURE 398,307 365,991
Source accounting service - Excluding repurchase agreements and deposit guarantees.

Commitments given

(in € millions] 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
FUNDING COMMITMENTS GIVEN

Credit institutions 1143 1217
Customers 64,304 59,550
GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS GIVEN

Credit institutions 4,527 3,294
Customers 17,351 16,5622
PROVISION FOR RISKS ON COMMITMENTS GIVEN 136 136

3.3.2.2.2 Customer loans

The total customer loans excluding repurchase agreements was €369.4 billion, up by 7.2% compared to 2017. The balance sheet exposure of medium or

long-term loans increased by 7.9% and short-term loans by 6.1%.

(in € millions] 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Short-term loans 75,127 70,779
Overdrawn current accounts 7,305 7,506
Commercial loans 15,357 14789
Liquidity credits 51,188 47373
Export loans 1,277 1111
Medium-and long-term loans 282,119 261,524
Equipment loans 86,310 78,443
Housing loans 179,338 167715
Leases 14,263 13,002
Other loans 2,208 2,365
Total gross customer loans excluding non-performing loans 357,247 332,303
Non-performing loans 11,577 11,754
Accrued interest 604 686
TOTAL GROSS CUSTOMER LOANS 369,428 344,743

Source accounting service - Excluding repurchase agreements and deposit guarantees.
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Quality of the portfolio Close-up on home loans

The information relative to the quality of the portfolio is presented in Outstanding home loans grew by 6.9% in 2018. They represented 50% of
chapter 4, table “Exposure to credit risk per category of exposure and the gross total of customer loans. By their very nature spread among a very
scale of PD". great many customers, 86% were backed by physical property collateral

or first-rate securities.

(in € millions] 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Home loans 179,338 167,715
With Crédit Logement guarantee or a mutual guarantee scheme 72,487 67999
With mortgage or similar 1st-rank security 82,291 79,356
Other guarantees* 24,560 20,360

Source: accounts* other rank mortgages, pledges and liens.

Breakdown of loans by type of customers
The breakdown of loans by type of customers is based on all entities of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

12/31/2018 12/31/2017
General public 73% 74%
Companies 23% 22%
Large entities 2% 2%
Specialized financing and others 1% 1%
Source: Risk Monitoring/finance department.
Scope Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale excluding foreign branches of CIC. ACM and IT not included.
Geographical breakdown of customer risks Major risks
The geographical breakdown of customer risks is presented in chapter 3, The tables relating to major risks are presented in chapter 4.
note 2 of the notes.

At-risk items and cost of risk

Risk of concentration/Exposure by sector This point is dealt in the paragraph on “Analysis of the cost of risk and
These two sections are dealt with in the chapter “Information on Pillar 3 of non-performing loans” in Section “3.1.2 - Activities and profit/loss of Crédit
the Basel agreements, as transposed into European regulations”. Mutuel Alliance Fédérale” of this chapter.
Quality of customer risks
(in € millions capital end of month) 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Loans impaired individually 11,577 11,754
Provisions for individual depreciation 6,263 6,506
Collective provision of receivables 1,845 510
Overall coverage ratio 70.0% 59.7%
Coverage ratio (individual provisions only) 54.1% 55.4%
Source: accounts.

12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Gross customer loans outstanding 378,995 351,958
Fraction of non-performing in gross customer loans 3.05% 3.3%
Overall cost of customer risk -829 -861
Actual cost of customer risk -717 -826
Overall cost of customer risk/Gross loans outstanding 0.22% 0.24%
Actual cost of customer risk/Gross loans outstanding 0.19% 0.23%
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12/31/2018 >1month

(in € millions] < 1month < 3 months >3 months Total
Debt instruments® 0 0 0 0
Loans and receivables 3,286 1,329 181 4,795
Central banks 0 0 0 0
Public administrations 8 31 2 41
Credit institutions 0 0 0 0
Other financial institutions 40 4 4 49
Non-financial corporate 2,365 418 141 2,924
Retail customers 872 875 34 1,781
TOTAL 3,286 1,329 181 4,795
(1) Debt securities available-for-sale or held-to-maturity.

12/31/2017 >1month

(in € millions] < 1month < 3 months > 3 months Total
Debt instruments® 0 0 0 0
Loans and receivables 3,167 776 134 4,077
Central banks 0 0 0 0
Public administrations 8 23 1 32
Credit institutions 0 0 0 0
Other financial institutions 17 15 2 34
Non-financial corporate 2,198 384 122 2,704
Retail customers 94t 353 10 1,307
TOTAL 3,167 776 134 4,077

(1] Debt securities available-for-sale or held-to-maturity.

3.3.2.2.3 Interbank loans "

3.3.2.2.5 Debt securities, derivatives and repurchase

agreements

The securities portfolios mainly come under capital markets and marginally
under the asset-liability management activity.

Information relating to interbank loans is presented in chapter 4, table
CRB-C “Geographical breakdown of exposures”.

3.3.2.2.4 Sovereign risks

The sovereign risks are presented in note 7c of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

Debt securities 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
(in € millions capital end of month] Carrying amount Carrying amount
Debt securities 181,356 159,728
Of which government securities 28,307 28,134
Of which bonds 153,049 131,594
Derivative instruments 28,096 23,092
Repurchase agreements & securities loans 16,527 15,064
Gross exposure 225,979 197,884
Provisions for depreciation of securities -246 -108
NET EXPOSURE 225,733 197,776

Source: accounts.
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3.3.3 Asset-liability management risks

Asset-liability management risks are presented in chapter 4 “Information on Pillar 3 of the Basel agreements”.

3.3.4 Equity securities risk

The equity securities risk run by Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is of different kinds.

3.3.4.1 Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

The portfolios of shares valued at fair value through profit or loss stood at
€4,811 million on December 31, 2018, against €4,339 a year earlier.

3.3.4.2 Financial assets at fair value through
equity

Outstanding shares classified as financial assets at fair value through
shareholders’ equity stand at €383 million.

Long-term investments specifically include securities in CRH (Caisse
de refinancement de I'habitat) for €117 million, securities of VISA INC for
€66 million and EUROCLEAR securities for €14 million.

3.3.5 Private equity

3.3.4.3 Investments of the insurance
business line

The outstanding shares classified as investments of the insurance business
line were €35,274 million at the end of December 2018, against €30,147 a
year earlier. They include the entry into scope of NEA following the merger
with the GACM.

The long-term investments specifically include Desjardins securities for
€80 million and Covivio securities for €628 million.

The shares were reviewed to detect any depreciation, which is recognized
for listed shares in case of a significant extended drop below the cost price.

This activity is carried out through entities dedicated to the business line with a portfolio fully valued at fair value through options.

Proprietary trading investments were spread over approximately 380 lines, primarily covering small and medium-sized enterprises.

Risks related to the private equity business 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Number of listed lines 30 29
Number of unlisted lines 305 323
Number of funds 24 28
Portfolio revalued for proprietary trading (in € millions] 2,529 2,539
Capital managed on behalf of third parties (in € millions] 157 205

Source: risk monitoring.

3.3.6 Capital markets risks

Capital markets risks are presented in chapter 4 “Information on Pillar 3 of the Basel agreements”.

3.3.7 The European solvency ratio (ESR)

Information on the solvency ratio risks concerning Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is presented in chapter 4 “Information on Pillar 3 of the Basel agreements”.

3.3.8 Operational risks"

Information on the operational risks concerning Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is presented in chapter 4 “Information on Pillar 3 of the Basel agreements

as transposed into European regulations”.

CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE | 2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

www.creditmutuel.fr



3.3.9 Otherrisks
3.3.9.1 Legalrisks

Legal risks are included in operational risks and concern, among other
things, exposure to fines, penalties and damages for faults attributable to
the company pursuant to its operations.

Management of the risks of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

3.3.9.2 Industrial and environmental risks

Industrial and environmental risks are included under operational risks
and are analyzed as system failure and the occurrence of major natural
events (centennial flood, earthquake, pollution, etc.), their impact on the
company and the prevention and protection resources to be implemented,
specifically crisis management and PUPAs.

3.3.10 The internal control system and risk monitoring

3.3.10.1 General framework

Internal control and risk management are fully integrated into the
group’s organization with the aim of ensuring compliance with regulatory
requirements and proper risk control and operational security, as well as
improved performance.

3.3.10.1.1 Regulatory references

As the basis of sound management of banking activities, the principles and
methods applicable in the area of internal control and risk measurement
are governed by numerous French and European legislative and regulatory
provisions, supplemented by a number of international standards.

In this respect, the main regulatory text applicable to the Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale group’s internal control system is the ministerial Decree
of November 3, 2014. This order, which defines the conditions for the
implementation and monitoring of internal control in credit institutions
and investment companies transposes into French regulations the
requirements of the European Directive 2013/36/EU dated July 26, 2013
(known as the “CRD4 Directive”).

Covering the classification of risks, compliance and risk monitoring, it
includes specifications of the principles relating to control of operations
and internal procedures, the accounting organization and the processing
of information, systems for measuring risks and profit/loss, systems for the
monitoring and control of risks, documentation and information systems
and the monitoring of flows.

3.3.10.1.2 A shared process

In accordance with the four basic principles set by the Basel Committee
(universality, independence, impartiality and allocation of adequate
resources) and reiterated in the above-mentioned Decree, the group
ensures that its internal control system is suited to its size and operations.

In the same way, it ensures that it is adapted to the size of the risks incurred
by its activities and that the employees involved in internal control can
carry out their work in the best possible conditions.

Within the group, the principles governing internal control are reflected in
the guidelines issued by general management and rolled out using shared
methods and tools that ensure the development of quality standards.

The internal control and risk measurement system is designed in particular
to:

m fully cover the full range of the group’s banking and insurance operations;

m list, identify, aggregate and track risks on a consolidated basis in a
consistent manner;

m communicate clear and reliable information (particularly accounting and
financial information), both internally and externally;

m ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, internal
standards, and instructions and guidelines established by executive
management;

m ensure the proper operation of internal processes and the safeguarding
of assets.

More broadly, the processes in place are aimed at helping to ensure proper
control of activities while at the same time improving the effectiveness of
processes and organization.

3.3.10.1.3 A structured process

One of the key purposes of the organization is to ensure the quality
and completeness of the internal control system. Both for itself and the
businesses it controls, the group ensures that this system is underpinned
by a set of procedures and operational limits that match regulatory
requirements and applicable internal and professional standards. To ensure
the high quality of its internal control system, the group has implemented
a policy of ongoing improvement, which is also designed to adapt it to
regulatory developments.

The identification and control of key risks by means of benchmarks,
mapping of controls, and monitoring of risks using appropriate limits,
formal procedures and dedicated tools are constant objectives for the
group’s internal control and risk management departments. Analytical tools
and tracking dashboards make it possible to perform regular reviews of
the various risks to which the group is exposed, including counterparty,
market, asset-liability management and operational risks. In accordance
with regulatory requirements, the group issues an annual report in the
format recommended by the French Prudential Supervision and Resolution
Authority (Autorité de contréle prudentiel et de résolution - ACPR], on
internal control and on risk measurement and oversight, in light of which
a detailed review of control processes is carried out.

3.3.10.1.4 An integrated and independent process

In line with the group’s values, the control system put in place is designed
to develop a prudent and top quality risk management culture throughout
the group.

Within this framework, the first level of risk management and control
is performed by the operational managers, who are responsible for
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the operations they carry out. As the first level of control, operational
management is an integral part of the system with responsibility for
preventing risk as well as for putting in place the corrective measures
designed to remedy the dysfunctions identified.

The group’s entities also have a second level of control, identified within
dedicated teams. To ensure the necessary independence of these second-
level controls, employees assigned to control tasks have no operational
responsibilities and report directly to the central staff departments, which
thereby ensures their independent judgment and assessment.

The central staff departments are responsible for defining, overseeing
and coordinating all the local and cross-group systems. They organize
and supervise the control work. In addition, they use their expertise and
independence to help define standard controls and supervise these
controls.

3.3.10.2 The internal control system

The process has a threefold objective:

m to separate the periodic, permanent and compliance controls into distinct
functions in accordance with regulatory requirements;

m to standardize internal control work throughout the group by creating
an organization based on standardized methods and tools, and on the
same principles of complementarity, subsidiarity, and independence of
controls;

m have an overall and transversal view of risks of all kinds to ensure reliable,
regular and comprehensive reporting to the Executive Management and
to the deliberative body.

3.3.10.2.1 The organization of controls

In accordance with the Decree of November 3, 2014, the system comprises
three functions:

m periodic control;

m permanent control;

m compliance.

The last two, which have since end-2017 reported to a joint risk, control
and compliance department, are subject to periodic control by the first. The
consistency of the overall system is ensured by a control and compliance
committee chaired by an effective manager. This committee reports to the
group auditing and accounting committee, which represents the group’s
supervisory bodies.

CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE | 2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Note that as of January 1, 2019, the periodic control, under a single
department, will cover the activities of the business lines and networks
under the direction of a new Inspector General appointed on that date.

To perform their functions, the control departments have permanent and
unrestricted access to individuals, premises, hardware, software and
information of any kind useful to the performance of their work throughout
the group.

Breakdown by type of control

Independently of the controls performed by management teams as part of
their operational activities, controls are performed by:

m periodic control staff, for in-depth, audit-style assignments, carried out
in cycles spanning several years;

m permanent control staff, for all work of a recurring nature using mainly
remote applications;

m compliance staff, in particular for the application of regulations and
internal and professional standards including those designed to combat
money laundering and financing of terrorism.

The periodic control department is responsible for supervising the overall
quality of the internal control system, the effectiveness of risk monitoring
and management as well as the smooth workings of permanent control
and compliance.

Split between network and business lines

Control functions have been split into two structures, one dealing with the
retail banking network and the other with the business lines (corporate
banking, capital markets activities, asset management, financial services,
cash management, etc.), with managers appointed for both at the group
level. The two branches of permanent control, networks and business lines,
report to a single national manager.

A common support unit for the various kinds of control

The periodic control, permanent control and compliance functions are
assisted by a common support unit which is responsible for:

m developing the tools and keeping them up to date and in good working
order;

m preparing the reporting instruments needed for monitoring control
operations and assignments, and centralizing information for the
management bodies, at the central and local (regional and subsidiary)
levels;

m ensuring that control tools are complementary between the various
functions so as to provide optimal cover of group risks.
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Group Risk
Monitoring Committee
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Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale control system

Periodic control - Permanent control - Compliance

Network
I

East Division
CMCEE, CIC Est and BECM
1
IDF division
CMIDF, CMN, CMC, CIC IDF and CIC Iberbanco
1
South-East Division
CMSE, CMSMB, CMDV, CMM
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque
1
North-West Division
CIC Nord Ouest (Northwest)
1
West Division
CMLACO, CMA, CIC Ouest
1
South-West division
CMMA, CIC Sud Quest
1
Foreign division
TARGOBANK in Germany and in Spain

Reporting

3.3.10.2.2 Oversight of internal control processes

Group control and compliance committee

Chaired by the chief executive officer, the compliance committee holds
regular meetings with the staff responsible for periodic, permanent and
compliance controls and risk management, with the following objectives:

m coordinating the process and ensuring that the work and assignments
of the various parties involved are complementary, such that all risks
are covered;

m establishing control plans and reviewing the outcomes of assignments
carried out by the periodic control units as well as the work done by

Supports

Control tools

Business lines

Commercial bank
Large corporates - Corporate credit
Foreign branches
1
Real estate
Different real estate subsidiaries
1
Capital markets
Bank (BFCM - CIC)
Market intermediation
Foreign branches
1
Asset management
Collective management - Private management
Employee savings - Securities custodianship
1
Financial services and flows
Financial leasing - Consumer loans
COFIDIS, Banque Casino, Specialized financing
Private equity - Means of payment
1
Insurance
ACM Vie - Télévie - ACM Vie Mutuelle
ACM lard - Assurances du Sud
Sérénis - ACMN lard
1
Techniques and logistics
Groupe Euro-Information -
Centre de Conseil et de Service CCS
1
Support functions
Finance/accounting - Legal
Human resources - Organization

the permanent control and compliance functions and proposing any
improvements that might be required to the executive body;

m analyzing the conclusions of external inspections, in particular those
carried out by the supervisory authorities;

m monitoring implementation of the resulting recommendations.

The control and compliance committee also review a certain number of
activities and documents that serve as points of reference. It met four
times during the year under review (March 12, June 22, October 5, and
December 10).
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Group auditing and accounting committee

In order to meet regulatory requirements and rules of governance, the
Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale group has an auditing and accounting
committee. It is composed of voluntary and independent directors from the
cooperative base of the group. Several of its members have particular skills
in accounting and finance. The executive body, the control departments and
the finance division are represented on it. Training seminars help members
to keep up to date with new developments.

This committee:
m examines the provisional internal control schedule;

m is informed of the conclusions of inspections carried out by the periodic
control function and of the results of the permanent and compliance
controls;

m takes due note of the conclusions of external controls, particularly of any
recommendations made by the supervisory authorities;

m is informed of actions carried out to give effect to the main
recommendations issued in internal and external control reports;

m assesses the effectiveness of the internal control systems;
m receives up-to-date information on the group’s risk position;

m proposes to the various deliberative bodies such improvements as it
deems necessary in view of the findings of which it has been made
aware.

In the area of financial reports, it:

m is responsible for monitoring the process for preparing financial
information;

m examines the annual company and consolidated financial statements;

m assesses the manner in which they have been drawn up and satisfies
itself as to the appropriateness and consistency of the accounting
principles and methods applied;

m participates in the selection of statutory auditors;
m supervises the statutory audit of the accounts.

The group’s audit and accounting committee met four times during the
elapsed fiscal year (February 16, April 25, July 25, and September 19] and
jointly with the group risk monitoring committee on July 10. These meetings
were the subject of minutes intended for the deliberative bodies of the
different federations.

It examined the financial statements for the year ended Monday,
December 31,2018 in its meeting of Monday, February 18, 2019 and had
no particular observations to make.

Remuneration committee

In accordance with Articles L.511-89,102 and 103 of the French Monetary
and Financial Code and 104 of the internal control order, Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale has set up a single remuneration committee, the scope
of which extends to all its subsidiaries. It give its opinions on the proposals
made by the board of directors after consulting the risk and compliance
divisions and reviews and approves the compensation policy on an annual
basis. This committee also verifies that the principles defined by the
deliberative body have been effectively implemented. The remuneration
committee reports regularly to the deliberative body.

The group ethics and compliance committee

Created within the scope of consolidation of the Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale group, this committee has been instrumental in establishing a
code of ethics for the group. Each year it draws up a report on the group’s
implementation of and compliance with ethical principles and the code
of conduct.
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3.3.10.3 The risk oversight system

3.3.10.3.1 Risk management function (group risk
department)

The group risk department (GRD) covers the operations of all the French
and foreign entities and subsidiaries of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale. Itis
responsible for risk management, as defined in the Decree of November 3,
2014 concerning the internal control of banking institutions, for every
organizational unit.

It has the authority to fulfill all of its duties directly or by means of risk
officers appointed pursuant to local regulations or of business lines in the
operating departments. It works closely with the risk department of the
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel (CNCM).

The group risk department reports to the risk, permanent control and
compliance department. The GRD stands independent of the line managers
and is charged with detecting, measuring, and monitoring risks group-wide
and to give reports to Executive Management and the board of directors. It
therefore analyzes and conducts a regular and exhaustive review of all risks
(credit, market, interest rate, operational, liquidity, refunding, insurance etc.)
and presents a summary to general management and the deliberative body.

In 2018, the risk department again improved its consolidated risk reporting
which took an operational, comprehensive and prudential approach with
regard to regulatory capital allocation and regulatory changes in progress,
particularly in terms of the implementation of the new Basel Il rules. As
an example, the risks of non-compliance and a summary of the work done
in terms of permanent and periodic controls have been incorporated into
the performance indicators used by management.

It participated in many cross-functional projects including those relating
to crisis recovery (the Prevention and Recovery Plan) and to resolution
(special workshops with the single resolution board) and to the ICAAP
and ILAAP processes for monitoring compliance with capital and liquidity
requirements applicable to the group and its subsidiaries. It was also a
stakeholder in updating the declaration of the group’s risk appetite, as well
as preparing a dedicated map of risks aiming to detect and evaluate the
risks to which Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is or could be exposed. The
GRD is responsible for applying the risk map at the subsidiary level and
assists them in that process.

Furthermore, it coordinated the projects relating to the application of
requirements for the BCBS 239 principles (relating to the quality of data
and reporting risks) and to BREXIT.

In addition to monitoring the quality of its risk control procedures, the risk
department, which is the main interface with the regulatory authorities,
oversees the various audits of the ACPR and the ECB, coordinates the
monitoring and implementation of their recommendations and reports to
the regulators on their progress. In that regard, it worked to implement the
ECB'’s recommendations to strengthen its powers, clarify its governance
and closely monitor the activities of the French and foreign subsidiaries.

3.3.10.3.2 Oversight of internal control processes

Group risk monitoring committee (French acronym CSRG)

It is made up of directors representing all the Crédit Mutuel federations
that belong to the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel. Besides the members
appointed by the deliberative bodies, others taking part in the work of the
CSRG are the Chairman of the Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel, the chief
executive officer, the chief financial officer, the Chief Lending Office and
the chief risk officer of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.
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The CSRG is a specialized committee of the board of directors. It assists
the deliberative body in the examination of risks in all activities, banking
or non-banking. The chief risk officer prepares the documents, files and
performance indicators submitted to the committee for review and leads
the meetings. The members of the CSRG have all the sources of information
and documentation that they need from the bank auditors, internal and
external control staff, the statutory auditors and the finance and risk
departments.

The members of the CSRG report to their respective deliberative body, with
assistance from the GRD, on the information and decisions that come out
of their meetings. A each meeting a report, largely given to a survey of
the principal risk indicators monitored, is presented and discussed. The
summaries of the risk committee meetings are sent to the secretaries of
the boards of directors.

[t meets at least four times a year and whenever necessary.

THE GROUP’S RISK CONTROL AND MONITORING SYSTEM

Management of the risks of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

Group risk committee (GRC)

It is chaired by the chief executive officer and is made up of the senior
operating managers and the chief executive officer of Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale.

The GRC helps the executive body to examine the risks in all banking and
non-banking activities consolidated with the Caisse Fédérale. It provides
both a posteriori and prospective risk monitoring.

This independent monitoring is done based on standardized and periodic
reporting of credit, market, operational, interest-rate and liquidity risks,
notably based on accounting figures extracted from the Basel 2 calculator
as well as information provided by the business lines and networks.

It meets at least every three months and as often as necessary.

The operational risk coordination committee

Four times a year, this committee brings together the risks department with
the group managers of the permanent control and compliance functions.
In particular, it is responsible for proposing and coordinating actions to
protect and reduce operational risks in coping with malfunctions that have
been found.

Remuneration Committee Ethics and Compliance Committee Appointments Committee
0 4 A

SUPERVISORY BODIES
11 FCM - CFdeCM - BFCM - CIC

Group Risk Monitoring Committee

Group Risks Committee

Risks, Permanent Control and Compliance Department

Risks
Credit, Liquidity, Rates, Operational, Markets, Governance, Ratings, IFC, SCR

Permanent control
| Permanent control networks | |

Permanent control business lines

Compliance

GROUP EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Committees of the executive management,
executive management networks, Services,...

Group Auditing a_nd Accounting
Committee
Control and Compliance Committee

Federal Commissions
and Regional Control Committees
Subsidiaries Auditing Committee

Supervisory Boards of the CCM

General Inspectorate (periodic control)

Networks Inspectorate Audit professions

Group missions and transversal

o Audit technologies
networks missions

Support to controls Coordination
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3.3.10.4 Methods and tools

3.3.10.4.1 Tools

The harmonization of methods and tools for controlling risks was continued.
Common tools were developed, which include functionalities dedicated to
management.

Periodic control applications

These are aimed at providing a mapping of network risks, by consolidating
all types of assignments based on a common catalog of points of control.
They are regularly updated. Access to the information necessary for
carrying out the controls is provided by the IT system.

Given the group’s growth, software has been created for monitoring the
implementation of recommendations issued in their audits by the group’s
various periodic control departments and the supervisory authorities.
A new version of this software will be introduced in the first half of 2019.

Permanent control applications

Permanent controls on the network are performed remotely, essentially by
using data from the information system. They supplement the first level
controls which are performed daily by the managers of the operational
entities and the regional functions for organization, assistance and control.
They are implemented in the “internal control portals”, which structure and
plan the various work to be done concerning risk coverage.

The automated detection of cases that raise a “risk alert” according to
predetermined malfunction criteria, are an essential element in the proper
control of credit risk. Other types of controls enable assessment of the
quality of the results obtained and can divide resources or direct missions
accordingly.

Compliance applications

Work continued on the implementation of systems for legal and regulatory
surveillance and monitoring of compliance risk. The compliance function
also has its own control areas within the “internal control portals” allowing
it to check that regulatory provisions are being applied, in particular with
regard to business and professional ethics, protecting customers’interests,
performing investment services and combating money laundering and the
financing of terrorism.

3.3.10.4.2 Procedures

They are distributed over the intranet and are permanently accessible via
search engines to all employees. The control applications refer to them
and links have been created to facilitate consultation and use. “Framewaork
procedures” were defined at the level of the central control functions of
the group in various areas, notably compliance.

3.3.10.5 Risk management and oversight

3.3.10.5.1 Risk management

Credit risk management is organized into two structures: one focusing on
the granting of loans and the other on risk measurement and the monitoring
of commitments.

A set of commitments guidelines summarizes the internal procedures of
the lending arm of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale in accordance with
applicable statutory, organizational and regulatory provisions. It describes
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in particular the systems for granting loans, for measuring and overseeing
commitments and for managing total assets at risk. It contains attachments
relating to capital markets activities as well as to the subsidiaries directly
concerned.

The management of liquidity and interest-rate risks of the group’s banks is
centralized at the level of the BFCM. Hedges are allocated to the entities
concerned, in accordance with their needs. They are no longer authorized
to take hedging decisions individually.

Overall measurement of market risk is based on the regulatory framework.
Capital market activities are monitored in accordance with procedures that
are formally recorded and independent in terms of organization and control.

The management of operational risk is performed and controlled in
accordance with group procedures, coordinated by dedicated units. In
particular, the security of the information systems and the putting in place
of business continuity plans form part of the work carried out in this area.

3.3.10.5.2 Risk oversight

This is carried out by dedicated, independent teams, which have at their
disposal tools designed on the one hand to provide a comprehensive
aggregate overview of commitments, and on the other to carry out ongoing
monitoring of risk, in particular by means of an advance detection system
for anomalies and monitoring of adherence to limits as well as changes
in internal ratings.

Information for assessing trends in credit, market, ALM and operational
risks is provided regularly to the management bodies and other responsible
persons concerned. The risk department carries out general management
with regard to the regulatory capital consumed by each activity by reference
to the risks incurred and the return obtained.

3.3.10.6 Accounting data and means
of control at the group level

The finance department of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is in charge of
running the general accounts of the group’s main credit institutions and,
in this respect, it carries out accounting checks.

The preparation of the group’s consolidated financial statements and
financial communication is also the responsibility of the finance department,
which submits them to the group auditing and accounting committee, then
presents them to the deliberative bodies.

Control of the annual financial statements

The accounting system

The accounting architecture

This is based on an IT platform shared throughout 15 Crédit Mutuel
federations and CIC’s regional banks, which includes accounting and
regulatory functions, in particular for:

m the chart of accounts, the structure of which is identical for all institutions
of the same type managed through this platform;

m defining the automated templates and procedures shared by all the banks
[means of payment, deposits and credits, day-to-day transactions, etc.J;

m reporting tools (SURFI, consolidation software input, etc.) and oversight
tools (management control).
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Administration of the shared accounting information system is handled
by the “accounting procedures and templates” divisions, which form
independent units, either within the “network” finance department or the
“specialized businesses” finance department.

More specifically, the latter are responsible for:

m managing the shared chart of accounts (creating accounts, defining the
characteristics of the accounts, etc.);

m drawing up shared accounting procedures and templates, in accordance
with tax and regulatory requirements; if necessary, the division
concerned consults the tax department, and the templates are validated
by a procedure involving various operational managers.

The “accounting procedures and templates” divisions do not report to,
nor are they linked to, the departments that handle the actual accounting
production. As such, the divisions involved in designing and administering
the system architecture are separate from the other operational
departments.

All accounts within CIC must be allocated to an operational department,
which is responsible for maintaining and verifying the accounts. Therefore,
an account cannot be “unallocated”. The organization and procedures in
place provide assurance of compliance with the Decree of November 3,
2014 and the existence of an audit trail.

Chart of accounts

This is divided into two broad sections: third-party captions showing
payables and receivables for individual third parties, and the general
accounting captions.

Dedicated accounts are used for third party deposits and loans, enabling
them to be monitored. For custody of negotiable securities, a “stock”
accounting system distinguishes between securities owned by third parties
and those owned by the bank. The chart of accounts for all the credit
institutions using the shared IT platform contains unique identifiers and is
managed by the “accounting procedures and templates” divisions.

The chart of accounts defines the following account properties:

m regulatory characteristics (link to the official chart of accounts of
credit institutions (PCEC]), link to the item in the publishable financial
statements, etc.);

m certain tax aspects (VAT position, etc.);

m management characteristics (whether compulsory or not, link with the
consolidated chart of accounts, length of time online transactions are
stored, IFRS characteristics, etc.)

Processing tools

Those for the accounting information are essentially based on internal
applications prepared by the group’s IT services. There are also specialized
applications, external or internal, particularly software for producing
management reporting, balances or account statements, a utility for
processing file requests, software for consolidation, processing regulatory
statements, managing capital assets and tax declarations.

Procedure for data aggregation

In accordance with the model defined by the Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale group, accounting data are aggregated for the following entities:

= the group (e.g. CIC);
m the federation made up of one or more banks or other legal entities;

m the bank belonging to a federation.

Management of the risks of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

The bank (branches and central departments] is broken down into branches,
which represent the basic unit of the accounting system. It is at this level
that accounting entries are recorded.

Accounting consistency of management data

Each branch comprises an external branch for recording financial
accounting data. The first records the general accounts entries and the
second records the analytical accounting. At the individual branch level,
the figures used for management accounting purposes are obtained by
combining the internal and external data. The group result is obtained
by adding together the balances of the branches. Links are established
between financial accounting captions and the codes attributed to
the products marketed by the bank. Cost accounting data are used to
determine the results by business segment.

Control methods
Automated controls

A series of automated controls are carried out when accounting records are
processed and before transactions are allocated to ensure that records are
balanced and valid, and to update the audit trail of the captions affected
by the transaction.

In-house tools are used to control accounting transactions on a daily basis
and to detect any discrepancies.

A dedicated automatic account control application has been in use
since 2010 to manage limit amounts for accounting allocation, differentiated
by type of account (third party/general accounts), by direction (debit/
credit), by IT application code, by entity and by sector of activity within the
entity. The tool has two levels of control:

m an alert threshold;
m a maximum amount.

The control applies to real-time or batch processing from all applications
which do not require validation of movements according to the “4 eyes”
principle. When the alert threshold is exceeded an event is sent to the
customer relationship manager. When the maximum amount is exceeded
the accounting flow is blocked, which is then diverted to an accrual account
and assumes validation according to the “4 eyes” principle before definitive
accounts allocation.

In all cases, movements above the alert threshold (automatically when
processing files and after forcing for real-time) are logged and archived in
the event management system.

Closing process controls

At each closing date, financial accounting results are compared with
forecast management data and data from the previous year, for purposes
of validation. The forecast management data are generated by the
management accounting department and the budget control department,
both of which are independent from the production of financial statements.

This analysis particularly concerns:

m interest margins; for interest-rate instruments, including deposits,
loans and off-balance-sheet transactions, the management accounting
department calculates expected yields and costs based on average
historical data. These are then compared with the interest rates actually
recognized, for validation business segment by business segment;

m commission levels; based on business volume indicators, the
management accounting department estimates the volume of
commissions received and payable, compared with recognized data;

m overhead (personnel costs and other general operating expenses);

= net additions to provisions for loan losses (level of provisioning and
recognized losses).
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Procedures put in place

Accounting procedures and templates are documented. For the network,
procedures are posted on the bank’s intranet.

Levels of control

Daily accounting controls are performed by the appropriate staff within
each branch.

The accounting control departments (controls/procedures and “specialized
business lines” management control) also have a general mission covering
regulatory controls, the monitoring of substantiating documentation for
internal accounts and branch identifiers, control of the foreign currency
positions, control of NBI per activity, the accounting plans and procedures
in relation to Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale and the interface between the
back offices and the statutory auditors for half-yearly and annual closures.

Furthermore, the control departments (periodic, permanent, compliance)
also perform accounting work. A dedicated accounting control portal has
been put in place.

Applying controls
Automated accounting controls

An automated daily control procedure based on the bank’s daily balance
allows the verification of balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions,
asset/liability balances by branch and by currency, and the monitoring of
technical accounts. This procedure is also applied to the general ledger at
the end of each month.

Evidencing the accounts

All the accounts on the balance sheet are justified either by an automated
control or by a validation of the account performed by the service
responsible for it. Reporting per service ensures that the results of the
controls performed are collected.

Controls on the consolidated financial statements

Accounting policies and principles

Adapting to regulatory developments

The system is periodically updated in line with regulatory developments
(IFRS) or to improve the reliability of financial statement preparation.

IFRS compliance

The accounting principles fixed by the IFRS standards have been applied
in the group’s entities since January 1,2005. A summary of this is included
in the consolidated financial statements.

The CIC defines, with Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale, the accounting
policies and principles according to French standards (ANC) and
international standards (IFRS] to be applied by all entities of the group in
their annual financial statements. These are communicated to the foreign
subsidiaries so that they can transition from local standards to French
and international standards in the consolidation sets and their financial
reporting. The accounting principles used to consolidate the accounts are
compliant with those of the Crédit Mutuel group.

The accounting managers of the various Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
entities meet twice a year to prepare the half-yearly and annual closings.

Individual company financial statements in accordance with IFRS are
prepared for the relevant entities in the central IT system, using the same
organization and team as for those drawn up in accordance with French
(CNC) standards.
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Reporting and consolidation

Consolidation process

The group uses a consolidation chart of accounts. Within the shared
information system, each account in the chart of accounts is linked to
the consolidation chart of accounts, in an identical way for all companies
using the shared chart. This link is unique to each account, with regard to
all companies managed under this plan.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with
a timetable distributed to all the subsidiaries and the statutory auditors,
which includes, where applicable, changes in procedures and standards
to be incorporated. Each consolidated subsidiary has one person in charge
of its closing process and another in charge of reporting intercompany
transactions between fully consolidated companies. In accordance with
their professional standards, the statutory auditors for the consolidation
also give the statutory auditors of the consolidated companies instructions
aimed at ensuring that the subsidiary complies with the various rules.

A dedicated software package, one of the main standard tools on the
market, is used to consolidate the accounts. Data input (consolidation
packages) is partially automated, using an interface developed on
the accounting information system. This system makes it possible to
automatically retrieve balances and ensure that company-only and
consolidated data are consistent.

Reporting and data control

Companies cannot submit their consolidation package before a number of
consistency checks that are programmed into the input software have been
carried out. These control checks (currently more than 600), established by
the consolidation departments, cover a large number of aspects [changes
in equity, provisions, fixed assets, cash flows, etc.). “Blocking” controls
prevent a package from being transmitted by the subsidiary and can only
be overridden by the central consolidation departments.

Consistency checks against company-only data are also performed by the
consolidation department upon receipt of the consolidation packages (level
of results, intermediate balances, etc.). Finally, systematic reconciliation
statements between company-only and consolidated data are generated
for equity and earnings. This process, which ensures consistency in the
transition between the statutory and consolidated series, is carried out
without using the consolidation software, thus leading to validation of the
consolidated data.

Analysis of accounting and financial information

The consolidated financial statements are analyzed compared to the
previous fiscal year and compared to the budget and the quarterly
accounting and financial reporting. These are organized by themes (cost
of risk, progress of outstanding loans and deposits, etc.). The changes
observed are corroborated by the services concerned, such as the lending
department and the management control for the various entities.

Each entity’s contribution to the consolidated financial statements is also
analyzed.

Each time a closing involves the publication of financial data, this
information is presented to the Executive Management and board of
directors by the finance department. This report presents the breakdown
of income, the balance sheet position and the current business situation,
including the reconciliation of non-accounting data (rates, average
capital, etc.).

The accounting work is regularly presented to the group’s auditing and
accounting committee.
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Conclusion

Drawing on common methods and tools, the internal control and risk
oversight mechanism fits into Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale’s system of
controls, forming a coherent whole, appropriately adapted to the group’s

Management of the risks of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

different activities in France and internationally. It meets banking and
finance regulatory requirements and conforms to the operational principles
established by the group. It is our ongoing objective to consolidate and
further improve efficiency.

3.3.11 Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing mechanism

3.3.11.1 Organization of the mechanism
and training of personnel

The AML-CTF Compliance central function of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
is tasked with implementing the anti-money laundering and counter-
terrorist financing mechanism (AML-CTF) and of coordination, leadership,
training, organization and control within the group. The head of AML-CTF
comes under the head of Compliance, who reports to the executive of the
group through the intermediary of the chief risk officer of Crédit Mutuel
Alliance Fédérale to whom he/she reports.

For the implementation of the missions that are assigned to it, the central
AML-CTF function has, within the permanent control and compliance
departments in the various regional divisions, and within the business-
line entities and entities established abroad, correspondents who are
functionally attached, notably the TRACFIN correspondents and declaration
agents.

The system developed significantly in 2018:

Attached to group compliance since the end of 2017, the function in charge
of international financial sanctions (IFS) and of the AML-CTF Compliance
function of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale [classification of sensitive
countries, analysis of regulations relative to embargoes and analysis of
alerts when they are escalated) continued to develop its collaboration with
the Department of International Activities, which continued to operationally
process complex cases escalated to it by the network in relation to IFS
(notably problems related to embargoes), and whose expertise also enables
it to provide regulatory monitoring related to IFS.

The workforce in the central AML-CTF of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
was considerably strengthened during the fiscal year, going from 5 FTE (full
time equivalent) at the beginning of 2018 to 15 (including one on a work/
study course] at the end of 2018, with other recruitments having taken
place since or still planned for 2019.

The FORMAD self-training course was updated and put into production in
the 4" quarter of 2018, with the aim of training a maximum number of staff
by the end of the year. This training course takes into account the main
developments introduced by the decree finalizing the transposition, into
the French Monetary and Financial Code, of the 4" European Directive on
the fight against money laundering and terrorist financing.

At the end of 2018, more than 86.5% of personnel concerned by the risk of
money laundering had, during the year, followed classroom-based training
and/or the self-training course, which is modified every two years. Various
classroom-based training modules intended to be used by the TRACFIN
correspondents and branch managers have been available since 2016.
They may be used during internal meetings on AML-CTF. Participation in
these internal meetings is recorded in an application (REUFOR]. Also, the
Compliance function undertook significant strengthening of its training
program for new TRACFIN correspondents-declaration agents, as well as
for the correspondents-declaration agents in place.

The annual seminar on AML-CTF took place on November 8 and 9, 2018,
bringing together the managers of the fight against money-laundering of
all entities and business lines of the French and foreign entities. As every
year, this seminar provided updates on numerous subjects. Presentations
were given on the following topics: regulatory developments in progress,
international financial sanctions including work on the filtering tool
Safewatch-OVF, training courses, developments to the supervision plan,
the freezing of assets, the right to an account and the changes made to
tools in line with the AML-CTF.

3.3.11.2 Classification of risks, description
of procedures

3.3.11.2.1 Classification and obligations for vigilance

At the end of 2018, customers presenting a risk of money laundering and
terrorist financing (codified risk] showed a rate of 0.29% of customers
under enhanced vigilance (against 0.35% at the end of 2017) on the scope
of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale.

3.3.11.2.2 Developments to procedures and tools

On May 31, 2018, the annual “tools” seminar took place, dedicated to
Tracfin correspondents of the retail banking network. During this seminar,
the following were presented: the transposition of the 4™ directive and
its regulatory changes, developments to the AMLFT application, the
deployment of Safewatch/OVF, the right to an account and the guidelines
relative to DS.

Procedures

In 2018, the AML-CTF procedure applicable to the network developed to
include new features relative to the implementing decree published in
April 2018, which finalized the transposition of the 4™ AML-CTF directive
in France.

Since then, this same procedure was updated at the beginning of 2019,
to take into account the guidelines of the ACPR relating to identification,
verification of identity and knowledge of customers.

Also, and in consequence of the amended finance law promulgated for 2017,
this same procedure included the necessity to identify the tax residence of
the customer and the final beneficiary before establishing any contractual
relationship. The operational procedures for implementing this obligation
were prepared in coordination with the developments planned for the
automatic exchange of information.
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An aspect relating to the combating corruption was introduced into the
framework procedure. This paragraph details the definitions of passive and
active corruption, as well as private and public corruption, and makes the
link between obligations related to AML-CTF and those related to corruption.
The operational procedure for detecting and processing Politically Exposed
Persons was also amended in this direction.

Lastly, the procedure for detecting and processing persons suspected of
being the subject of asset-freeze measures was reviewed to take into
account the joint guidelines from the ACPR and the Directorate General of
the Treasury relative to frozen assets.

Accessibility of AML-CTF procedures: in 2018, the document database
relating to AML-CTF in the Pixis intranet was overhauled. The documents
relative to combating money laundering and terrorist financing were
reorganized within a guide organized according to eleven different themes.

This new corpus was put in place to provide better accessibility to the
documentation on the subject of AML-CTF, and constitutes a single point
of entry in matters of financial security. The creation of this new guide was
the occasion to create an inventory and to sort procedures relating to the
combating money laundering and terrorist financing.

Tools

Safewatch/0OVF: 2017 saw the launch of a significant project to deploy the
Safewatch tool [filtering flows in “approximate” mode) and interfacing this
tool with the internal application for flow validation (OVF). Begun in 2018,
the deployment of the tool is ongoing. Alerts related to the network of
company branches are analyzed by the account managers. Concerning the
public network, a centralized processing team was created. It is attached
to the compliance department of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale and is
intended to take charge, in place of the network, of the processing of
alerts generated by Safewatch. The creation of this centralized team should
provide some relief to the networks while increasing the quality of the
processing of alerts, placing them in the hands of a dedicated processing
team, trained on the subject.

IBM 12: 2018 saw the launch of a very important project relating to the
digital transformation of the Compliance function, particularly the tools
related to AML-CTF. In particular, the group decided to invest in a tool called
12, developed by IBM and intended to significantly increase the investigation
abilities of Tracfin correspondents. 12 can, by analyzing considerable
volumes of data (third party databases, operations] in a limited time, identify
and represent all links that may exist between natural persons and legal
entities, thus greatly facilitating investigation and the declaration activity.
The 12 tool is currently in the deployment phase.

AMLFT: concerning the AMLFT application (formerly the TRACFIN
application), a tool for managing alerts and for declaration, several new
features were provided during 2018.
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3.3.11.3 Results of permanent controls
carried out concerning the risk
of money laundering and terrorist
financing

3.3.11.3.1 The processing of money laundering alerts

The AML-CTF activity was marked by a drop in the number of alerts and
by a new increase in the number of declarations of suspicion. In 2018,
across the group:

m 240,293 alerts were generated by the applications and 96.38% were
processed;

m 30,640 transactions were subject to enhanced examination.

3.3.11.3.2 Processing of embargoes

At the end of December 2018, 23,472 transactions were filtered by OVF in
relation to a country classified on the red list and subject to international
economic sanctions. For each transaction, the customer relationship
manager is requested to complete an analysis table on an ongoing basis
and collect the substantiating documentation to check that the transaction
is legal. In certain cases, and according to the results of the analysis table,
cases must be escalated to the Department of International Activities for
additional analysis.

3.3.11.3.3 Level 1 controls

A monthly “WEBCHEQUES validation” control is intended to check the
correct application, by the network, of the procedure for controlling checks
issued. The controls and statistics show good adoption of this procedure
by the networks and compliance with the regulation CRBF 2002-01. The
number of branches with anomalies is low and follow-up is systematic.

The control of flows coming within the context of regulation 1781/2006, and
since June 2017, within the context of 2015/847, was continued. In addition
to the controls that already existed in application of regulation 1781/2006
(concerning the order originator on received flows], controls were added
on the beneficiary in application of regulation 2015/847. A dedicated
procedure was also put in place. Work was also begun to strengthen the
share of controls carried out on a priori assumption (blocking controls)
upon detection of order originators missing in flows for which the bank is
the provider of payment services for the beneficiary.

The level 1 control plan is made available in a dedicated tool, CINT. It is
supervised by the permanent control teams in the regions. More than
31,000 controls were carried out during 2018.
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3.3.11.3.4 Level 2 controls - general public
and company networks

96% of 1,475 controls due were carried out, with a risk coverage estimated
at 3.34 out of 4 for Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale (3.34 in 2017).

The level 2 control tools (databases covering transactions of private
individuals, professionals, non-profit customers, legal entities, local
authorities, real estate and agriculture, as well as large movements] led
the TRACFIN correspondents of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale to examine
12,081 transactions in 2018.

3.3.11.3.5 Supervision missions

These missions, carried out on site by group compliance, check the
implementation of the group AML-CTF system, make practices consistent
and detect points that can be improved. During 2018, Crédit Mutuel
Anjou, CIC Nord Ouest, Banque Casino and TARGOBANK in Germany were
supervised, and TARGOBANK in Spain and Crédit Mutuel Normandie are
in the process of supervision. Other missions are also in the process of
initiation. Lastly, group compliance devoted time to the on-site support of
Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen (CMM] in the context of monitoring, in line
with the group’s periodic control. The follow-up of the on-site inspection
was carried out by the ACPR in 2017. Other missions are currently ongoing.

Generally, 2018 saw a profound reorganization of the AML-CTF supervision
system of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale (workforce, system, mission
planning and content of reports).

Management of the risks of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

3.3.11.4 Main shortcomings revealed by
the national and foreign control
authorities and corrective measures
decided

Mission of the ACPR on the declaration system of Crédit
Mutuel Alliance Fédérale and its implementation in Crédit
Mutuel Méditérranéen (CMM)

On July 6, 2018, the French banking supervisor announced that it had given
an official warning together with a fine of one million euros to Crédit Mutuel,
accused of shortcomings in the internal procedures for the fight against
money laundering and terrorist financing.

A letter stating the reasons was received, highlighting failures in the
AML-CTF system, with the possibility of forcing the blocking of the
distribution of means of payment at the beginning of the relationship, even
though the customer’s file was not complete with regards to verification
of identity. The other reasons concerned the CMM.

The French Prudential Supervisory and Resolution Authority (ACPR])
considered that the group “did not fully comply with its obligation to check
the identity of its customers”, according to this decision.

On November 20, 2018, the ACPR sent a letter to the Caisse Fédérale de
Crédit Mutuel, in which it enquired about the measures implemented by
the group following the penalty pronounced in July 2018, and requested
certain evidence. A response was provided to it within the allotted time.

Follow-up letters relating to statements on questionnaires

on the fight against money laundering pursuant to 2017

In December 2018, various entities of the Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
group received a follow-up letter from the ACPR concerning the answers
given to annual questionnaires on the fight against money laundering
completed for the 2017 fiscal year.

This follow-up letter is always sent each year by the ACPR to one or more
entities of the group.

Each entity provided a response under the coordination of the central
AML-CTF service.
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3.4 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE

3.4.1 Balance sheet

Assets

(in € millions) Notes 12/31/2018 01/01/2018" 12/31/2017
Cash, central banks 4 56,696 57,049 57,049
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5a 18,590 16,045 32,742
Hedging derivatives 6a 2,640 3,010 3,010
Financial assets at fair value through

shareholders’ equity 7 27182 26,756

Available-for-sale financial assets

(2017 - 1AS 39) 103,164
Securities at amortized cost 1la 2,990 3,237

Held-to-maturity financial assets (2017-1AS 39) 10,720
Loans and receivables due from credit

institutions and similar at amortized cost 11b 44168 41,208 37,609
Loans and receivables to customers

at amortized cost 1lc 370,886 343,185 344,942
Portfolio revaluation difference hedged for rates ) 1169 429 429
Short-term investments in the insurance

business line and reinsurers’ share of technical

provisions l4a 122,004 106,260

Current tax assets 15a 1,852 1,832 1,832
Deferred tax assets 15b 1,473 1,537 1,255
Accruals and other assets 16a 9100 8,046 13,991
Non-current assets held for sale 0 119 119
Deferred profit-sharing 0 0 0
Investment in equity consolidated companies 17 719 1,693 1,744
Investment property 18 86 73 2,816
Property, plant and equipment 19a 2,973 2,969 2,969
Intangible assets 19b 719 690 690
Goodwill 20 4118 4,118 4118
TOTAL ASSETS 667,364 618,256 619,199

(1) Amounts restated following the application of the IFRS 9 standard - Financial instruments See note 1 Accounting policies and principles.
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Liabilities
(in € millions) Notes 12/31/2018 01/01/2018% 12/31/2017
Central banks 4 350 285 285
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 5b 4,392 5,449 9,821
Hedging derivatives 6a 2,350 3,254 3,254
Debt securities at amortized cost 12a 119,680 112,431 112,431
Due to credit and similar institutions
at amortized cost 12b 53,635 46,956 43,890
Amounts due to customers at amortized cost 12c 304,319 288,443 288,532
Revaluation difference of portfolios hedged for rates 6b 19 -518 -b18
Current tax liabilities 15a 648 831 831
Deferred tax liabilities 15b 1,031 1213 1,273
Deferred income, accrued charges and other
liabilities 16b 11,290 7474 11,207
Debts related to non-current assets held for sale 0 14 14
Liabilities relative to contracts of the insurance
business line 14b 115,565 101,546
Technical provisions for insurance contracts (2017) 96,423
Provisions 21 3,266 3,172 3,041
Subordinated debt at amortized cost 22 7,224 7725 7,725
Total shareholders’ equity 23 43,595 39,981 40,990
Equity - Attributable to the group 23 40,289 37,688 38,600
Capital and related reserves 23a 6,167 6,010 6,010
Consolidated reserves 23a 30,926 28,599 29,035
Gains and losses recognized directly in equity 23b 502 871 1,347
Profit (loss) for the period 2,695 2,208 2,208
Equity - Non-controlling interests 3,306 2,293 2,390
TOTAL LIABILITIES 667,364 618,256 619,199

(1] Amounts restated following the application of the IFRS 9 standard - Financial instruments See note 1.
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3.4.2 Income statement

Income statement

12/31/2018 12/31/2017
(in € millions] Notes IFRS IAS 39
Interest and similar income 25 21,975 15,623
Interest and similar expenses 25 -15,766 -9910
Commissions (income) 26 4917 4719
Commissions [expenses) 26 -1,304 -1,208
Net gains on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 27 616 885
Net gains or losses on financial assets at fair value through
shareholders’ equity (2018) 28 192
Net gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets (2017) 28 374
Net gains or losses resulting from the derecognition of financial assets
at amortized cost 29 1
Net income from the insurance business line 30 2,579
Income from other activities™ 3l 1,878 15,334
Expenses from other activities®” 31 -1,019 -11,809
Net banking income 14,070 14,009
General operating expenses 32a,32b -8,248 7983
Provisions/Reversals on depreciation, amortization and provisions
on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 32c -466 -475
Gross operating income 5,356 5,551
Cost of counterparty risk 33 -904 -871
Operating income 4,452 4,680
Share in net profit/(loss) of equity consolidated companies 17 67 -334
Gains or losses on other assets 34 44 3
Changes in the value of goodwill 35 0 -15
Profit/(loss) before tax 4,563 4,334
Income tax 36 -1,669 -1,929
Post-tax gains/(losses) on discontinued operations 0 22
Net profit/(loss) 2,993 2,427
Profit/loss - Non-controlling interests 298 219
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP 2,695 2,208

(1] Includes income and expenses on insurance activities as of 12/31/2017.
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Statement of the net profit/loss and profits and losses directly recognized in equity

12/31/2018
(in € millions] IFRS 9
Net profit/(loss) 2,993
Translation adjustments 42
Remeasurement of financial assets at fair value through equity - Debt instruments -169
Remeasurement of equity investments of the insurance business line -274
Remeasurement of hedging derivatives 2
Share of unrealized or deferred gains and losses of assaciates 1
Total recyclable gains and losses recognized directly in equity -403
Revaluation of financial assets at fair value through equity - equity instruments at closing 56
Remeasurement of financial assets at fair value through equity - Capital instruments sold during the fiscal year =l
Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans 33
Share of non-recyclable gains and losses of associates -11
Total non-recyclable gains and losses recognized directly in equity 77
Net profit/(loss) and gains and (losses) recognized directly in equity 2,667
Of which attributable to the group 2,326
Of which non-controlling interests 342
12/31/2017
(in € millions) 1AS 39
Net profit/(loss) 2,427
Translation adjustments -109
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 94
Remeasurement of hedging derivatives 25
Share of unrealized or deferred gains and losses of associates
Total recyclable gains and losses recognized directly in equity
Remeasurement of non-current assets
Actuarial gains and losses on defined-benefit plans 32
Total non-recyclable gains and losses recognized directly in equity 32
Net profit/(loss) and gains and (losses) recognized directly in equity 2,467
Of which attributable to the group 2,259
Of which non-controlling interests 207

Items related to gains and losses recognized directly in shareholders’ equity are given at their amount net of tax.
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3.4.3 Changes in shareholders’ equity

(in € millions) Capital Premiums Reserves®
Shareholders’ equity as of December 31,2016 5,941 0 26,828
Appropriation of earnings from previous fiscal year 2,410
Capital increase 69

Distribution of dividends -68
Change in the equity investments of subsidiaries without loss of control -114
Sub-total of movements related to relations with shareholders 69 0 2,228
Consolidated income for the period

Changes in gains and (losses] recognized directly in equity

Sub-total 0 0 0
Effects of acquisitions and disposals on non-controlling interests 0
Other variations 21
Shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2017 6,010 0 29,035
Impact of the first application of IFRS 9 -437
Shareholders’ equity as of January 1,2018 6,010 0 28,598
Appropriation of earnings from previous fiscal year 2,208
Capital increase 157

Distribution of dividends -81
Change in the equity investments of subsidiaries without loss of control 4
Sub-total of movements related to relations with shareholders 157 0 2,131
Consolidated income for the period

Changes in gains and (losses) recognized directly in equity

Sub-total 0 0 0
Effects of acquisitions and disposals on non-controlling interests 212
Other variations -16
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS OF DECEMBER 31,2018 6,167 30,926

(1] As of December 31, 2018 reserves are made up of the legal reserve for €348 million, statutory reserves for €5,159 million and other reserves for €25,419 million.
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Gains and (losses) recognized directly in equity

Assets at fair Shareholders’ Total

value through Actuarial Net profit/(loss) - equity consolidated
Translation shareholders’ Hedging gains attributable attributable  Non-controlling shareholders’
adjustments equity derivatives and losses to the group to the Group interests equity
84 1,532 21 -300 2,410 36,474 3,113 39,587
2,410 0 0

69 69

-68 -68 -126

114 -954 -1,068

0 0 0 0 -2,410 -113 -1,013 -1,126
2,208 2,208 219 2,427

-139 137 25 28 51 -1 39
-139 137 25 28 2,208 2,259 208 2,466
0 82 82

21 0 21

-55 1,670 4 -273 2,208 38,600 2,390 40,990
-475 -912 -97 -1,009

-55 1,194 4 -273 2,208 37,688 2,293 39,981
2,208 0 0

157 157

-81 77 -158

4 -96 93

0 0 0 0 -2,208 80 -174 -94
2,695 2,695 298 2993

b4 -365 -1 33 -290 -61 -3b1
44 -365 -1 33 2,695 2,405 237 2,643
-80 133 948 1,080

-16 1 -16

-11 750 3 -240 2,695 40,290 3,306 43,595

CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE | 2018 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 113



3 FINANCIAL INFORMATION FROM CREDIT MUTUEL ALLIANCE FEDERALE
Consolidated financial statements of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

3.4.4 Statement of cash flows

(in € millions) 12/31/2018 12/31/2017
Net profit/(loss) 2,993 2,427
Tax 1,569 1929
Profit/(loss) before tax 4,563 4,356
+/- Net depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 469 478
- Impairment of goodwill and other fixed assets 0 16
+/- Net provisions 51 86
+/- Proportionate share of profit/loss related to equity associates -67 334
+/- Net loss/gain from investing activities -49 9
+/- Other movements -1911 -1,492
= Total non-monetary items included in net profit/(loss) before tax and other adjustments -1,507 -569
+/- Flows related to transactions with credit institutions 4,259 -3,736
+/- Flows related to client transactions -11,181 -3,109
+/- Flows related to other transactions affecting financial assets or liabilities 93 -1,573
+/- Flows related to other transactions affecting non-financial assets or liabilities 2,475 -31
- Tax paid -1,618 -1,852
= Net reduction of assets and liabilities coming from operating activities -5,971 -10,301
Total net cash flow generated by operating activity -2,915 -6,513
+/- Flows related to financial assets and investments -1,103 1,300
+/- Flows related to investment properties -125 -990
+/- Flows related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -476 -437
Total net cash flow related to investment activities -1,705 -128
+/- Cash flow to or from shareholders -1 -68
+/- Other net cash flows coming from financing activities 6,539 2,812
Total net cash flow related to financing transactions 6,538 2,753
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 81 -232
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,999 -4,119
Net cash flow generated by operating activities -2,915 -6,513
Net cash flow related to investment transactions -1,705 -128
Net cash flow related to financing transactions 6,538 2,753
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 81 -232
Cash and cash equivalents at opening 51,511 55,630
Cash, central banks, CCP 56,766 61,044
Accounts and demand loans/borrowing with credit institutions -5,2565 -5,415
Cash and cash equivalents at closing 53,510 51,510
Cash, central banks, CCP 56,346 56,766
Accounts and demand loans/borrowing with credit institutions -2,837 -5,266
CHANGE IN NET CASH POSITION 1,999 -4,119
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3.4.5 Notes to the consolidated financial statements of
Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

NOTE 1 Accounting policies and principles 116 NOTE 22 Subordinated debt 169
NOTE 23 Reserves related to capital and reserves 170
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT ITEMS NOTE24  Commitments pledged and received 172
NOTE 1B First-time application 132 NOTE 25 Interest and similar income/expenses 173
NOTE2  Analysis of the balance sheet and income statement NOTE26  Fees 173
by business segment and geographic area 134 NOTE 27 Net gains on financial instruments at fair value
NOTE3  Consolidation scope 137 through profit or loss 173
NOTE 4 Cash, central banks (assets/liabilities] 144 NOTE 28 Net gains or losses on finan’cial assets at fair
NOTE 5 girrgaf]i?coifll;ssssets and liabilities at fair value through » Zslauilea’tt]rllé?f%?l:rea[rzeggt]jers equity (2018)/assets 174
. NOTE 29 Net gains or losses from derecognition
NOTE 6 H'edglnlg ) 145 of financial assets at amortized cost 174
NOTE?7 ELnazargﬂgll(jisr:?;ZSitt;alr value through 147 NOTE 30 Net income from insurance activities 174
NOTE 8 Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments NOTE 31 Income and expenses from other activities 175
carried at fair value 149 NOTE 32 General operating expenses 175
NOTE 9 Note on securitization outstandings 151 NOTE33  Cost of counterparty risk 177
NOTE 10 Offset of financial assets and liabilities 162 NOTE 34  Gains or losses on other assets 178
NOTE1l  Financial assets at amortized cost 153 NOTE35  Changes in the value of goodwill 178
NOTE12  Financial liabilities at amortized cost 155 NOTE36  Income tax 179
NOTE 13 Gross value and framework for impairment 156 NOTE 37 Outstanding related party transactions 180
NOTE 14 Investments/assets and liabilities related NOTE 38 Fairval_ue hierarchy pf financial instruments
to insurance business policies 158 recognized at amortized cost 181
NOTE 15 Taxes 159 NOTE 39 Relations with the group’s key executives 182
NOTE16  Accruals - miscellaneous prepaid expenses NOTE40  Events after the reporting period
and deferred income 160 and other information 182
NOTE17  Investment in equity consolidated companies 161 NOTE 41 Risk exposure 182
NOTE 18 Investment property 163 NOTE 42 Statutory auditors’ fees 183
NOTE 19 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 164
NOTE 20 Goodwill 165
NOTE 21 Provisions and contingent liabilities 166
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NOTE 1 Accounting policies and principles

11 Accounting basis

Pursuant to Regulation (EC) 1606/2002 on the application of international
accounting standards, and Regulation (EC] 1126,/2008 on the adoption of
said standards, the consolidated financial statements have been drawn up
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union at December 31,
2018.

This standard is available from the European Commission’s website at
https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/company-reporting-
and-auditing/company-reporting/financial-reporting_en#ifrs-financial-
statements

The financial statements are presented in the format advised by the
Accounting Standards Authority in its Recommendation No. 2017-02
relating to IFRS summary statements. They comply with the international
accounting standards as adopted by the European Union.

Information relating to risk management is included in the group’s
management report.

Since January 1,2018, the group has been applying the following standards:

IFRS 9

This standard replaces IAS 39 - “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”. It defines new rules in terms of:

m the classification and measurement of financial instruments (Phase 1J;
m impairment due to credit risk of financial instruments (Phase 2); and
m hedge accounting, excluding macro-hedging transactions (Phase 3).

The IFRS 9 classification and measurement provisions, as well as its new
impairment model are applied retrospectively by adjusting the opening
balance sheet at January 1,2018 (impact on shareholders’ equity), without
having to adjust the data for the fiscal years presented for comparative
purposes. The group is thus presenting its 2018 financial statements
without adjusting the 2017 data to the IFRS 9 format. The explanation
concerning the transition of the portfolios from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 and the
impacts on shareholders’ equity at January 1, 2018 are provided in the
notes to the financial statements. The group is not applying Phase 3, which
is optional. The hedge accounting model thus remains that of IAS 39, as
adopted by the European Union.

The implementation of IFRS 9 concerns all the group’s business, with the
exception of the insurance departments falling within the Conglomerate
Directive, which benefit from the deferral of application until 2021 as
scheduled by the amendment to IFRS 4 adopted by the European Union,
deferred until 2022. To benefit from this deferral, a number of conditions
must be met, in particular the absence of transfer of financial instruments
with a de-recognition effect, between the insurance and other sectors of
the conglomerate, other than those recognized at fair value through profit
or loss in both two sectors.

The principles of IFRS 9 applied by the group are presented in detail in
Section 1L.3.1.

IFRS 15

This replaces several standards and interpretations relating to revenue
recognition (specifically IAS 18 - Revenue and IAS 11 - Construction
Contracts). It does not affect revenue falling within the scope of standards
applicable to tenancy agreements, insurance contracts or financial
instruments.

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized when control of a good or service
is transferred to a customer, for the amount the seller is expected to be
entitled to.
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To this effect, the standard sets out a five-stage model, enabling the entity
to determine when and in what amount the revenue from ordinary activities
should be recognized:

m identify the contract entered into with the customer,
m identify the performance obligations in the contract;
m determine the transaction price;

m allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the
contract;

m recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance
obligation.

Analysis of IFRS 15 and identification of its potential effects have revealed
that there was no significant impact for the group.

Other amendments with immaterial impacts for the group
They concern:

m specific disclosures in accordance with IFRS 12 when an investment
in a subsidiary, joint venture or associate is classified as an asset held
for sale;

m application of the fair value through profit or loss option by venture
capital/development entities, on their associates and joint ventures.
The amendment to IAS 28 notes that this option may be exercised on
an entity-by-entity basis;

m clarification on transfers from or to the investment property category
(IAS 40J;

m processing of advance consideration in foreign currency transactions
(IFRIC 22);

m transactions whose payment is based on shares in line with IFRS 2.
The changes concern:

m the accounting treatment regarding vesting conditions for the
measurement of cash-settled transactions,

= transactions that include a net settlement feature related to tax
withheld at source,

= the modification of the handling of share-based payments giving rise
to a change in the classification of the transaction, which is settled
in equity instruments rather than cash.

1.2 Scope and methods of consolidation

Consolidating entity

The Crédit Mutuel-CM11 group became the Crédit Mutuel Alliance
Fédérale in 2018, bringing together 11 Crédit Mutuel federations: Centre
Est Europe, Sud-Est, lle-de-France, Savoie-Mont Blanc, Midi-Atlantique,
Loire-Atlantique, Centre-Ouest, Centre, Normandie, Dauphiné-Vivarais,
Méditerranée and Anjou.

Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale is a mutualist group belonging to a central
body, within the meaning of Articles L.511-30 et seq. of the French Monetary
and Financial Code. Crédit Mutuel’s local banks, which are fully owned by
the members, form the basis of the group, according to a “reverse pyramid”
capital control structure.

In order to show the community of interest of our members in consolidation
as accurately as possible, the consolidating entity is defined in such a
way as to reflect the common bonds of operation, financial solidarity and
governance.

To this end, the consolidating entity at the head of the group is made up
of the companies placed under the same collective accreditation to carry
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out banking activity, issued by the Autorité de contréle prudentiel et de
résolution [ACPR - French Prudential Supervisory and Resolution Authority).

As such, the consolidating entity is made up of the following federations:

m Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (FCMCEE], Fédération
du Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est (FCMSE), Fédération du Crédit Mutuel fle-
de-France (FCMIDF), Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc
(FCMSMBY), Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique (FCMMA],
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique Centre-Ouest (FCMLACO),
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel du Centre (FCMC), Fédération du Crédit
Mutuel de Normandie (FCMN]), Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Dauphiné-
Vivarais (FCMDV], Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Méditerranée (FCMM],
and Fédération du Crédit Mutuel d’Anjou (FCMA). These political bodies
of the Groups determine the main strategic orientations, decide on their
strategy and organize the representation of the banks;

m Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel (CF de CM), Caisse Régionale du Crédit
Mutuel du Sud-Est (CRCMSE), Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel d'fle-
de-France (CRCMIDF]), Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont
Blanc (CRCMSMB], Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique
[CRCMMA), Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique Centre-
Ouest (CRCMLACO], Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel du Centre
[CRCMC]), Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel de Normandie (CRCMN]),
Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel Dauphiné-Vivarais (CRCMDV], Caisse
Régionale du Crédit Mutuel Méditerranée (CRCMM]) and Caisse Régionale
du Crédit Mutuel d’Anjou (CRCMA]). CF de CM, which is at the service of
local banks, is responsible for joint services across the network, ensures
its smooth running and supports the group’s logistics. It centralizes all the
banks’ deposits and in parallel ensures their refinancing, while fulfilling
regulatory requirements on their behalf (compulsory reserves, allocated
deposits, deposits at the Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel, etc.);

m the Credit Mutuel banks that are members of FCMCEE, FCMSE, FCMIDF,
FCMSMB, FCMMA, FCMLACO, FCMC, FCMN, FCMDV, FCMM and FCMA:
these form the basis of the group’s banking network.

Scope of consolidation

The general principles used to include an entity within the scope are set
outin IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IAS 28R.

Entities that are controlled or under significant influence that do not have
a significant character in relation to the consolidated financial statements
are excluded from the scope of consolidation. This situation is assumed
when the balance-sheet total or the profit/loss of a company has no impact
greater than 1% on the consolidated or sub-consolidated equivalent (in
case of consolidation by level]. This quantitative criterion is but relative;
an entity may be included within the scope of consolidation regardless of
this threshold when its business or its expected development afford it the
status of strategic investment.

The scope of consolidation is composed of:

m controlled entities: control is deemed to exist when the group has power
over the entity, is exposed to or is entitled to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to use its power over the
entity to affect the returns it obtains. The financial statements of the
controlled entities are fully consolidated;

= entities under joint control: joint control is the contractually-agreed
sharing of control over an entity, which exists only in the case where
decisions concerning key activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control. Two or more parties that exercise joint control
constitute a partnership, which is either a jointly-controlled operation
or a joint venture:

m a jointly-controlled operation is a partnership in which the parties
exercising joint control have rights over the assets and obligations
pursuant to liabilities relative to the entity: this involves recognizing

Consolidated financial statements of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

the assets, liabilities, income and expenses relative to interests held
in the entity,

m a joint venture is a partnership in which the parties who exercise joint
control have rights over the net assets of the entity: the joint venture
is accounted for according to the equity method.

All entities under joint control of the group are joint ventures according
to the meaning of IFRS 11;

m entities over which the group has significant influence: these are
entities that are not controlled by the consolidating entity, which may,
however, participate in these entities’ financial and operating policy
decisions. Shareholdings in entities over which the group has significant
influence are accounted for using the equity method.

Investments held by private equity companies and over which joint control
or significant influence is exercised are recognized at fair value through
profit or loss.

Consolidation methods
The consolidation methods used are the following:

Full consolidation

This method involves replacing the value of the shares held in the subsidiary
concerned with each of the assets and liabilities of said subsidiary and
showing separately the interests of non-controlling shareholders in
shareholders’ equity and net profit. This is the method used for all controlled
entities, including those with a different account structure, regardless of
whether the business concerned is an extension of that of the consolidating
entity.

Equity method

This method involves replacing the value of the shares held with the group’s
share of the equity and net profit of the entities concerned. It is applied to
all entities under joint control, classified as joint ventures or for all entities
under significant influence.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests correspond to interests that do not confer control
as defined by IFRS 10 and include partnership interests that entitle their
holders to a share in net assets in the event of liquidation and other equity
instruments issued by subsidiaries that are not held by the group.

Reporting date

All group companies included within the scope of consolidation prepare
their annual financial statements as of December 31, 2018.

Elimination of reciprocal transactions

Intercompany transactions and balances, as well as gains or losses on
intercompany sales that have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements, are eliminated.

Conversion of foreign currency accounts

Concerning the accounts of foreign entities expressed in foreign currencies,
the balance sheet is converted based on the official exchange rate at
the reporting date. Differences arising from exchange rate fluctuations
impacting the share capital, reserves and retained earnings are recorded as
a separate component of equity, under “Cumulative translation adjustments”.
The income statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into euros
at the average exchange rate for the fiscal year. The resulting translation
differences are recorded under “Cumulative translation adjustments”. On
liguidation or disposal of some or all of the interests held in a foreign entity,
these amounts are recognized through the income statement.
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Goodwill

Revaluation surplus

On the date of acquisition of a controlling interest in a new entity, said
entity’s assets, liabilities and contingent operating liabilities are measured
at fair value as at that date. Fair value adjustments correspond to the
difference between the carrying amount and fair value.

Goodwill

In accordance with IFRS 3R, when CIC acquires a controlling interest in
a new entity, said entity’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities that meet the criteria for recognition under IFRS are measured
at fair value as at the acquisition date, with the exception of non-current
assets classified as assets held for sale (IFRS 5], which are recognized at
the lower of fair value net of selling costs and their net carrying amount.
IFRS 3R permits the recognition of full goodwill or partial goodwill and the
choice of method is made separately for each business combination. In
the case of full goodwill, non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value, whereas in the case of partial goodwill, they are measured based
on their share of the values attributed to the assets and liabilities of the
acquired entity. If the goodwill is positive, it is recognized as an asset and,
if negative, it is recognized immediately in the income statement under
“Changes in value of goodwill”.

If the group’s stake in an entity it already controls, increases/decreases, the
difference between the share acquisition cost/selling price and the portion
of consolidated equity that said shares represent on the acquisition/sale
date is recognized within equity.

Goodwill is presented on a separate line of the balance sheet when it relates
to fully-consolidated companies, and under the heading “Investments in
associates” when it relates to equity consolidated companies.

Goodwill not including direct costs related to acquisitions according to
IFRS 3R is recognized in profit/loss.

Goodwill is tested for impairment regularly by the group (at least once a
year). The tests are designed to identify whether the goodwill has suffered
a decline in value. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(CGU) to which the goodwill has been allocated is less than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognized for the amount of the difference.
These losses - which are recognized through the income statement -
cannot be reversed. In practice, cash-generating units are defined on the
basis of the group’s business lines.

1.3 Accounting policies and principles

13.1

13.1.1 Classification and valuation of financial assets

According to IFRS 9, the classification and measurement of financial assets
depends on the management model and contractual characteristics of
the instruments.

Financial instruments under IFRS ¢

Loans, receivables, or debt securities acquired
The asset is classified:

m at amortized cost, if it is held in order to collect contractual cash flows
and if its characteristics are similar to those of a “basic” contract, see
the section below “Characteristics of cash flows”(collection model);

m at fair value through other comprehensive income if the instrument
is held with a view to collecting contractual cash flows and selling it
when the opportunity arises, yet without holding it for trading, and if its
characteristics are similar to those of a basic contract implicitly entailing
a high predictability of associated cash flows (“hold to collect and sell”
model);

m at fair value through profit or loss, if:

m itis not eligible for the two aforementioned categories (as it does not
meet the “basic” criterion and/or is managed in accordance with the
“other” business model), or

= the group initially opts to classify it as such, in an irrevocable way. This
option is used to reduce accounting mismatch in relation to another
associated instrument.

Cash flow characteristics

Contractual cash flows which solely represent repayments of principal
and the payment of interest on outstanding principal are compatible with
a “basic” contract.

In a basic contract, interest mainly represents the consideration for the time
value of money (including in the event of negative interest] and credit risk.
Interest may also include the liquidity risk, administrative fees to manage
the asset, and a profit margin.

All contractual clauses must be analyzed, in particular those that could
alter the timing or amount of contractual cash flows. The option, under
the agreement, for the borrower or lender to repay the financial instrument
early is compatible with the SPPI (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest)
criterion of contractual cash flows, provided that the amount repaid
essentially represents the outstanding principal and accrued interest, as
well as, where applicable, early repayment compensation of a reasonable
amount.

The early repayment allowance™ for instance, it is considered reasonable if:

m itis expressed as a percentage of the principal repaid and is below 10%
of the nominal amount repaid; or

m it is determined according to a formula aimed at compensating the
difference in the benchmark interest rate between the date on which
the loan was granted and its early repayment date.

The analysis of contractual cash flows may also require their comparison
with those of a reference instrument when the time value of money
included in the interest is likely to change due to the contractual clauses
of the instrument. Such is the case, for example, if the interest rate of
the financial instrument is revised periodically, but the frequency of
such revisions is unrelated to the period for which the interest rate was
established (e.g. monthly revision of an annual interest rate), or if the
interest rate of the financial instrument is revised periodically based on
an average interest rate.

If the difference between the non-discounted contractual cash flows of the
financial asset and those of the reference instrument is significant, or may
become so, the financial asset cannot be considered as basic.

Depending on the case, the analysis is either qualitative or quantitative. The
materiality or immateriality of the difference is assessed for each fiscal year,
and cumulatively over the life of the instrument. The quantitative analysis
takes into account a range of reasonably possible scenarios. To this effect,
the group has used yield curves going back to the year 2000.

(1] The group is an early adopter of the amendment to IFRS 9 on early repayment clauses, scheduling negative compensation, adopted by the EU in March 2018.
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Moreover, a specific analysis is conducted in the case of securitization
where there is priority of payment among holders, and credit risk
concentrations in the form of tranches. In that case, the analysis requires
the examination of the contractual characteristics of the tranches in which
the group has invested and of the underlying financial instruments, as
well as the credit risk of the tranches in relation to the credit risk of the
underlying financial instruments.

It should be noted that:

m embedded derivatives are no longer recognized separately, which means
that the entire hybrid instrument is then considered as non-basic and
recognized at fair value through profit or loss;

m units in UCITS or UCIs are not basic instruments and are recognized at
fair value through profit or loss.

Business models

The business model represents the way in which the instruments are
managed to generate cash flows and revenue. It is based on observable
facts and not simply on management’s intention. It is not assessed at the
entity level, or on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but rather on a higher
level of aggregation which reflects the way in which groups of financial
assets are managed collectively. It is determined at initial recognition and
may be reassessed in the event of a change in model (exceptional cases).

To determine the business model, it is necessary to consider all available
information, including the following:

m how the activity's performance is reported to decision-makers;
= how managers are compensated;

m the frequency, timing and volumes of sales in previous periods;
m the reason for the sales;

m future sales forecasts;

m the way in which risk is assessed.

For the “hold to collect” business model, certain examples of authorized
sales are explicitly set out in the standard:

m in response to an increase in credit risk;
m close to maturity and for an amount near the par amount;
m exceptional [for example, related to liquidity stress).

Such “authorized” sales are not included in the analysis of the significant
and frequent nature of the sales made out of a portfolio. Frequent and/
or significant sales would not be compatible with this business model.
Moreover, sales related to changes in the regulatory or fiscal framework will
be documented on a case-by-case basis to demonstrate the “infrequent”
nature of such sales.

For other sales, thresholds have been defined based on the maturity of the
securities portfolio, for example 2% for an average maturity of 2 years [the
group does not sell its loans).

The group has mainly developed a model based on the collection of
contractual cash flows from financial assets, which applies in particular
to the customer financing activities.

It also manages financial assets according to a model based on the
collection of contractual cash flows from financial assets and the sale of
these assets, as well as a model for other financial assets, in particular
financial assets held for trading.

Consolidated financial statements of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale
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Within the group, the “hold to collect and sell” model applies primarily to
proprietary cash management and liquidity portfolio management activities.

Financial assets held for trading consist of securities originally acquired
with the intention of reselling them in the near future, as well as securities
that are part of a portfolio of securities that are managed together and for
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking.

Financial assets at amortized cost
These mainly include:

m cash and cash equivalents, which comprise cash accounts, deposits, and
demand loans and borrowings with central banks and credit institutions;

m otherloans to credit institutions and loans to customers (granted directly,
or the share in syndicated loans], not measured at fair value through
profit or loss;

m a portion of the securities held by the group.

The financial assets classified in this category are initially recognized at
their fair value, which is generally the net amount disbursed. The interest
rates applied to loans granted are deemed to represent market rates, since
they are constantly adjusted in line with the interest rates applied by the
vast majority of competitor banks.

At subsequent reporting dates, the assets are measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts future cash payments or receipts over the
estimated life of the financial instrument to obtain the net carrying amount
of the financial asset or liability. It takes account of estimated cash flows
without taking account of future losses on loans, and includes commissions
paid or received when these are treated as interest, as well as directly
related transaction costs, and all premiums and discounts.

For securities, the amortized cost takes account of the amortization
of premiums and discounts, as well as acquisition costs, if significant.
Purchases and sales of securities are recognized at the settlement date.

The income received is booked in the income statement under “Interest
and similar income”.

Commissions received or paid, which are directly linked to the arrangement
of a loan and are treated as a component of interest, are spread over the
term of the loan using the effective interest rate method and are booked
to the income statement under interest items.

Commissions received in connection with the commercial renegotiation of
loans are recognized over more than one period.

The restructuring of a loan following financial difficulties by the debtor
leads to novation of the contract. Following the definition of this concept
by the European Banking Authority, the group included it in the information
systems in order to harmonize the accounting and prudential definitions.

The fair value of assets at amortized cost is disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements at the end of each reporting period. It corresponds to
the net present value of future cash flows estimated using a zero-coupon
yield curve that includes an issuer cost inherent to the debtor.

Financial assets at fair value through shareholders’ equity

Since the group does not sell its loans, this category solely consists
of securities. They are recognized at fair value in the balance sheet at
the time of their acquisition, on the settlement date and at subsequent
reporting dates until their disposal. Changes in fair value are shown on
the “Unrealized or deferred gains and losses” line within a specific equity
account, excluding accrued income. These unrealized gains or losses in
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shareholders’ equity are only recognized on the income statement in the
event of disposal or impairment (see Section “1.3.1.7). Derecognition of
financial assets and liabilities” and “1.3.1.8. Measurement of credit risk”).

Income accrued or received is recognized in profit or loss under “Interest
and similar income”, using the effective interest method.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These are recognized at fair value upon their initial recognition in the
balance sheet and at subsequent reporting dates until their disposal (see
section “1.3.1.7. Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities”). Changes
in fair value are taken to the income statement under “Net gains/(losses)
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”.

As from January 1, 2018, income received or accrued on financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss is recognized in the income
statement under interest income/(expense). Before, this interest was
recognized under “Net gains/(losses] on financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss”. This change was made for the sake of consistency
with regulatory reports sent to the ECB as part of the Short-Term Exercise
(STEJ, and for more clarity on interest received and paid.

Purchases and sales of securities measured at fair value through profit or
loss are recognized on the settlement date. Changes in fair value between
the transaction date and the settlement date are recognized in profit or
loss.

Equity instruments acquired

Equity instruments acquired (shares, in particular) are classified as follows:

m fair value through profit or loss; or

m at fair value through other comprehensive income, at initial recognition,
if the group irrevocably elects to do so.

Financial assets at fair value through shareholders’ equity

Shares and other equity instruments are recognized in the balance sheet
at their fair value at the time of their acquisition and at subsequent
reporting dates until their disposal. Changes in fair value are shown on
the “Unrealized or deferred gains and losses” line within a specific equity
account”. These unrealized or deferred gains and losses booked to equity
are never recognized in the income statement, even when they are sold
(see Section 3.1.7 “Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities”). Only
dividends received on variable-income securities are recognized in the
income statement, under “Net gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income”.

Purchases and sales of securities are recognized at the settlement date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Equity instruments are recognized in the same way as debt instruments
at fair value through profit or loss.

13.1.2 Classification and valuation of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified in one of the following two categories:

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

m those incurred for trading purposes including, by default, derivatives with
a negative fair value which do not qualify as hedging instruments; and

m non-derivative financial liabilities that the group originally classified
as measured at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option).
This includes:
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= financial instruments containing one or more separable embedded
derivatives,

= instruments for which the accounting treatment would be inconsistent
with that applied to another related instrument, were the fair value
option not applied,

m instruments belonging to a pool of financial assets measured and
managed at fair value.

The recognition of changes in fair value resulting from own credit risk
concerning debts optionally designated at fair value through profit
or loss is recognized in unrealized or deferred profit or loss in non-
reclassifiable equity. The group is marginally concerned by the problem
of own credit risk.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

These consist of other non-derivative financial liabilities. These include
amounts due to customers and to credit institutions, debt securities
(certificates of deposit, interbank market securities, bonds, etc.), as well
as dated and undated subordinated debt for which measurement at fair
value through profit or loss was not opted for.

Subordinated debt is separated from other debt securities since, in the
event liquidation of the debtor’s assets, it is repaid only after claims by other
creditors have been extinguished. Debt securities include the non-preferred
senior debt instruments created by the Sapin 2 law.

These liabilities are initially recognized at fair value in the balance sheet.
At subsequent reporting dates, they are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method. The initial fair value of issued securities
is their issue price less transaction costs, where applicable.

Regulated savings contracts

Amongst the liabilities at amortized cost are the mortgage saving
agreements (CEL) and mortgage saving plans (PEL), which are regulated
French products accessible to customers (natural persons). In the initial
savings phase, account holders receive interest on amounts paid into
these accounts, which subsequently entitle them to a mortgage loan
(second phase). They generate two types of obligation for the distributing
establishment:

m a commitment to pay interest in the future on paid-in amounts at a
fixed rate (in the case of PEL accounts only, as interest payable on CEL
accounts is regularly revised on the basis of an indexation formula and
is therefore treated as variable-rate);

m a commitment to grant loans to customers at their request, at a rate set
on inception of the contract [both PEL and CEL products).

The cost represented by these obligations has been estimated on the
basis of behavioral statistics and market data. A provision is recognized
in liabilities to cover the future costs relating to the risk that the terms of
such products may be potentially unfavorable to the bank, compared to the
interest rates offered by the bank to individual customers on similar, but
non-regulated, products. This approach is managed based on generations
of regulated PEL and CEL savings products with similar characteristics.
The impact on income is included in interest paid to customers.

1.3.1.3 Distinction between debts and shareholders’ equity

According to the IFRIC 2 interpretation, members’ shares are shareholders’
equity if the entity has an unconditional right to refuse redemption or if
there are legal or statutory provisions prohibiting or significantly limiting
redemption. Due to the existing statutory and legal provisions, the
members’ shares issued by structures composing the Crédit Mutuel Group’s
consolidating entity are recognized in shareholders’ equity.
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Other financial instruments issued by the group are classified as debt
instruments in the group’s accounts when the group has a contractual
obligation to deliver cash to holders of the instruments. Such is the case
with subordinated notes issued by the group.

1.3.1.4 Foreign currency transactions

Assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the local
currency are translated at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date.

Monetary financial assets and liabilities

Foreign currency gains and losses on the translation of such items are
recognized in the income statement under “Net gains/(losses] on portfolio
at fair value through profit or loss”.

Non-monetary financial assets and liabilities

Foreign exchange gains or losses arising from such translations are
recognized in the income statement under “Net gains/(losses) at fair value
through profit or loss” if measured at fair value through profit or loss, or
recognized under “Unrealized or deferred capital gains/(losses)” if they
are financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

13.1.5 Derivatives and hedge accounting

IFRS 9 allows entities to choose, on first-time application, whether to apply
the new provisions concerning hedge accounting or to retain those of
IAS 39.

The group has elected to continue to apply the provisions of IAS 39.
However, in accordance with IFRS 7 (revised), additional information on
the management of risks and the impacts of hedge accounting on the
financial statements is provided in the notes or in the management report.

Moreaver, the provisions of IAS 39 concerning the fair value hedge of
interest rate risk associated with a portfolio of financial assets or financial
liabilities, as adopted by the European Union, continue to apply.

Derivatives are financial instruments which have the following three
characteristics:

m their value fluctuates with the change in the underlying items (interest
rates, exchange rates, share prices, indices, commodities, credit
ratings, etc.);

m their initial cost is low or nil;
m their settlement takes place at a future date.

The Crédit Mutuel group handles simple derivatives (swaps, vanilla options),
mainly interest rate derivatives, and classified essentially at level 2 of the
value hierarchy.

All derivatives are carried at fair value under financial assets or financial
liabilities. They are recognized by default as trading instruments unless
they can be classified as hedging instruments.

Determination of the fair value of derivatives

Most over-the-counter derivatives, swaps, forward rate agreements,
caps, floors and vanilla options are valued using standard, generally
accepted models (discounted cash flow method, Black and Scholes model,
interpolation techniques), based on observable market data such as yield
curves. The valuations given by these models are adjusted to take into
account the liquidity risk and the credit risk associated with the instrument
or parameter concerned, and specific risk premiums intended to offset any
additional costs resulting from a dynamic management strategy associated
with the model in certain market conditions, as well as the counterparty
risk captured by the positive fair value of over-the-counter derivatives. The
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latter includes the own counterparty risk present in the negative fair value
of over-the-counter derivatives.

When determining valuation adjustments, each risk factor is considered
individually, without allowance for any diversification effect for risks,
parameters or models of a different nature. A portfolio approach is most
often used for a given risk factor.

Derivatives are recognized as financial assets when their market value
is positive and as financial liabilities when their market value is negative.

Classification of derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

By default, all derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under
IFRS are classified as “financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss”, even if they were contracted for the purpose of
hedging one or more risks.

Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument that,
when separated from its host contract, meets the definition criteria for a
derivative. It has the effect, notably, of changing certain cash flows in the
same was as a stand-alone derivative.

The derivative is detached from the host contract and recognized
separately as a derivative instrument at fair value through profit or loss
only if all of the following conditions are satisfied:

m it meets the definition of a derivative;

m the hybrid instrument hosting the embedded derivative is not measured
at fair value through profit or loss;

m the economic characteristics of the derivative and the associated risks
are not considered as being closely related to those of the host contract;

m separate measurement of the embedded derivative is sufficiently reliable
to provide relevant information.

For financial instruments under IFRS 9, only those derivatives embedded
in financial liabilities may be detached from the host contract for separate
recognition.

Recognition

Realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the income
statement under “Net gains/(losses] on financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss”.

Hedge accounting

Risks hedged

In its accounts, the group only recognizes interest rate risk through micro-
hedging, or on a broader scope through macro-hedging.

Micro-hedging is partial hedging of the risks incurred by an entity on
its assets and liabilities. It specifically applies to one or more assets or
liabilities for which the entity covers the risk of an unfavorable change in
a type of risk, through derivatives.

Macro-hedging aims to cover all of the group’s assets and liabilities against
any unfavorable changes, particularly in interest rates.

The overall management of the interest rate risk is described in the
management report, along with the management of all other risks (foreign
exchange, credit, etc.) that may be hedged through the natural backing of
assets to liabilities or the recognition of trading derivatives.
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Micro-hedging is particularly done through asset swaps, usually in the
aim of transforming fixed-rate instruments into variable-rate instruments.

Three types of hedging relationship are possible. The choice of the hedging
relationship depends on the nature of the risk being hedged:

m a fair value hedge hedges the exposure to changes in the fair value of
financial assets or financial liabilities;

m a cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows
relating to financial assets or financial liabilities, firm commitments or
forward transactions;

m the hedging of net investments in foreign currencies is recognized in
the same way as cash flow hedging. The group has not used this form
of hedging.

Hedging derivatives must meet the criteria stipulated by IAS 39 to be
designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. In particular:

m the hedging instrument and the hedged item must both qualify for hedge
accounting;

m the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument
must be documented formally immediately upon inception of the
hedging relationship. This documentation sets outs the risk management
objectives determined by management, the nature of the risk hedged, the
underlying strategy, and the methods used to measure the effectiveness
of the hedge.

The effectiveness of the edge must be demonstrated upon inception of
the hedging relationship, subsequently throughout its life, and at the very
least at each balance sheet date. The ratio of the change in value or gain/
loss on the hedging instrument to that of the hedged item must be within
arange of 80% to 125%.

Where applicable, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.

Fair value hedge of identified financial assets or liabilities

In a fair value hedging relationship, derivatives are remeasured at fair value
through profit or loss under “Net gains/(losses] on financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss” symmetrically with the remeasurement
of the hedged items to reflect the hedged risk. This rule also applies if
the hedged item is recognized at amortized cost or is a debt instrument
classified under “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income”. Changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the hedged
risk component offset each other partially or totally; only the ineffective
portion of the hedge is recognized in profit or loss. This may be due to:

m the “counterparty risk” component integrated in the value of the
derivatives;

m the different value curve between the hedged items and hedging
instruments. Indeed, swaps are valued with an OIS curve if they are
collateralized or with a BOR curve otherwise. Hedged items are valued
with a BOR curve.

The portion corresponding to the rediscounting of the derivative financial
instrument is recognized in the income statement under “Interest income/
[expense)”. The same treatment is applied to the interest income or expense
relating to the hedged item.

If the hedging relationship is interrupted or the effectiveness criteria are not
met, hedge accounting is discontinued on a prospective basis. The hedging
derivatives are transferred to “Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss” and are accounted for in accordance with the
principles applicable to this category. The carrying amount of the hedged
item is subsequently no longer adjusted to reflect changes in fair value.
In the case of interest rate instruments initially identified as hedged, the
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remeasurement adjustment is amortized over their remaining life. If the
hedged item has been derecognized in the balance sheet, due notably to
early repayment, the cumulative adjustments are recognized immediately
in the income statement.

Macro-hedging directives

The group has availed itself of the possibilities offered by the European
Commission as regards accounting for macro-hedging transactions. In fact,
the changes made by the European Union to IAS 39 (carve-out] allow the
inclusion of customer demand deposits in portfolios of hedged fixed-rate
liabilities with no measurement of ineffectiveness in case of under-hedging.
Demand deposits are included based on the run-off rules defined for asset-
liability management purposes.

For each portfolio of fixed-rate financial assets or liabilities, the maturity
schedule of the hedging derivatives is reconciled with that of the hedged
items to ensure that there is no over-hedging.

The accounting treatment of fair value macro-hedging derivatives is similar
to that used for fair value hedging derivatives.

Changes in the fair value of the hedged portfolios are recorded in the
balance sheet under “Remeasurement adjustment on interest-rate hedged
portfolios”, the counterpart being an income statement line item.

Cash flow hedges

In the case of a cash flow hedging relationship, derivatives are remeasured
at fair value in the balance sheet, with the effective portion recognized in
equity. The portion considered as ineffective is recognized in the income
statement under “Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss”.

Amounts recognized in shareholders’ equity are reclassified to profit or
loss under “Interest income/(expense)” at the same time as the cash flows
attributable to the hedged item affect profit or loss.

The hedged items continue to be recognized in accordance with the rules
specific to their accounting category. If the hedging relationship is broken
or no longer fulfills the hedge effectiveness criteria, hedge accounting
is discontinued. The cumulative amounts recorded in shareholders’
equity for the re-measurement of the hedging derivative are maintained
in shareholders’ equity until such time as the hedged transaction itself
impacts profit or loss or until the transaction is no longer expected to occur.
At this point, said amounts are transferred to profit or loss.

If the hedged item no longer exists, the cumulative amounts recorded in
equity are immediately transferred to profit or loss.

1.3.1.6 Financial guarantees and funding commitments

Financial guarantees are treated like an insurance policy when they
provide for specified payments to be made to reimburse the holder for a
loss incurred because a specified debtor fails to make payment on a debt
instrument on the due date.

In accordance with IFRS 4, such financial guarantees continue to be
measured using French accounting standards, i.e. they are treated as off-
balance sheet items, until such time as the current standards are revised.
Accordingly, they are subject to a provision for liabilities if an outflow of
resources is likely.

By contrast, financial guarantees that provide for payments in response
to changes in a financial variable (price, credit rating, index, etc.) or a non-
financial variable (provided that this variable is not specific to one of the
parties to the agreement] fall within the scope of IFRS 9. These guarantees
are thus treated as derivatives.
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Financing commitments that are not considered as derivatives within the
meaning of IFRS ¢ are not shown on the balance sheet. However, they give
rise to provisions in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9.

1.3.1.7 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The group partly or fully derecognizes a financial asset (or a group of similar
assets) when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire (in the
case of commercial renegotiation), or when the group has transferred the
contractual rights to the financial asset’s cash flows, as well as most of
the risks and advantages linked with ownership of the asset.

Upon derecognition of:

m a financial asset or liability at amortized cost or at fair value through
profit or loss: a gain or loss on disposal is recognized in the income
statement in an amount equal to the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset or liability and the amount of the consideration
received/paid;

m adebtinstrument at fair value through other comprehensive income: the
unrealized gains or losses previously recognized under equity are taken
to the income statement, as well as any capital gains/losses on disposal;

m an equity instrument at fair value through other comprehensive
income: the unrealized gains or losses previously recognized under
other comprehensive income, as well as any capital gains/losses on
disposal are recognized in consolidated reserves without going through
the income statement.

The group derecognizes a financial liability when the contractual obligation
is extinguished, is canceled or expires. A financial liability may also be
derecognized in the event of a material change in its contractual terms
and conditions, or an exchange with the lender for an instrument whose
contractual terms and conditions are substantially different.

1.3.1.8 Evaluation of credit risk

The IFRS ? impairment model is based on an “expected credit loss”
approach while that of IAS 39 was based on an “incurred credit losses”,
for which the accounting of credit losses at the time of the financial crisis
was considered too little too late.

Under the IFRS 9 model, financial assets for which no objective evidence
of impairment exists on an individual basis are impaired on the basis of
observed losses as well as reasonable and justifiable future cash flow
forecasts.

The IFRS 9 impairment model thus applies to all debt instruments measured
at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income,
as well as to financing commitments and financial guarantees. These
outstandings are split into three categories:

m status 1 - non-downgraded performing loans: provisioning on the basis
of 12-month expected credit losses (resulting from default risks over the
following 12 months] as from initial recognition of the financial assets,
provided that the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition;

m status 2 - downgraded performing loans: provisioning on the basis of
the lifetime expected credit losses (resulting from default risks over the
entire remaining life of the instrument) if the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition; and

m status 3 - non-performing loans: category comprising the financial
assets for which there is objective evidence of impairment related to
an event that has occurred since the loan was granted. This category is
equivalent to the scope of outstandings currently impaired individually
under IAS 39.
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For statuses 1 and 2, the basis of calculation of interest income is the
gross value of the asset before impairment while, for Status 3, it is the net
value after impairment.

Governance

The models for compartment allocation, forward-looking scenarios, and
parameter calculation methods constitute the methodological basis for
impairment calculations. They are validated at the group’s top level and
are applicable to all entities according to the portfolios involved. The entire
methodological base and any subsequent modification in terms of method,
weighting of the scenarios, parameter calculation or provision calculation
must be validated by the Crédit Mutuel group’s governance bodies.

These bodies consist of the supervisory and executive boards as defined
by Article 10 of the French Decree of November 3, 2014 relative to internal
control. Given the specificities of the Crédit Mutuel group’s decentralized
organizational structure, the supervisory and executive bodies are divided
into two levels - the national level and the regional level.

The principle of subsidiarity, applied across the Crédit Mutuel group,
governs the breakdown of roles between national and regional levels,
both on a project basis and for the ongoing implementation of the asset
impairment calculation methodology.

At the national level, the Basel 3 Working Group approves the national
procedures, models and methodologies to be applied by the regional groups.

At the regional level, regional groups are tasked with the calculation of the
IRFS 9 provisions within their entities, under the responsibility and control
of their respective executive and supervisory bodies.

Definition of the boundary between status 1 and status 2

The group employs models developed for regulatory purposes and so
segregates its outstandings in that manner:

= low default portfolios (LDP), for which the rating model is based on
an expert assessment: large accounts, banks, local governments,
sovereigns, specialized financing. These portfolios are composed of
products such as operating loans, short-term operating loans, current
accounts, etc.;

m high default portfolios (HDP), for which the default data is sufficient to
establish a statistical rating model: mass corporate, and retail. These
portfolios include products such as home loans, consumer credit,
revolving loans, current accounts, etc.

Asignificant increase in credit risk, which involves transferring a loan from
status 1 to status 2, is measured by:

m factoring in all reasonable and justifiable information; and

m comparing the risk of default on the financial instrument at the reporting
date to the risk at the initial recognition date.

For the group, this involves measuring the risk at the level of the borrower,
where the counterparty rating system is common to the entire group. All
the group’s counterparties eligible for an internal approach are rated by
the system. That system is based on:

m statistical algorithms or “mass ratings” based on one or more models,
using a selection of representative and predictive risk variables (HDPJ; or

m rating grids developed by experts (LDP).

The change in risk since initial recognition is measured contract by
contract. Unlike status 3, transferring a customer’s contract to status 2
does not entail transferring all of its outstandings or those of its related
parties (i.e., no contagion).
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Note that the group immediately puts into status 1 any performing exposure
that no longer meets the criteria for status 2 classification (both qualitative
and quantitative).

The group has demonstrated that a significant correlation exists between
the probabilities of default at 12 months and at termination, which allows
it to use 12-month credit risk as a reasonable approximation of the change
in risk since initial recognition, as the standard permits.

Quantitative criteria

In LDPs, the boundary is based on an allocation matrix which relates the
rating on origination to the rating on the reporting date. Thus, the riskier
the rating of the loan, the less the relative tolerance of the group towards
significant deterioration of the risk.

In HDPs, a boundary yield curve relates the default rate on origination to the
default rate on the reporting date. The group does not use the operational
simplification proposed by the standard that permits keeping outstandings
at low risk on the reporting date in status 1.

Qualitative criteria

As well as this quantitative data, the group uses qualitative criteria such
as payments not made or overdue by more than 30 days, the notion of
restructured loans, etc.

Methods based exclusively on qualitative criteria are used for entities or
small portfolios classified for prudential purposes under the standardized
approach and that do not have a rating system.

Statuses 1 and 2 - Calculating expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are measured by multiplying the outstanding
balance by its probability of default (PD) and by the loss given default
(LGD] ratio. The off-balance sheet amount is converted to a balance sheet
equivalent based on the probability of use. The probability of default within
one year is used for status 1 and the probability curve at termination (1 to
10 years) for status 2.

These parameters have the same basis as the prudential models, with the
formulas adapted to IFRS 9. They are used both for assigning loans to a
status and for calculating expected losses.

Probability of default

This is based:

m for high default portfolios, on the models approved under the IRB-A
approach;

m forlow default portfolios, on an external probability of default scale based
on a history dating back to 1981.

Loss given default

This is based:

m for high default portfolios, on the collection flows observed over a
long period of time, discounted at the interest rates of the contracts,
segmented according to types of products and types of guarantees;

m for low default portfolios, on fixed ratios (60% for sovereigns and 40%
for the rest).
Conversion factors

For all products, including revolving loans, they are used to convert off-
balance-sheet exposure to a balance sheet equivalent and are mainly
based on prudential models.
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Forward-looking dimension

To calculate expected credit losses, the standard requires taking reasonable
and justifiable information into account, including forward-looking
information. Creating a forward-looking dimension requires projecting the
course of the economy and tying these projections into the risk parameters.
This forward-looking dimension is set at the group level and applies to all
parameters.

For high default portfolios, the forward-looking aspect included in the
probability of default takes into account three scenarios (optimistic,
neutral, pessimistic), which will be weighted based on the group’s view of
changes in the economic cycle over five years. The group mainly relies on
macroeconomic data (GDP, unemployment rate, inflation rate, short-term
and long-term interest rates, etc.] available from the OECD. The forward-
looking approach is adjusted to include elements that were not captured
by the scenarios because:

m they are recent, meaning they occurred a few weeks before the reporting
date;

m they are unable to be included in a scenario, as, for example, regulatory
changes that will have a definite, material impact on the risk parameters
that can be measured if certain assumptions are made.

The forward-looking dimension over different time horizons other than one
year will largely be a function of the one-year dimension.

The forward-looking aspect is also included in the LGD by incorporating
information observed over a period close to current conditions.

For low default portfolios, forward-looking information is incorporated into
large corporates/bank models, and not into local governments, sovereigns
and specialized financing models. The approach is similar to that applied
to the high-default portfalios.

Status 3 - Non-performing loans

Impairment is recognized whenever there is objective proof of impairment
due to one or more events occurring after a loan or group of loans have
been made that might generate a loss. An analysis is done at each closing
contract by contract. The impairment is equal to the difference between
the carrying amount and the estimated future cash flows, allowing for
collateral or other guarantees, present-discounted at the interest rate of the
original loan. In the event of a variable rate, it is the last known contractual
rate that is booked.

Originated credit-impaired financial assets

These are contracts for which the counterparty is non-performing on the
date of initial recognition or acquisition. If the borrower is non-performing
at the reporting date, the contracts are classified into Status 3; otherwise,
they are classified as performing loans, identified in an “originated credit-
impaired assets” category, and provisioned based on the same method
used for exposures in Status 2, i.e. an expected loss over the residual
maturity of the contract.

Recognition

Impairment charges and provisions are recognized in “counterparty
risk”. Reversals of impairment charges and provisions are recorded
in “Counterparty risk” for the portion relating to the change in risk
and in “Net interest” for the portion relating to the passage of time.
Impairment is subtracted from assets for loans and receivables, and the
provision is recognized as a liability under “provisions” for financing and
guarantee commitments (see “1.3.1.6. Financial guarantees and financing
commitments” and “1.3.3.2. Provisions”). For assets at fair value through
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other comprehensive income, the counter-entry for impairments recognized
under “Net provision allocations/reversals for loan losses” is booked to
“Unrealized or deferred gains and losses”

Loan losses are written off and the corresponding impairments and
provisions are reversed.

1.3.1.9 Determination of the fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be sold, or a liability
transferred, between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction.

The fair value of an instrument upon initial recognition is generally its
transaction price.

The fair value must be calculated for subsequent measurements. The
calculation method to be applied varies depending on whether the
instrument is traded on a market deemed to be active or not.

Instruments traded on an active market

When financial instruments are traded in an active market, fair value
is determined by reference to their quoted price as this represents the
best possible estimate of fair value. A financial instrument is regarded
as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available [from a stock exchange, dealer, broker or pricing service), and
those prices represent actual market transactions regularly occurring on
an arm’s length basis.

Instruments traded on a non-active market

Observable market data are used provided they reflect the reality of a
transaction at arm’s length on the valuation date and there is no need to
make an excessive adjustment to said value. In other cases, the group uses
non-observable data (mark-to-model).

When observable data is not available or when market price adjustments
require the use of non-observable data, the entity may use internal
assumptions relating to future cash flows and discount rates, comprising
adjustments linked to the risks the market would factor in. Said valuation
adjustments facilitate the inclusion, in particular, of risks not taken into
account by the model, as well as liquidity risks associated with the
instrument or parameter concerned, and specific risk premiums designed
to offset certain additional costs that would result from the dynamic
management strategy associated with the model under certain market
conditions.

When determining valuation adjustments, each risk factor is considered
individually, without allowance for any diversification effect for risks,
parameters or models of a different nature. A portfolio approach is most
often used for a given risk factor.

In all cases, adjustments are made by the group in a reasonable and
appropriate manner, based on judgment.

Fair value hierarchy

A three-level hierarchy is used for fair value measurement of financial
instruments:

m level 1: quoted prices on active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
In particular, these concern debt securities quoted by at least three
contributors and derivatives quoted on an organized market;

m level 2: data other than the level 1 quoted prices, which are observable
for the asset or liability concerned, either directly (i.e. prices] or indirectly
(i.e. data derived from prices). Included, in particular, in level 2 are interest
rate swaps whase fair value is generally determined with the help of

Consolidated financial statements of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

yield curves based on market interest rates observed at the end of the
reporting period;

m level 3: data relating to the asset or liability that are not observable
market data (non-observable data). The main constituents of this
category are investments in non-consolidated companies held in venture
capital entities or otherwise and, in the capital markets activities, debt
securities quoted by a single contributor and derivatives using mainly
non-observable parameters. The instrument is classified at the same
hierarchical level as the lowest level of the input having an important
bearing on fair value considered as a whole. Given the diversity and
volume of the instruments measured at level 3, the sensitivity of the
fair value to a change in parameters would be immaterial.

1.3.2 Insurance business line

The insurance departments falling within the Conglomerate Directive,
benefit from the deferred application of IFRS 9 until 2022, as scheduled
by the amendment to IFRS 4 adopted by the European Union. As such,
their financial instruments remain valued and recognized in accordance
with IAS 39. In terms of presentation, the group chose to adopt an “IFRS
audit” approach that allows all financial instruments under IAS 39 to be
grouped together under the dedicated asset or liability items rather than
by applying ANC recommendation 2017-02 strictly speaking, which entails
the presentation of instruments under certain items pursuant to IAS 39 and
IFRS 9.Thus, all the financial instruments of the insurance departments are
grouped in assets under “Investments in insurance business and shares
of reinsurers in technical provisions”, and in liabilities under “Liabilities
related to insurance business policies”, also including technical provisions.
Investment properties are also affected by the reclassification. The impact
in the income statement of financial instruments and technical provisions
is included under “Net income from insurance activities”. Other assets/
liabilities and income statement items are included under the “banking
insurance” joint entries. Where relevant, the disclosures required by IFRS 7
are given separately for the insurance business lines.

In accordance with the adoption regulation of November 3, 2017, the group
ensures there is no transfer of financial instruments with a derecognition
effect, between the insurance and other sectors of the conglomerate, other
than those recognized at fair value through profit or loss in both sectors.

The accounting principles and valuation rules specific to assets and
liabilities generated by the issue of insurance policies are drafted in
accordance with IFRS 4. This also applies to reinsurance contracts issued
or subscribed, and to financial contracts incorporating a discretionary
profit-sharing clause.

Except in the cases outlined above, the other assets held and liabilities
issued by the insurance companies follow the rules common to all the
group’s assets and liabilities.

1.3.2.1 Insurance business line - Financial instruments

Under IAS 39, insurers’ financial instruments may be classified in one of
the following categories:

m financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss;
m available-for-sale financial assets;

m held-to-maturity financial assets;

m loans and receivables;

m financial liabilities at amortized cost.

They are grouped in assets under “Investments in insurance business
and shares of reinsurers in technical provisions”, and in liabilities under
“Liabilities related to insurance business policies”.
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The classification in one or other of these categories reflects the
management intention and determines the recognition rules for
instruments.

The fair value of these instruments follows the general principles outlined
in paragraph 1.3.1.9.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Classification criteria

The classification of instruments in this category is a result either of a
genuine intention to trade, or the use of the fair value option.

al Instruments held for trading

Securities held for trading consist of securities originally acquired with the
intention of reselling them in the near future, as well as securities that are
part of a portfolio of securities that are managed together and for which
there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.

b] Instruments at fair value on option

Financial instruments may be classified by choice, from the outset and
on an irrevocable basis, at fair value through profit or loss in the following
circumstances:

a. financial instruments containing one or more separable embedded
derivatives;

b. instruments for which the accounting treatment would be
inconsistent with that applied to another related instrument, were
the fair value option not applied;

c. instruments belonging to a pool of financial assets measured and
managed at fair value.

This option is specifically used in connection with unit-linked contracts for
insurance activities, to ensure consistency with the treatment of liabilities.

Basis of valuation and recognition of income and expenses

Assets classified as “Assets at fair value through profit or loss” are
recognized when they are entered on the balance sheet at their fair value,
and at subsequent closing dates, until disposal. Changes in fair value and
the income received or accrued on these assets are recognized on the
income statement under “Net income from insurance activities”.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Classification criteria

Available-for-sale financial assets include those financial assets not
classified as “loans and receivables”, or “financial assets held-to-maturity”
or “fair value through profit or loss”.

Basis of valuation and recognition of income and expenses

They are recognized on the balance sheet at their fair value at the time
of their acquisition, and at subsequent closing dates, until their disposal.
Changes in fair value are shown on the “Unrealized or deferred gains and
losses” line within a specific equity account, excluding accrued income.
These unrealized gains or losses in shareholders’ equity are only recognized
on the income statement in the event of disposal or sustainable impairment.
On disposal, these unrealized gains or losses previously recognized in
shareholders’ equity are recognized in the income statement, along with
gains and losses on disposal.

Income accrued or acquired from fixed-income securities is recognized in
profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method. They are presented
in “Net income from insurance activities”, along with dividends received
on variable-income securities.
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Credit risk and impairment

a] Sustainable impairment, specific to shares and other capital
instruments

Impairment is recognized on variable-income available-for-sale financial
assets in the event of a prolonged or significant fall in fair value, compared
to cost.

In the case of variable-income securities, the group considers that a fall in
the security’s value of at least 50% compared to its acquisition cost or over
a period of more than 36 consecutive months shall result in an impairment.
The analysis is carried out on a line-by-line basis. Judgment is also used
when reviewing those securities that do not meet the above criteria, but
for which management believes the recoverability of the amount invested
may not reasonably be expected in the near future. The loss is recognized
in income under “Net income from insurance activities”.

Any subsequent fall is also recognized on the income statement.

Long-term impairment losses on shares or other capital instruments posted
inincome are irreversible as long as the instrument appears on the balance
sheet. In the event of subsequent appreciation, this will be recognized in
shareholders’ equity under “unrealized or deferred gains or losses”.

b] Impairment due to credit risk

Impairment losses on fixed-income available-for-sale financial assets
(specifically bonds) are recognized under “Cost of risk™. In fact, only
the existence of credit risk may lead to the impairment of these fixed-
income instruments, since impairment in the event of loss due to a simple
rate increase is not permitted. In the event of impairment, all combined
unrealized losses in shareholders’ equity must be recognized in profit
or loss. These impairments are reversible; any subsequent assessment,
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment, is
also recorded in the income statement, under “cost of risk”, in case of
improvement of the issuer’s credit situation.

Held-to-maturity financial assets

Classification criteria

This category includes determinable or fixed-income securities with a
maturity date that the entity intends and is able to hold until maturity.

Any interest-rate hedging operations performed on this category of
securities are not eligible for hedge accounting as set out in IAS 39.

Furthermore, the possibilities to dispose of or transfer securities of this
portfolio are extremely limited, given the provisions of IAS 39, on pain of
downgrading the entire portfolio at group level in the “available-for-sale
financial assets” category, and forbidding access to this category for two
years.

Basis of valuation and recognition of income and expenses

Securities classified in this category are initially recognized at fair value,
then valued at amortized cost according to the effective interest rate
method, which incorporates amortization of premiums and discounts, as
well as acquisition expenses, if these are material.

Income received on these securities is given in “Net income from insurance
activities” on the income statement.

Credit risk

Impairment is recognized when there is objective proof of impairment of the
asset, as a result of one or more events occurring after initial recognition
that it is likely to generate a loss (proven credit risk). An analysis is
performed at each closing, on a security-by-security basis. Impairment is
assessed by comparing the carrying amount and the present value at the
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original interest rate of future cash flows incorporating guarantees. It is
recognized in the income statement under “Cost of risk”. Any subsequent
assessment, related to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment, is also recorded in the income statement, under “Cost of risk”.

Loans and receivables

Classification criteria

Loans and receivables are determinable or fixed-income financial assets
not listed on an active market and not intended for sale upon acquisition
or grant. They are recognized at their fair value when they initially appear
on the balance sheet which is generally the net amount disbursed. These
outstandings are then valued on subsequent closing dates at amortized
cost using the effective interest-rate method (except for those recognized
using the fair value option method).

Credit risk

Impairment is recognized when there is objective proof of impairment of the
asset, as a result of one or more events occurring after initial recognition
that it is likely to generate a loss (proven credit risk]. Impairment is
assessed by comparing the carrying amount and the present value at the
effective interest rate of future cash flows incorporating guarantees. It is
recognized in the income statement under “Cost of risk”. Any subsequent
assessment, related to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment, is also recorded in the income statement, under “Cost of risk”.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

These cover debts due to customers and credit institutions, debt securities
(certificates of deposit, interbank market securities, bond issues, etc.), term
or undated subordinated debt, not classified at fair value through profit or
loss on option.

These liabilities are initially recognized at fair value in the balance sheet.
At subsequent reporting dates, they are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method. The initial fair value of issued securities
is their issue price less transaction costs, where applicable.

1.3.2.2 Insurance business line - Non-financial assets

Investment property and fixed assets follow the accounting methods
outlined elsewhere.

1.3.2.3 Insurance activities - Non-financial liabilities

Insurance liabilities, representing commitments to subscribers and
beneficiaries, are included under “technical provisions of insurance
policies™. They remain valued, recognized and consolidated according to
French standards.

The technical provisions of life insurance policies consist primarily of
mathematical provisions, which generally correspond to the redemption
values of the contracts. The risks covered are primarily death, disability
and incapacity for work (for borrower insurance).

Technical reserves for unit-linked contracts are valued on the reporting date
based on the realizable value of the assets used to support these contracts.

Provisions for non-life insurance contracts correspond to unearned
premiums [portion of premiums issued relating to subsequent years) and
to claims payable.

Consolidated financial statements of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

Those insurance contracts benefiting from a discretionary profit-sharing
clause are subject to “shadow accounting”. The resulting deferred profit-
sharing provision represents the portion of asset capital gains and losses,
which accrues to the insured parties. These provisions for deferred profit-
sharing appear as liahilities or assets, by legal entity and without offset
between entities within the scope of consolidation. On the asset side, they
appear as a separate item.

At the reporting date, a liability adequacy test recognized on these contracts
(net of other related assets or liabilities, such as deferred acquisition costs
and portfolio securities acquired) is conducted: the recognized liability is
audited to ensure it is sufficient to hedge estimated future cash flows on
that date. Any shortfall in the technical provisions is recognized in profit
or loss for the period (and may subsequently be reversed if necessary).

1.3.3 Non-financial instruments

13.3.1 Leases

Alease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return
for a payment or a series of payments the right to use an asset for an
agreed period of time.

A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and

rewards incidental to ownership of an asset. Ownership may or may not
eventually be transferred.

An operating lease is any lease that is not a finance lease.

Lessor finance lease transactions

In accordance with IAS 17, finance lease transactions with non-group
companies are reported in the consolidated balance sheet at their financial
accounting amount.

In the lessor’s financial statements, the analysis of the economic substance
of the transaction results in:

m the recognition of a financial receivable due from the customer, reduced
in line with the lease payments received;

m the breakdown of the lease payments received between interest and
principal repayment, known as financial amortization;

m the recognition of a net latent reserve, equal to the difference between:

= the net financial outstanding amount, being the debt of the lessee in
the form of the outstanding principal and the interest accrued at the
end of the financial year,

= the net carrying amount of the leased assets,
= the deferred tax provision.

Credit risk related to financial receivables is measured and recognized
under IFRS 9 (see Section 1.3.1.8. “Measurement of credit risk”).

Lessee finance lease transactions

In accordance with IAS 17, the fixed assets concerned are recorded on
the balance sheet as assets and the borrowing from credit institutions is
recorded as a liability. Lease payments are broken down between interest
expense and repayment of principal.

1.3.3.2 Provisions

Provisions and reversals of provisions are classified by type under the
corresponding item of income or expenditure.

A provision is recognized whenever it is probable that an outflow of
resources representing economic benefits will be necessary to extinguish
an obligation arising from a past event and when the amount of the
obligation can be estimated accurately. Where applicable, the net present
value of this obligation is calculated to determine the amount of the
provision to be set aside.
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The provisions constituted by the group cover, in particular:
m operational risks;

m social commitments;

m execution risk on signature commitments;

m litigation risk and guarantee commitments given;

m tax risks;

m risks related to mortgage saving agreements.

1.3.3.3 Employee benefits

Where applicable, provisions in respect of employee obligations are
recognized under “Provisions”. Any movements in in this provision are
recognized in the income statement under “Employee benefits expense”
except for the portion resulting from actuarial gains/(losses), which is
recognized in unrealized or deferred gains and losses, under equity.

Post-employment benefits under a defined benefit plan

These comprise retirement, early retirement and supplementary retirement
plans under which the group has a formal or implicit obligation to provide
employees with pre-defined benefits.

These obligations are calculated using the projected unit credit method,
which involves allocating entitlement to benefits to periods of service
by applying the contractual formula for calculating plan benefits. Such
entitlements are then discounted using demographic and financial
assumptions such as:

m adiscount rate, determined by reference to the long-term rate on private-
sector borrowings consistent with the term of the commitments;

m the salary increase rate, assessed in accordance with age brackets,
Executive/Non-Executive class and regional characteristics;

m inflation rates, estimated by comparing French treasury bond rates and
inflation-linked French treasury bond rates at different maturities;

m staff turnover rates, determined by age bracket, using the three-year
average for the ratio of resignations and dismissals relative to the year-
end number of employees under permanent contracts;

m retirement age: estimated on a case-by-case basis using the actual
or estimated date of commencement of full-time employment and the
assumptions set out in the law reforming pensions, with a ceiling set
at 67 years of age;

m mortality according to the INSEE TH/TF 00-02 table.

Differences arising from changes in these assumptions and from
differences between previous assumptions and actual experience
constitute actuarial gains or losses. When the plan is funded by assets,
these are measured at fair value and recognized in the income statement
for their expected yield. Differences between actual and expected yields
also constitute actuarial gains or losses.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in equity, within unrealized
or deferred gains and losses. Curtailments and settlements of the plan
produce a change in the commitment, which is recognized in the profit
(loss) for the period.

Supplementary pensions within the pension funds

The AFB transitional agreement dated September 13, 1993 modified the
banking industry pension schemes. Since January 1,1994, the banks have
been under the government-sponsored Arrco and Agirc schemes. The
four pension funds to which the group’s banks contributed were merged.
They pay the various benefits covered by the transitional agreement.
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In the event that fund assets are not sufficient to cover these benefit
obligations, the banks are required to make additional contributions. The
average contribution rate for the next ten years is capped at 4% of the
payroll. The pension fund resulting from the mergers was converted into an
IGRS (a French supplementary pension management institution), in 2009.
It does not have an asset shortfall.

Other post-employment benefits under a defined benefit plan

Retirement benefits and supplementary pensions, including special
schemes, are provisioned. They are assessed on the basis of the rights
acquired for all active employees, based specifically on the turnover rate
of the staff specific to the consolidated entities and the estimated future
salary that the beneficiary will earn upon retirement plus social security
contributions, where applicable. In France, retirement bengfits in the group’s
banks are at least 60% covered by insurance from ACM Vie - an insurance
company which is part of the Crédit Mutuel group and is fully consolidated.

Post-employment benefits under a defined contribution plan

group entities contribute to various retirement plans managed by
independent organizations, to which they have no formal or implicit
obligation to make supplementary payments in the event, notably, that
the fund's assets are insufficient to meet its commitments.

Since such plans do not represent a commitment for the group they are
not subject to a provision. Expenses are recognized in the fiscal year in
which the contribution must be paid.

Long-term benefits

These represent benefits other than post-employment benefits and
termination benefits expected to be paid more than 12 months after the
end of the fiscal year in which the staff rendered the corresponding service.
They include, for example, long-service awards.

The group's commitment in respect of other long-term benefits is measured
using the projected unit credit method. However, actuarial gains and losses
are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Commitments for long service awards are sometimes covered by insurance
policies. Only the unhedged portion of this commitment is subject to a
provision.

Supplemental pension plan for employees

In addition to mandatory pension schemes, employees of the entities
covered by the group collective agreement also benefit from a
supplementary defined contribution pension plan provided by ACM Vie SA.

Termination benefits

These are benefits granted by the group when an employment contract
is terminated before the usual retirement age or following the employee’s
decision to leave the group voluntarily in exchange for an indemnity. The
related provisions are discounted if payment is expected to take place more
than 12 months after the reporting date.

Short-term benefits

These are benefits, other than termination benefits, payable within the
12 months following the reporting date. They include salaries, social security
contributions and certain bonuses.

A charge is recognized in respect of short-term benefits in the period in
which the services giving rise to the entitlement to the benefit are provided
to the entity.
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1.3.3.4 Fixed assets

Non-current assets reported on the balance sheet include property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets used in operations as well
as investment property. Operating assets are used for the production of
services or for administrative purposes. Investment property consists of
real estate assets held to generate rental income and/or capital gains. The
historical cost method is used to recognize both operating and investment
properties.

Non-current assets are initially recognized at acquisition cost plus any
directly attributable costs necessary to make them operational and usable.
They are subsequently measured at amortized historical cost, i.e. their cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment.

When a fixed asset is comprised of several components that could be
subject to replacement at regular intervals, having different rates of
use or procuring economic benefits at different rates, each component
is recognized separately from the start and each of the components is
depreciated according to a plan that is appropriate to the component. The
component approach was retained for operating buildings and investment
properties.

The depreciable or amortizable amount of a non-current asset is determined
after deducting its residual value, net of disposal costs. As the useful life
of non-current assets is generally equal to their expected economic life,
no residual value is recognized.

Non-current assets are depreciated or amortized over their estimated
useful life at rates reflecting the estimated consumption of the assets’
economic benefits by the entity. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life are not amortized.

Depreciation and amortization charges on operating assets are recognized
under “Movements in depreciation, amortization and provisions for
operating assets” in the income statement.

Depreciation charges on investment property are recognized under
“Expenses on other activities” in the income statement.

The following depreciation and amortization periods are used:
Property, plant and equipment

m Land and network improvements: 15-30 years.

m Buildings - shell: 20-80 years (depending on type of building].
m Buildings - equipment: 10-40 years.

m Fixtures and fittings: 5-15 years.

m Office furniture and equipment: 5-10 years.

m Safety equipment: 3-10 years.

m Rolling stock: 3-5 years.

m Computer equipment: 3-5 years.

Intangible assets

m Software purchased or developed in-house: 1-10 years.

m Business goodwill acquired: 9-10 years (if customer contract portfolio
acquired).

Depreciable property, plant and equipment are subject to depreciation
tests when on closing date when there are indications of impairment loss.
Non-amortizable non-current assets such as lease rights are tested for
impairment once a year.

Consolidated financial statements of Crédit Mutuel Alliance Fédérale

If an indication of impairment exists, the recoverable value of the asset
is compared to its net carrying amount. In the event of loss of value,
depreciation is recognized on the income statement; it changes the
depreciable amount of the asset prospectively. Depreciation is written
back in the event of changes to the estimated recoverable amount or if
indications of impairment disappear. The net carrying amount following the
reversal of an impairment provision cannot exceed the net carrying amount
that would have been calculated if no impairment had been recognized.

Impairment charges and reversals on operating assets are recognized
under “Movements in depreciation, amortization and provisions for
operating non-current assets” in the income statement.

Impairment charges and reversals on investment property are recognized
in the income statement under “Expenses on other activities” and “Income
from other activities”, respectively.

Capital gains or losses on disposals of operating assets are recorded in
the income statement on the line “Net gains/(losses) on other assets”.

The gains and losses on disposal of investment property are recorded
on the income statement on the line “Income from other activities” or
“Expenses from other activities.”

1.3.3.5 Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions in respect of services are recorded as income and
expenses according to the nature of the services involved.

Fees and commissions linked directly to the grant of a loan are spread
using the effective interest method.

Fees and commissions remunerating a service provided on a continuous
basis are recognized over the period during which the service is provided.

Fees and commissions remunerating a significant service are recognized
in full in the income statement upon execution of the service.

Fees considered as an additional interest are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. These fees are thus recognized either as interest
income or expense.

1.3.3.6 Income taxes

The income tax expense includes all tax, both current and deferred, payable
in respect of the income for the period under review.

The income tax payable is determined in accordance with applicable tax
regulations.

Deferred tax

As required by IAS 12, deferred taxes are recognized in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability on the
consolidated balance sheet and its taxable value, with the exception of
goodwill.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method using the income
tax rate known at the end of the fiscal year, and applicable to subsequent
years.

Deferred tax assets net of deferred tax liabilities are recognized only when
there is a high probability that they will be utilized. Current or deferred tax
is recognized as income or a charge, except for that relating to unrealized
or deferred gains or losses recognized in equity, for which the deferred tax
is allocated directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted if they arise in the same entity
or in the same tax group, are subject to the same tax authority and there
is a legal right to do so.

Deferred tax is not discounted.
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1.3.3.7 Interest borne by the State for certain loans

Pursuant to measures to support the agricultural and rural sector, as well
as the purchase of housing, some group entities grant loans at reduced
rates, which are set by the State. Consequently, these entities receive a
subsidy from the government equal to the interest rate differential existing
between the rate granted to customers and a predefined benchmark rate.
As a result, no discounting occurs on loans that benefit from these grants.

The arrangements governing this offset mechanism are periodically
reviewed by the State.

Government subsidies received are recognized under “Interest and
similar income” and allocated over the life of the corresponding loans, in
accordance with IAS 20.

1.3.3.8 Non-current assets classified as held for sale

and discontinued operations
Non-current assets, or groups of assets, are classified as held for sale if
they are available-for-sale and there is a high probability that their sale will
take place within the next 12 months.

The related assets and liabilities are shown separately in the balance sheet,
on the lines “Non-current assets held for sale” and “Liabilities associated
with non-current assets held for sale”. They are recognized at the lower
of their carrying amount and their fair value less selling costs, and are no
longer depreciated or amortized.

Any impairment loss on such assets and liabilities is recognized in the
income statement.

Discontinued operations consist of businesses held for sale or which
have been discontinued, or subsidiaries acquired exclusively with a view
to resale. All gains and losses related to discontinued operations are shown
separately in the income statement, on the line “Post-tax gain/(loss) on
discontinued operations and assets held for sale”.

13.4 Judgments and estimates used in the preparation

of the financial statements

Preparation of the group’s financial statements requires the use of
assumptions for the purpose of the necessary measurements, which entails
risks and uncertainties as to whether these assumptions will materialize
in the future.

The future outcome of such assumptions may be influenced by several
factors, in particular:

m the activities of national and international markets;
m fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates;

m economic and political conditions in certain business sectors or
countries;

m regulatory and legislative changes.

Accounting estimates requiring the formulation of assumptions are mainly
used for the measurement of the following:

m the fair value of financial instruments not quoted on an active market -
the definition of a forced transaction and the definition of observable
data require the exercise of judgment;

m retirement plans and other future employee benefits;

m impairment of assets, in particular expected credit losses;
m provisions;

m impairment of intangible assets and goodwill;

m deferred tax assets.
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1.4 Standards and interpretations adopted
by the European Union and not yet applied

IFRS 16 - Leases

This new standard, which was published in early 2016 and adopted by the
EU on October 31, 2017, will take effect on January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 will
replace IAS 17 and the interpretations relating to lease accounting.

Under IFRS 16, for a contract to qualify as a lease, there must be both
the identification of an asset and control by the lessee of the right to use
said asset.

From the lessor’s point of view, the impact is expected to be limited since
the provisions adopted remain substantially the same as those of the
current IAS 17.

For the lessee, operating leases and finance leases will be accounted for
based on a single model, with recognition of:

m an asset representing the right to use the leased item during the lease
term;

m offset by a liahility in respect of the lease payment obligation;

m straight-line depreciation of the asset and an interest expense in the
income statement using the diminishing balance method.

As a reminder, according to IAS 17, currently in force, no amount is recorded
on the lessee’s balance sheet for an operating lease and lease payments
are shown under operating expenses.

In 2018, the group continued its analysis of the impacts of this standard,
the practical details regarding first-time application and implementation in
the information systems. The group has opted for the following:

m to apply the new lease definition to all current leases. Certain types of
equipment will thus be excluded from the scope of appli